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OUR VISION

Meeting our nations goals of energy security renewable energy development and increased economic efficiencies will

require major investment in our electric transmission infrastructure The nation is in need of high-voltage

transmission backbone that will support electric reliability competitive market and interconnection of all generation

sources Since 2003 ITO has been hard at work transforming the energy industry through its independence

shaping the energy policy to promote non-discriminatory access to the transmission grid and envisioning

future where robust transmission grid serves as the backbone of economic development energy security and

sustainable and environmentally friendly energy system ITO is leading by example through its focused capital

improvements and expanded efforts to build regional electric transmission system for brighter cleaner tomorrow
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2008 2007 2006

OPERATING RESULTS in mi/lions

Operating Revenues 617.9 426.2 223.6

Net Income 109.2 73.3 33.2

Cash Flows from Operations 195.4 135.8 61.9

Investments in Property Plant Equipment 399.4 286.2 178.5

Dividends Paid Per Share 1.190 1.130 1.075

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic Earnings Per Share 2.25 1.73 0.95

Diluted Earnings Per Share 2.19 1.68 0.92

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING in thousands

Basic 48606 42498 35048

Diluted 49771 43541 36237

BALANCE SHEET in millions

Property Plant Equipment Net of Depreciation $2304.4 $1960.4 $1197.9

Total Assets 3714.6 3213.3 2128.8

Total Debt 2248.3 2243.4 1262.3

Total Equity 929.1 563.1 532.2

ITO Holdings Corp 2008 Annual Report







have much to do but

we are excited about our

opportunities as we

continue to work to

expand our regional

footprint advance our

efforts to meet Americas

renewable energy goals

and eliminate costy

inefficiencies in the grid

IC achieved strong financial results in 2008 with net incone

of $109.2 million increasing 49 percent over net income in

2007 2008 was also year that started showing the results

of troubled economy The turmoil in the capital markets aid

the downturn in the world economy provided significant

challenges for businesses as well as for the investment and

financial communities The SP Index posted its lowest return

since 1931 end ing the year down 37 percent

We faired much better at ITC with total return to

shareholders that was down 20.7 percent for the year This is

testament to our Companys predictable and stable business

model which insulates us from most economic conditiors

We are also conservatively managed company with sound

financial policies and practices in place to help ensure that we

deliver on our business plan This has enabled us to either

achieve or exceed our commitments to shareholders every year

since going public in July 2005 We have always met or

exceeded our earnings and capital expenditure guidance

We have delivered two acquisitions that were accretive in the

first year and we have increased our dividend annually as

promised Most recently in ALigust we raised our quarterly

dividend from $0.29 per share to $0305 per share an

annual increase of over percent



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Net income for full year

2008 rose 49% over 2007

The key drivers that

contributed to 2008

financial results include

Increased income from ITO

Midwest in 2008 as result of

the acquisition of the Interstate

Power and Light IPL

transmission assets in December

of 2007

Higher rate base at

ITO Transmission and METC

Higher financing costs at ITO

Holdings Corp to fund the

acquisition of the PL

transmission assets and to fund

capital expenditures

Higher development expenses at

ITO Great Plains and ITO Grid

Development

Lower earnings per share due to

higher weighted average diluted

shares outstanding

YEAR IN REVIEW

In addition to our strong financial performance in 2008 we further advanced our goal of

investing in the electric transmission grid to improve reliability enable the entrance of

renewable resources and to provide non-discriminatory access to dependable competitive

and low-cost energy

Approximately one year after the purchase of IPLs transmission system ITO Midwest

assumed operational control of more than 4500 miles of transmission lines and 208

substations moving the company closer to becoming fully independent transmission

company This independence will ensure that all customers and generators have open and

equal access to the regional grid Having full access means that the system is operating as

an energy superhighway and this benefits everyone

ITO Midwest is now operating out of our new Novi Michigan operation control center which

has full back up to ensure that we are prepared to deal with emergency conditions

The construction of this center and our corporate headquarters was completed in early 2008

In the first quarter of 2008 we successfully completed common equity offering the

issuance of Senior Secured Notes at ITC Holdings and the issuance of first mortgage bonds

at ITO Midwest to refinance the debt incurred by ITO Holdings to fund the acquisition by ITO

Midwest of IPLs transmission assets

Subsidiaries ITO Transmission and Michigan Electric Transmission company ETO received

ratings upgrades from SP in 2008 Only approximately percent of all issuers rated by 5P

received upgrades in 2008 Moodys reaffirmed all of our ratings and kept us on Positive

Outlook Approximately only 200 companies are rated as Positive Outlook out of total of

5400 issuers that are rated by Moodys
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COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Assumes initial investment of $100 and reinvestment of dividends

July 25 2005 12.30.2005 12.29.2006 12.31.2007 12.31.2008

IC HOLDINGS CORP SP500TOTALRETURNS SP UTILITIES INDEX

As the nahons first futy

independent transmission

company we are soley

focused on the ownership

operation maintenance

the movement of 12000 megawatts MW of power from the wind-abundant areas in

the Dakotas Minnesota and Iowa to Midwest load centers such as Chicago

southeastern Wisconsin Minneapolis and other states that demand clean renewable

energy while significantly reducing carbon emissions This new project addresses the

recognized lack of electric transmission infrastructure needed to integrate renewable

wind energy

and constructIon of

transmissIon facilities with

the aim of bringing benefits

to customers

We believe that we have made great advances in delivering on our companys vision

We have much to do but we are excited about our opportunities as we continue to work

to expand our regional footprint advance our efforts to meet Americas renewable energy

goals and eliminate costly inefficiencies in the grid We will continue to work hard in

order to deliver to our customers shareholders and employees the strong performance

they have grown to expect from ITC

Joseph Welch

Chairman President CEO and Treasurer

ITC Holdings Corp

1/25/2005 2005 2006 2007 2008

ITC HOLDINGS CORP Return 22.13 45.67 44.94 -20.74

Cum 100.00 122.13 177.91 257.87 204.38

SP 500 TOTAL RETURNS Return 1.57 15.79 5.50 -36.99

Cum 100.00 101.57 117.61 124.07 78.17

SP UTILITIES INDEX Return 0.42 20.99 19.39 -29.96

Cum 100.00 100.42 121.50 145.07 101.61
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IMPROVING RELftABUTY SALEM-HAZLETON PROJECT

As enc gy de sic ias gro rver tfe years ce tam aieas of tie Midwest have experienced ie gy

bob Ic iecks cuseo by lack of electric transmission capacity hese bottlenecks hurt cc nc

relinbi by anc add costs to iergy consumed Lhe region One soc example ot efforts to address

sys em bottienecks is ITC Midwests Sale mHazleto Project ITO Midwest is oposingto eonstrLet

opera rew 81milv 345 kV ransniission no between its oxistint

ir bucue County and its existing Hazleton Substation located

Tf rnject cxieetcd to be completed ii early 2012 will add

trarmsor systems aid wif gnatiy improve reliability by adding second 345 Mi

caste 10 transrrission 5f5 em

BRNGNG NDEPENDENT TRANSMSSON TO THE

esos has o000Cc nity to marriess tt power of wind coal natural

energy But we need to hui an energy suprh ghway that MM

ho rs id hoC nesses ierever icy may be 110 Ci eat Plains

iperh ahwey by oa ierirg vith otfer Kansas uti ities soc MidK

Pu Cenuwt ou Iv my co eoo wits that plait are the Karoas V4

Meet and the KLIA Project 210mile trans iission project iich will re

el ib lity fac litate tie economical transfer of power will so prov Ic the

er orgy superh ghv ay tha will facilitate tne growth of rene vaole energy rm

obs id ceo iomic developme it fo Kansas

ACHEVNG NDEPENDENCE

Ci Deoembr lo 2008 ITO lid esL ssmed operatioria itrol more an 0500 ci lee of

ens issior and 208 substations aeou red last year ror P1 ITS idv es now ooerates the

mc its mm 1/innesota Ilinois and issouri servicr erritoC Ma carry electricity at

kVi ad ig mr volmges Ms sign ficant ide tak ng was the next step in ostab ishin

Ily idepende it wnsmission eor ipany
TO Midwest tra is con to full independen

is tf at all cestor iers and Mi ierators mave equal and open ac ess to the regor al

rem ning ITC Midwest ies operat ng at 34.5 kV are expected to be transitio ied from II

IC dwes ope ational control ate in 2009

Linde

Denis DesRosiers

Joseph Dudak



TODAYS ENERGY GRD
Amer cas electric

ty power grid is operabng closer to reedge ran ever before To re ize the full

potential of or clear domestic rene vab energy sources and to ensure continued reliabilfty and

ceo romic grovth our ration needs new gh-vollage elect icity backbone Unfortunately desoite

the obvious need for new strategically anred transirissior the outdated laws and regulations hat

govern our grid stand ir the way of soluti ns We need to nodern xc these ru us to icourage

market-based solutions to this urgent prob em order to address impediments to building regional

transmission such as through the dave opme it of robust regional planning and cost alloca ion

process as cell as through the transmissio siting process

REGONAL PLANNNG AND COST ALLOCA1ON
lTOs experience as an ndependenttransmissiori company has gver L5 unique irsight into the

value of idependence in transmission operat ons ard planning fhis indeperdence should not be

limted to the transmission owrung entity but should be exterded to regional pla rOng by the

regional transmission orga rizations RTO Additionally ITO believes that membe ship ii RTOs

should be mandatory for an ring purpcses an that we reed to develop cost allocation

methodology for regional transmission projects that would allo tne costs of regional tra ismission

projects to be allocated based or the benefits realized by idividual entities wirhin the region Only

when we have robust and flexible regonal electrc transmission grd that provides non

discriminatory access will the US be ab to benefit from the vast energy resources ava lable and

achieve energy independence

TNG CHALLENGES

planning and cost allocation the US will still be cha enged by how

ansmission rates are regulated on federa level by the FERO but

focused on benefits to thOr

5rego ioanids

In many cc

cumbersome state sting orocesses 10 is activr

policies that give abundant opoortunity for

providng the FERO with more

developrner that needed for the

fo years through

legislators to promote

.. rr involvement whIe

in transmission sit ng so that nfrastructure

of the entire country can move forward expeditiously

Curren

indivio

igs
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NTLRCONNEC1NC MIDWESTERN WND
August EERC ppro ed cos beat on oposa fro ITO Mdv estfo connectng ger1rators

to the electr gr Jr iac rg it easier and reducing ost barrier or generators including wind

energy dove ope to connec to ITO Midwests transmission grid This ew policy was contra

in aci icatirg the inte connection of 810 VIW of wind in Iowa ir 2008 one wfich rocgt

eec ia ent he energy emnd 23a000 ho cc tlpicul dip ITfl Vidnest car tinues

to ork tT dud energy developers and other generators their plans to con iecc iond eds

of add banal oe4awats the grid 2009

ITCs GREEN POWER EXPR 85

Over he past ear ITO as beer Acused on ideritifyirg solutior for how to itegrate wind and

other renewable resources The esLilt of TO work is called tie Green Pu ver Exo es od

network of 765 kV trannmiss on cc lities that has beer designed to eff cient move to

000 We re iewable errgy from id ich ireas in the Dakotas Iowa md Mm iesota to

major ent oad cc ites The Green Pov er Express is consistert wth indcstry effor such

as ie ufoer owestTransnission Development Ir itiative ard otters

Consistent wTh Is ia no ìe Green Power Express eject is tm green as it wi bros ft

red ict 01 of ipto 34 mu io wetric tons of careon emissio is whic is equivaicritto the iual

en ss about seven to ne 600 OW coal pla its or nine to cOven millio aLtomobiles

ri iernore the Green Pov or Express evels the ecu ionic playing field for cv nc power by

nu ci it cost cur iuedtive with other for ns of generation such as coa ic lear and nut gas

Ice proecT hAs tier ecniomic Lenefts itciill open ai eeoromic bUgs hctv riirJ ansrg

providers ard high co msumption lead centers buTd ig communTAs on one id aid provici

Heai relieble iergy on tie other



Thomas Vhez

Joseph Welch

NEW TON TO SUPPORT OROW1H RFLABR TY

In Cc ober HO ce ebrated the constr cton oft ie Murphy SOt on new trars ssion ate ha

whe coniplet ienor rn on caoital iprovement project designed ove lect

reliabili the lOidlard Sag nov Bay region rphy Ste or nas been dcsg ied aedress

pro ccted ierease no ver demands over he next three oa factor critical to igoi electric

reliablity aid continued ecu iornic growth in the area Hemlock Semiconductor Oorporatio ore

of the largest employers in the regio has mdi ated it will need more rower to accom odare its

jo ritt tirough 2011 This re mest .dem witi assessment that tie crrrent ghd coLile

not con irue to re iably serve the reg is go er ds sprrred mi plann ng and development

of the project 110 it cipates cor ructie ill be comolete in spring
2009

CONI NUED FOCUS ON RELRBILTY

ITO ron ains 100% co omitted to improving cLew reliab ity becaLse it is he cornerstone of our

business Our capita projects and ma iter once cEo ts are dr yen by th focus because we bel eve

is jof it to keep te lights on Both the HO Trausrrussien and ME 10 systems are prove too

performers hei it mmes to operatione purtorwaim For exam tie SOS TransmAsio

Rol ibility Benchmarking SOic5 rated boF TO Transr nls/on and MEOO ii the top dec Ic baser on

sustained outages expe iesce on their especnive sys ems This sar level of operat ora

performance is expected for 110 Midwest or ITO is af Ic to ful evC iate the system aid addreus

crtea ly needec imerovements

ASSST\NE IN ES1ORA1ION DURING HISTORKAL FOODING

ITO va ot ithout cha Ic iges meLd ib ijo
flood and arou id Ocd Raoids owe

eeanion of ITO MidwesL headquarters ITO iewests fices had to be ova mated and operacens

mover to ternoorary facilities Despite this ITO Midwest responded ek ipeortng electricity

reMorat Oi forts ITO vies elso priv eged to ib irticipate ii helping etuild tr comm nitf

threugh anproxirratOy $500000 ir gre its organ actions Oedar Rapids such as Lhe lobs

Small business Recovery md the Hokeyo Area Oem ii ty Ac icr Program and to an ITO

ewesL do icr cdv sed fL rid itt ho Greater da Tapds Oem munly Feunda 110 iS freud

to be part of the reouldi ig ef ts as ne no to give back to tne eernmuritles at fave so

rr \ve cemed idwe

right TO Midwest Fieid Superwsor examines damage to the companys Sixth Street substation during the June 2008

food in cedar Rapids inset and oversees restorat on work at the site weeks iater

tEAM

20 HO so 2C 18 2r cc Re
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMM TT ES

Audit and Finance

Compensabon

Nominating Corporate Governance

Security Safety Environmental Health and Reliability
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MANAGEMENT EAM

Joseph Welch

Chairman President Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer

Linda Blair

Executive Vice President and Chief Business Officer

Jon Jipping

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Edward Rahill

Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Den is DesRosiers

Vice President Information Technology Facilities and Chief Information Officer

Joseph Dudak

Vice President Major Contracts Special Projects

Joseph Fennell

Vice President and Controller

Elizabeth Howell

Vice President Operations

Gregory loanidis

Vice President Business Strategy

Daniel Oginsky

Vice President and General Counsel

Christine Mason Soneral

Vice President and General Counsel Utility Operations

Thomas Vitez

Vice President Planning



CORPORATE INFORMATION

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
27175 Energy Way

Novi Michigan 48377

Phone 248 946-3000

INTERNET

ITO Holdings Corp www itc-holdi ngs.com

ITO Transmission www.itctransco.com

METC www.metcllc.com

ITC Midwest www.itcmidwest.com

ITO Great Plains www.itcgreatplains.com

COMMON STOCK LISTING

New York Stock Exchange

Symbol IC

COMPANY CONTACTS

For additional information about the company

please contact

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Patricia Wenzel

Director Treasury and Investor Relations

Phone 248 946-3570

LEGAL COUNSEL

Daniel Oginsky

Vice President General Counsel

Phone 248 946-3563

TRANSFER AGENT

Computershare Trust Company NA
P.O Box 43078

Providence Rhode Island 02940-3078

Phone 781 575-3100

The transfer agent is responsible for handling

shareholder questions regarding lost certificates

address changes changes of ownership or name in

which shares are held

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT

Deloitte Touche LLP

600 Renaissance Center Suite 900

Detroit Michigan 48243-1704

Phone 313 396-3000

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 900 am EDT on

Wednesday May 20 2009 at the ITC corporate headquarters

27175 Energy Way Novi Michigan 48377

CE RT IC AT IONS

The most recent certifications by our chief executive and chief

financial officers pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 regarding the quality of our public disclosures are filed as

exhibits to our Form 10-K for 2008 Our chief executive officers

most recent certification to the New York Stock Exchange regarding

compliance with the Exchanges corporate governance listing

standards was submitted June 19 2008

24 ITC Holdings Corp 2008 Annual Report
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27175 ENERGY WAY

NOVI MICHIGAN 48377

April 13 2009

Dear Shareholder

You are cordially invited to attend our Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be held on Wednesday

May 20 2009 at 900 a.m local time at our corporate headquarters located at 27175 Energy Way Novi Michigan

After the formal business session there will be report to the shareholders on the state of the Company and

question and answer session

The attached notice and proxy statement describe the items of business to be transacted at the meeting Your

vote is important regardless of the number of shares you own urge you to vote now even if you plan to attend the

Annual Meeting You can vote your shares in person or by phone Internet or mail Follow the instructions on the

enclosed proxy
card If you receive more than one proxy card please vote each card Remember you can always

vote in person at the Annual Meeting even if you do so now provided you are shareholder of record or have legal

proxy from shareholder of record

Sincerely

ITC HOLDINGS CORP

Joseph Welch

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Novi Michigan

April 13 2009
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27175 ENERGY WAY

NOVI MICHIGAN 48377

248 946-3000

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TO BE HELD ON MAY 20 2009

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of ITC Holdings Corp will be held at

our corporate headquarters located at 27175 Energy Way Novi Michigan 48377 on May 20 2009 at

900 a.m Eastern Daylight Time for the following purposes

To elect Board of Directors to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders

To ratify the appointment of Deloitte Touche LLP as the Companys independent registered public

accountants for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 and

To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or

postponement thereof

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on April 2009 are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT PLEASE VOTE ON THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD NOW EVEN IF

YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING YOU CAN VOTE BY SIGNING DATING AND

RETURNING YOUR PROXY CARD BY MAIL IN THE ENCLOSED RETURN ENVELOPE WHICH

REQUIRES NO ADDITIONAL POSTAGE IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES OR BY TELEPHONE

OR INTERNET BY FOLLOWING THE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE PROXY CARD IF YOU DO ATTEND

THE ANNUAL MEETING YOU MAY REVOKE YOUR PROXY AND VOTE IN PERSON IF YOU ARE

SHAREHOLDER OF RECORD OR HAVE LEGAL PROXY FROM SHAREHOLDER OF RECORD

By Order of the Board of Directors

Is Wendy McIntyre

Wendy McIntyre

Secretary

Novi Michigan

April 13 2009



ITC Holdings Corp
27175 Energy Way

Novi Michigan 48377

248 946-3000

April 13 2009

PROXY STATEMENT

The Board of Directors is furnishing this proxy statement in connection with its solicitation of proxies for use

at our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and at any and all adjoumments and postponements thereof for the

purposes
set forth in the accompanying notice References in this proxy statement to the Company we our and us

are to ITC Holdings Corp Michigan corporation We intend to begin mailing this proxy statement the attached

Notice of Annual Meeting and the accompanying proxy card to shareholders on or about April 13 2009 The

following are questions and answers that convey important information regarding the Annual Meeting and how to

vote your shares

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Who may vote

Shareholders of our common stock as of the close of business on the record date of April 2009 are

entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting Our common stock is our only class of outstanding voting

securities

What am voting on

You are being asked to vote on the election of directors to serve until the 2010 annual meeting of

shareholders You are also being asked to ratify the appointment of Deloitte Touche LLP as our

independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009

When and where will the Annual Meeting be held

The meeting will be held at 900 a.m Eastern Daylight Time on Wednesday May 20 2009 at our

corporate headquarters located at 27175 Energy Way Novi Michigan 48377

What is the difference between shareholder of record and beneficial owner

You are considered shareholder of record if your shares are registered directly in
your name with our

transfer agent Computershare Trust Company N.A. The proxy statement proxy card and annual report

are being mailed directly to you Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting we urge you to

vote your proxy card to ensure that your vote is counted

You are considered beneficial owner if your shares are held in stock brokerage account or by bank or

other nominee This is also commonly referred to as holding shares in street name The proxy statement

annual report and vote instruction card have been forwarded to you by your broker bank or nominee

who is considered with respect to your shares the shareholder of record As the beneficial owner you

have the right to direct your broker bank or nominee how to vote your shares by using the vote instruction

card included in the mailing You are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting However since as

beneficial owner you are not the shareholder of record you may not vote your shares in person at the

meeting unless you request and obtain legal proxy from your bank broker or other agent or nominee



How do cast my vote

There are four different ways you may cast your vote this year if you are shareholder of record You may
vote by

Telephone using the toll-free number 1-800-652-VOTE 8683 which is also listed on each proxy

card Please follow the instructions on your proxy card If you vote using the telephone do not mail in

your proxy card

Internet go to the voting site at www.investorvote.com and follow the instructions outlined on the

secured website using certain information provided on the front of the proxy card If you vote using

the Internet do not mail in your proxy card

Signing dating and mailing each proxy card or vote instruction card and returning it in the envelope

provided

Attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person if you are shareholder of record or if you are

beneficial owner and have legal proxy from the shareholder of record

If you hold your shares in street name you will need to obtain vote instruction form from the

institution that holds your shares and follow the voting instructions given by that institution

How do vote if attend the Annual Meeting

If you are shareholder of record you can attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person the shares you

hold directly in your name If you choose to do that please bring copy of the enclosed proxy card or

other proof of identification as shareholder If you want to vote in person at our Annual Meeting and you

hold our common stock through bank broker or other agent or nominee you must obtain power of

attorney or other proxy authority from that organization and bring it to our Annual Meeting Follow the

instructions from your bank broker or other agent or nominee included with these proxy materials or

contact your bank broker or other agent or nominee to request power of attorney or other proxy

authority If you vote in
person at the Annual Meeting you will revoke any prior proxy you may have

submitted

How do revoke or change my vote

You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time prior to voting at the Annual Meeting by

notifying our Corporate Secretary in writing

voting again by telephone or Internet prior to May 19 2009 at 1159 p.m Eastern Daylight Time
since only your latest vote will be counted

signing and returning prior to the Annual Meeting another proxy card that is dated after the date of

your
first proxy card or

voting in person at the Annual Meeting if you are shareholder of record or have legal proxy from

shareholder of record

Attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke your proxy or change your vote If your

shares are held in street name you must contact your broker or nominee to revoke your proxy

How many shares can vote at the Annual Meeting

As of the record date 49755823 shares of our common stock were outstanding Every shareholder of

common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held

What is quorum

quorum is the number of shares that must be present in person or by proxy in order for business to be

transacted at the meeting The required quorum for the Annual Meeting is majority of the shares

outstanding and entitled to vote as of the record date There must be quorum present for the meeting to



be held All shares represented at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy including those voted by

telephone or Internet will be counted toward the quorum

10 Who will count the vote

representative from Computershare Trust Company N.A our transfer agent will count the votes and

act as inspector of election

11 Who can attend the Annual Meeting

All shareholders who owned shares on April 2009 may attend Please indicate that you plan to attend

by checking the box on your proxy card or vote instruction card or pressing the appropriate key if voting

by telephone or Internet

12 How will the voting on any other business be conducted

If any
other business is properly presented at the Annual Meeting Edward Rahill and Daniel

Oginsky officers of the Company and the named proxies generally will have authority to vote your shares

voted on our proxy card on such matters in their discretion

13 How is my proxy tabulated if sign and date my proxy card but do not indicate how want to vote

If you do not indicate on the proxy
card how you want your votes cast the named proxies Mr Rahill or

Mr Oginsky as your representatives will vote your shares FOR all of the nominees for director listed in

the proxy card FOR the ratification of Deloitte Touche LLP to act as our independent registered public

accountants and FOR any other matters presented by the Board for action at the Annual Meeting

14 Will my shares be voted if do not sign and return my proxy card or vote by telephone or nternet

If your shares are held in street name your brokerage firm may either vote your shares on routine

matters such as election of directors or ratification of appointment of registered independent public

accountants or leave your shares unvoted We encourage you to provide instructions to your brokerage

firm by completing the vote instruction form that they send to you This enables your shares to be voted at

the meeting as you direct

If you are shareholder of record and do not vote your proxy by telephone Internet mail or vote your

shares in person at the Annual Meeting your shares will not be voted

15 Who pays the cost of the solicitation of proxies

The cost of soliciting proxies by our Board including the preparation assembly printing and mailing of

this proxy statement and any
additional materials furnished to our shareholders will be borne by the

Company Proxies will be solicited primarily by mail and may also be solicited by directors officers and

other employees of the Company without additional compensation Copies of solicitation material will be

furnished to banks brokerage houses and other agents holding shares in their names that are beneficially

owned by others so that they may forward this solicitation material to these beneficial owners In addition

if asked we will reimburse these persons
for their reasonable expenses

in forwarding the solicitation

material to the beneficial owners The Company has requested banks brokerage houses and other

custodians nominees and fiduciaries to forward all solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of the

shares they hold of record

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE

SHAREHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 20 2009

The proxy statement and annual report to shareholders are available at the following website

http//itc.client.shareholder.com/annuals.cfm The means to vote by Internet are available by accessing

www.investorvote.com and following the instructions provided on the secure website using certain information

provided on the front of the proxy card Directions to attend the meeting in person may be obtained by contacting us

at 248-946-3000



SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the ownership of our common stock as of March

2009 except as otherwise indicated by

each current director

each director nominee

each of the persons named in the Summary Compensation Table under Compensation of Executive Officers

and Directors

all current directors and executive officers as group and

each
person who is known by us to own beneficially 5% or more of our 49733070 outstanding shares of

common stock each of whom we refer to as 5% Owner

The number of shares beneficially owned is determined under rules of the Securities and Exchange Com
mission or SEC and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose
Under such rules beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the individual has sole or shared voting

power or investment power and also any shares which the individual has the right to acquire on March 2009 or

within 60 days thereafter through the exercise of any stock option or other right

Unless otherwise indicated each holder has sole investment and voting power with respect to the shares set

forth in the following table

Number of Shares

Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned1 Percent of Class

Joseph Welch 1021747 2.1%

Edward Rahill 205902

Linda Blair 174537

Jon Jipping 79682

Daniel Oginsky 78444

Edward Jepsen 54702

Richard McLellan 2467

William Museler 2251

Hazel OLeary 2251

Bennett Stewart III 3615

Lee Stewart 4530

All current directors and executive officers as group

11 persons 1630128 3.3%

Baron Capital Group Inc BAMCO Inc Baron Capital

Management Inc and Ronald Baron2 4914928 9.9%

Less than one percent



Includes restricted shares subject to forfeiture to us under certain circumstances shares that may be acquired

upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or become exercisable prior to April 30 2009 and shares

pledged by the holder as security for loans as set forth below

Option Shares Pledged As

Name Restricted Sharesa Shares Security

Joseph Welch 13353 826485

Edward Rahill 4649 140135 30000

Linda Blair 5027 138109

Jon upping 4973 71709

Daniel Oginsky 3376 52274 22794

Edward Jepsen 3615

Richard McLellan 967

William Museler 2251

Hazel OLeary 2251

Bennett Stewart III 3615

Lee Stewart 3615

All directors and executive officers as group

11 persons 47692 1228712 52794

Does not include 10185 deferred stock units owned by Mr Welch that will settle in February 2010 and

2011 or the dividend equivalent rights associated with said deferred stock units

Based on information contained in Schedule 3G/A filed on February 12 2009 with information as of

December 31 2008 Baron Capital Group Inc or BCG and Ronald Baron are parent holding companies and

disclaim beneficial ownership of shares held by their controlled entities to the extent such shares are held by

persons
other than BCG or Mr Baron BAMCO Inc and Baron Capital Management Inc or BCM are

registered investment advisors and subsidiaries of BCG Mr Baron owns controlling interest in BCG BCG

and Mr Baron have shared voting power with respect to 4693428 shares and shared dispositive power with

respect 4914928 shares and beneficially own 4914928 shares BAMCO has shared voting power with respect

to 4694920 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 4701420 shares and beneficially owns

4701420 shares BCM has shared voting power with respect to 207008 shares and shared dispositive power

with respect to 213508 shares and beneficially owns 213508 shares The business address of BCG BAMCO
BCM and Mr Baron is 767 Fifth Avenue New York NY 10153

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Background

Our Bylaws provide for the election of directors at each annual meeting of shareholders Each director serves

until the next annual meeting and until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her resignation or

removal Directors are elected by plurality of the votes cast so that only votes cast for directors are counted in

determining which directors are elected The size of our Board is currently set at seven directors and there are seven

nominees for election Therefore the seven directors receiving the most votes for will be elected Broker non-

votes if any and withheld votes will be treated as shares present for purposes of determining the presence
of

quorum but will have no effect on the vote for the election of directors Information with respect to the seven

nominees proposed for election is set forth below

The Board of Directors recommends vote FOR each of the director nominees The persons named in the

accompanying proxy card will vote for the election of the nominees named in this proxy statement unless

shareholders specify otherwise in their proxies If any nominee at the time of election is unable to serve or

otherwise is unavailable for election and if other nominees are designated by the Board of Directors the persons

named as proxy holders on the accompanying proxy card intend to vote for such nominees Management is not

aware of the existence of any circumstance which would render the nominees named below unavailable for election

All of the nominees are currently directors of the Company



Nominees For Directors

Set forth below are the names and
ages

of the nominees THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS
VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF EACH OF THE NOMINEES NAMED BELOW

Edward Jepsen 65 Mr Jepsen an independent business consultant became Director of the Company in

July 2005 Mr Jepsen currently serves as director of the Amphenol Corporation and as director and chair of the

audit committee of the board of directors of Gerber Scientific Inc Mr Jepsen served as Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer of Amphenol Corporation publicly traded manufacturer of electrical electronic and

fiber optic connectors interconnect systems and cable from 1989 to 2004 Prior to joining Amphenol Corporation

Mr Jepsen worked at Price Waterhouse LLP from 1969 to 1988 ultimately attaining the position of partner

Richard McLellan 66 Mr McLellan became Director of the Company in November 2007 Mr McLellan

retired in April 2007 after 25 years as the director of the government policy department for the law firm of Dykema
Gossett PLLC He continues to consult and provide limited legal services to select clients Mr McLellan is currently

chairman of the Michigan Law Revision Commission position he has held since 1986 and Chairman of the Board

for the Council for Africa Infrastructure Development In June 2007 he was named Special Counsel to the Chairman

of the Michigan House Appropriations Committee Mr McLellan previously served two terms as member of the

Board of Commissioners of the State Bar of Michigan and served on the Board of Trustees of the Michigan State

University College of Law He is member of the Advisory Board for the Michigan State University James and

Mary Quello Center for Telecommunications Management and Law and teaches as an adjunct professor at

Michigan State Universitys Department of Advertising Public Relations and Retailing

William Musele 68 Mr Museler is an independent energy consultant He became Director of the

Company in November 2006 Previously he served as president and CEO of the New York Independent System

Operator from 1999 to 2005 Prior to his service at NYISO Mr Museler held senior positions at the Tennessee

Valley Authority from 1991 to 1999 Long Island Lighting Company from 1973 to 1991 and Brookhaven National

Laboratory from 1967 to 1973 He has served as federal representative for the North American Electric Reliability

Council and as chairman of the Southeastern Electric Reliability Council He was member of the Secretary of

Energys Energy Advisory Board for four years and is currently director of the Independent Electric System

Operator in Toronto Ontario Canada

Hazel OLeary 71 Ms OLeary became Director of the Company in July 2007 Since 2004

Ms OLeary has served as the President of Fisk University in Nashville Tennessee and she currently serves

on the boards of directors of the Nashville Alliance for Public Education Nashville Business Community for the

Arts World Wildlife Fund and Arms Control Association Ms OLeary served as an assistant attorney general and

assistant prosecutor in the state of New Jersey and was appointed to the Federal Energy Administration under

President Gerald Ford and to the Department of Energy under President JimmyCarter Ms OLeary worked in the

private sector as principal at the independent public accounting firm of Coopers and Lybrand from 1977 to 1979

In 1981 she was named vice president and general counsel of OLeary and Associates company focused on

international economics as related to energy
issues She served in that capacity until 1989 and then returned as

president from 1997 to 2001 In 1989 she became executive vice president for environmental and public affairs for

the Minnesota Northern States Power Company and in 1992 she was promoted to president of the holding

companys gas
distribution subsidiary Ms OLeary served as the Secretary of Energy from 1993 to 1997 and as

president and chief operating officer for the investment banking firm Blaylock and Partners in New York from 2000

to 2002 Ms OLeary also served on the board of directors of AES Corporation from 1991 to 1993 and from 1997 to

2002

Gordon Bennett Stewart IIj 56 Mr Stewart became Director of the Company in July 2006 In 1982 he

co-founded Stern Stewart Co global management consulting firm where he served as Senior Partner until

March 2006 Since then Mr Stewart has served as chief executive officer of EVA Dimensions firm he fonned to

acquire and manage the valuation modeling and investment research and funds management services of Stem

Stewart Co He also currently serves as Chairman of the Alumni Advisory Council for Princeton Universitys

Department of Operations Research and Financial Engineering Mr Stewart has written and lectured widely in his

30 year professional career on topics such as accounting for value and management incentive plans



Lee Stewart 60 Mr Stewart an independent financial consultant became Director of the Company in

August 2005 Mr Stewart currently serves as director of P.H Glatfelter Company Marsulex Inc and AEP

Industries Inc Mr Stewart is member of the audit committee at AEP Industries Inc and Marsulex Inc

Previously Mr Stewart was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Foamex International Inc

publicly traded manufacturer of flexible polyurethane and advanced polymer foam products in 2001 and was Vice

President responsible for all areas of Treasury at Union Carbide Corp chemicals and polymers company from

1996 to 2001 Prior to that Mr Stewart was an investment banker for over 25 years

Joseph Welch 60 Mr Welch has been Director and the President and Chief Executive Officer of the

Company since it began operations in 2003 and served as its Treasurer until April 2009 He also currently serves as

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company As the founder of ITCTransmission Mr Welch has had overall

responsibility for the Companys vision foundation and transformation into the first independently owned and

operated electricity transmission company in the United States Mr Welch worked for Detroit Edison Company or

Detroit Edison and subsidiaries of DTE Energy Company which we refer to collectively as DTE Energy from

1971 to 2003 During that time he held positions of increasing responsibility in the electricity transmission

distribution rates load research marketing and pricing areas as well as regulatory affairs that included the

development and implementation of regulatory strategies

Gordon Bennett Stewart III and Lee Stewart are not related

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Director Independence

Based on the absence of any material relationship between them and us other than their capacities as directors

and shareholders the Board has determined that Mr Jepsen Mr McLellan Mr Museler Ms OLeary Mr Bennett

Stewart and Mr Lee Stewart are independent under applicable NYSE and SEC rules for board members In

addition our Board has determined that as the committees are currently constituted all of the members of the Audit

and Finance Committee the Compensation Committee and the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are

independent under applicable NYSE and SEC rules None of the directors determined to be independent is or ever

has been employed by us

Mr McLellan who became director of the Company in November 2007 was member of the law firm

Dykema Gossett PLLC until he retired in April 2007 Mr McLellan acts as an independent consultant for the

Dykema law firm for which he is paid nominal annual stipend We made payments for legal services to the

Dykema law firm amounting to less than 2% of its gross revenues during each of the last three calendar years and

less than 1% during two of the last three calendar years Mr McLellan currently has no financial or other interest in

such payments and as member of Dykema had no financial or other interest in such payments other than pro rata

with the other members of the firm Our Board considered this relationship when determining that Mr McLellan is

independent and determined that this relationship was not material and was unlikely to affect his ability to act as an

independent board member

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

During 2008 our Board held meetings Each director attended 75% or more of the total number of meetings

of the Board and committees of which he or she was member in 2008 Mr Lee Stewart was selected by our Board

to chair its executive sessions These sessions were held several times throughout the year

Our policy is that all members of our Board are expected absent valid reason to attend our annual

shareholders meetings All directors who were serving as such at the time of last years annual shareholders

meeting attended the meeting

Our Board has several standing committees including Compensation Committee Nominating/ Corporate

Governance Committee and an Audit and Finance Committee The Board has adopted written charter for each of

these committees The charters and our corporate governance principles are accessible on our website at



www.itc-holdings.com through the Corporate Governance link on the Investors page and are available in print

from us upon request

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee met times during 2008 The members of the Audit and Finance

Committee are Mr Jepsen Mr William Museler Mr Bennett Stewart and Mr Lee Stewart with Mr Jepsen serving

as Chair The Board has determined that Mr Jepsen is an audit committee financial expert as that term is defined

under SEC rules and that all members of the Audit and Finance Committee satisfy all independence and other

qualifications for Audit and Finance Committee members set forth in applicable NYSE and SEC rules Our Audit

and Finance Committee is responsible for among other things selecting our independent public accountants

approving the overall scope of the audit assisting our Board in monitoring the integrity of our financial

statements the independent public accountants qualifications and independence the performance of the inde

pendent public accountants and our internal audit function and our compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements annually reviewing report of our independent public accountants describing the firms internal

quality-control procedures and any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review or peer

review of the firm discussing our annual audited and quarterly unaudited financial statements with manage
ment and our independent public accountants meeting separately periodically with our management internal

auditors and independent public accountants reviewing with our independent public accountants any audit

problems or difficulties and managements response setting clear hiring policies for employees or former

employees of our independent public accountants and handling such other matters that are specifically

delegated to the Audit and Finance Committee by our Board from time to time as well as other matters as set forth

in the committees charter

Audit and Finance Committee Report

In accordance with its written charter the Audit and Finance Committee provides assistance to our Board in

fulfilling the Boards responsibility to our shareholders potential shareholders and investment community relating

to independent registered public accounting firm oversight corporate accounting reporting practices and the

quality and integrity of the financial reports including our internal controls over financial reporting

The Audit and Finance Committee received and reviewed formal written statement from Deloitte Touche

LLP our independent registered public accounting firm describing all relationships between Deloitte Touche

LLP the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and their respective affiliates whom we refer to collectively

as Deloitte and us that might bear on Deloittes independence consistent with applicable requirements of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountants communications with the audit

committee concerning independence discussed with Deloitte any relationships that may impact their objectivity

and independence and satisfied itself as to Deloittes independence

The Audit and Finance Committee discussed with Deloitte the matters required to be discussed by Statement

on Auditing Standards No 61 as amended Communication with Audit Committees and with and without

management present discussed and reviewed the results of Deloittes examination of the consolidated financial

statements

The Audit and Finance Committee reviewed and discussed with management and Deloitte our consolidated

audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31 2008

Based on the above-mentioned reviews and discussions with management and Deloitte the Audit and Finance

Committee approved the inclusion of our audited consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 for filing with the SEC

EDWARD JEPSEN WILLIAM MUSELER BENNETT STEWART LEE STEWART

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee met times during 2008 The members of the Compensation Committee are

Mr Lee Stewart Mr Jepsen Mr McLellan and Mr Bennett Stewart with Mr Lee Stewart serving as Chair The



Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing key employee compensation policies plans and

programs reviewing and approving the compensation of our executive officers reviewing and approving

employment contracts and other similar arrangements between us and our executive officers reviewing and

consulting with the chief executive officer on the selection of officers and evaluation of executive performance and

other related matters administration of stock plans and other incentive compensation plans and such other

matters that are specifically delegated to the Compensation Committee by our Board from time to time The

Compensation Committee has retained Hewitt Associates or Hewitt as compensation consultants to assist it in its

efforts to evaluate market competitiveness for various compensation plans research compensation trends and

technical matters and provide guidance as necessary Further information regarding the nature and scope
of work of

the consultant is included in the Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors Compensation Discussion

and Analysis section of this proxy statement The Compensation Committee seeks input from our chief executive

officer on performance reviews and salary recommendations for our officers recommendations with regard to

changes in compensation and benefit plans and updates on current issues or programs The Compensation

Committee typically evaluates this information along with any information provided by Hewitt before taking any

action

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee met times during 2008 The members of the Nomi

nating/Corporate Governance Committee are Ms OLeary Mr McLellan and Mr Bennett Stewart with

Ms OLeary serving as Chair The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for developing

and recommending criteria for selecting new directors screening and recommending to our Board individuals

qualified to become directors overseeing evaluations of our Board its members and its committees and

handling such other matters that are specifically delegated to it by our Board from time to time In identifying

candidates for director the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee considers suggestions from incumbent

directors management or others including shareholders The committee also may retain the services of consultant

from time to time to identify qualified candidates for director The committee reviews all candidates in the same

manner without regard to who suggested the candidate The committee selects candidates to meet with management

and conduct an initial interview with the committee Candidates whom the committee believes would be valuable

addition to the Board are recommended to the full Board for election As stated in the committees charter in

selecting candidates the committee will consider all factors it considers appropriate which may include ensur

ing that the Board of Directors as whole is diverse and consists of individuals with various and relevant career

experience technical skill industry knowledge and experience financial expertise local or community ties and

minimum individual qualifications including strength of character mature judgment familiarity with our

business and industry independence of thought and an ability to work collegially Individuals recommended by

shareholders for nomination as director should be submitted to our Corporate Secretary and if submitted in

accordance with the procedures set forth in our annual proxy statement will be forwarded to the Nominating/

Corporate Governance Committee for consideration

Shareholder Communications

Shareholder Proposals Any proposal by shareholder of the Company to be considered for inclusion in the

proxy statement for the 2010 annual meeting must be received by Wendy McIntyre our Corporate Secretary by the

close of business on December 14 2009 Such proposals should be addressed to her at our principal executive

offices and should satisfy the informational requirements applicable to shareholder proposals contained in the

relevant SEC rules If the date for the 2010 Annual Meeting is significantly different than the first anniversary of the

2009 Annual Meeting Rule 14a-8 of the SEC provides for an adjustment to the notice period described above

For shareholder proposals not sought to be included in our proxy statement Section 4.11 of our Bylaws

provides that in order to be properly brought before the 2010 Annual Meeting written notice of such proposal

along with the information required by Section 4.11 must be received by our Corporate Secretary at our principal

executive offices no earlier than the close of business on January 20 2010 and no later than February 19 2010 If the

2010 annual meeting date has been significantly advanced or delayed from the first anniversary of the date of the



2009 annual meeting then notice of such proposal must be given not earlier than the close of business on the

120th day before the meeting and not later than the 90th day before the meeting or if later the 10th day after the first

public disclosure of the date of the annual meeting proponent must also update the information provided in or

with the notice at the times specified in our Bylaws

Only persons
who are shareholders both as of the giving of notice and the date of the shareholder meeting and

who are eligible to vote at the shareholder meeting are eligible to propose business to be brought before

shareholder meeting The proposing shareholder or his qualified representative must attend the shareholder

meeting in
person

and present the proposed business in order for the proposed business to be considered

Nominees Shareholders proposing director nominees at the 2010 annual meeting of shareholders must

provide written notice of such intention along with the other information required by Section 4.11 of our Bylaws to

our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices no earlier than the close of business on January 20 2010

and no later than the close of business on February 19 2010 If the 2010 annual meeting date has been significantly

advanced or delayed from the first anniversary of the date of the 2009 annual meeting then the notice and

information must be given not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day before the meeting and not later

than the 90th day before the meeting or if later the 10th day after the first public disclosure of the date of the annual

meeting With respect to an election to be held at special meeting of shareholders such notice must be given in

accordance with the procedures set forth in our Bylaws no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day before

and not later than the close of business on the 90th day before the date of such special meeting or if later the

10th day after the first public disclosure of the date of such special meeting Notwithstanding the foregoing if the

number of directors to be elected is increased and there is no public disclosure regarding such increase or naming all

of the nominees for director at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the prior years annual meeting then

shareholder notice with regard to nomination of directors shall be considered timely if received by our Corporate

Secretary no later than the tenth day following public disclosure of the increase in the number of directors to be

elected proponent must also update the information provided in or with the notice at the times specified by our

Bylaws Nominees for director which do not contain the information required by our Bylaws or which are not

delivered in compliance with the procedure set forth in our Bylaws will not be considered at the shareholder

meeting

Only persons
who are shareholders both as of the giving of notice and the date of the shareholder meeting and

who are eligible to vote at the shareholder meeting are eligible to nominate directors The nominating shareholder

or his qualified representative must attend the shareholder meeting in person and present the proposed nominee in

order for the proposed nominee to be considered

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committees policy is to review the qualifications of candidates

submitted for nomination by shareholders and evaluate them using the same criteria used to evaluate candidates

submitted by the Board for nomination

Communications With the Board

person who wishes to communicate directly with our Board or with an individual director should send the

communication addressed to the Board or the individual director to our executive offices at the address shown on

the first page of this proxy statement and the communication will be forwarded to the director or directors to whom
it is addressed

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees executive

officers and directors including our chief executive officer chief financial officer and principal accounting officer

The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as currently in effect together with any amendments that may be

adopted from time to time is available on our website at www.itc-holdings.com through the Corporate

Governance link on the Investors page or may be obtained in print from us upon request In the future to

the extent any waiver is granted or amendment is made with respect to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that

requires disclosure under applicable SEC rules we intend to post information regarding such waiver or amendment

on the Corporate Governance page of our website
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below are the names ages and titles of our executive officers

Name Age Position

Joseph Welch 60 President and Chief Executive Officer

Edward Rahill 55 Senior Vice President President ITC Grid

Development LLC

Cameron Bready 37 Senior Vice President Treasurer and Chief

Financial Officer

Linda Blair 39 Executive Vice President and Chief Business

Officer

Jon Jipping 43 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating

Officer

Daniel Oginsky 35 Vice President and General Counsel

Our executive officers serve as executive officers at the pleasure of the Board of Directors Our current

executive officers are described below

Joseph Welch Mr Welchs background is described above under Election of Directors Nominees for

Directors

Edward Rahill Mr Rahill is Senior Vice President of the Company and President of the Companys ITC

Grid Development LLC subsidiary In this position Mr Rahill is responsible for identifying developing and

implementing new business opportunities including new projects partnerships and acquisition opportunities From

February 2006 until April 2009 Mr Rahill served as the Companys Senior Vice President Finance and Chief

Financial Officer while simultaneously managing the business activities of ITC Grid Development LLC and its

subsidiaries He was Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer from 2003 until being named Senior Vice

President in February 2006 Prior to his employment with the Company Mr Rahill headed the Planning and Corporate

Development functions for DTE Energy and its subsidiaries He joined DTE Energy in 1999 as the Manager of Mergers

Acquisitions and Alliances Mr Rahill has over 22
years

of experience in finance and accounting Prior to joining DTE

Energy Mr Rahill led the Corporate Development Function for Equitable Resources He has also held various finance

and accounting positions with Bell Howell Atlantic Richfield and Carborundum Corporation

Cameron Bready Mr Bready was named Senior Vice President Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer on

April 2009 Mr Bready is responsible for the Companys accounting finance treasury and other related financial

functions Prior to joining the Company Mr Bready served for one and half years as vice president of finance at

Northeast Utilities in Hartford Connecticut where he was responsible for the financial assessment and structuring of the

companys Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or FERC regulated transmission and state regulated distribution

infrastructure investments in the Northeast He also oversaw financial policy matters including cost of capital and capital

structure requirements and dividend policy as well as all corporate financial planning and analysis functions Prior to this

post Mr Bready served for seven and half
years

in various senior management positions at Mirant Corporation

publicly traded wholesale electhcity generator based in Atlanta Georgia and prior to Mirant he worked for six years as

senior manager in the Transaction Advisory practice at Ernst Young and as an audit manager for Arthur Andersen

Linda Blair Ms Blair was named Executive Vice President and Chief Business Officer in June 2007

Ms Blair is responsible for managing each of our regulated operating companies and the necessary business support

functions including regulatory strategy federal and state legislative affairs community government affairs human

resources marketing and communications and information technology and facilities Prior to this appointment

Ms Blair served as our Senior Vice President Business Strategy and was responsible for managing regulatory

affairs policy development internal and external communications community affairs and human resource

functions Ms Blair was Vice President Business Strategy from March 2003 until she was named Senior Vice

President in February 2006 From 2001 through February 2003 Ms Blair was the Manager of Transmission Policy
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and Business Planning at ITCTransmission when it was subsidiary of DTE Energy Prior to this time Ms Blair

was supervisor in Detroit Edisons regulatory affairs department where she developed and managed all regulatory

relations and communications activities with the Michigan Public Service Commission and the FERC

Jon Jipping Jon Jipping was appointed in June 2007 to serve as our Executive Vice President and Chief

Operating Officer In this position Mr upping is responsible for transmission system planning system operations

engineering and supply chain Prior to this appointment Mr Jipping served as our Senior Vice President

Engineering and was responsible for transmission system design project engineering and asset management

Mr upping joined us as Director of Engineering in March 2003 was appointed Vice President Engineering in

2005 and was named Senior Vice President in February 2006 Prior to joining ITCTransmission in 2003 Mr Jipping

was Manager of Business Systems Applications in Detroit Edisons Service Center Organization responsible for

implementation and management of business applications across the distribution business unit Mr upping joined

Detroit Edison in 1990 and held various positions of increasing responsibility in Transmission Operations and

Transmission Planning including serving as Principal Engineer and Manager of Transmission Planning during the

sale of ITCTransmission

Daniel Oginsky Mr Oginsky has been Vice President and General Counsel since November 2004 and is

responsible for our legal affairs and managing the legal department From June 2002 until joining us in October

2004 Mr Oginsky was an attorney with Dykema Gossett PLLC At Dykema Mr Oginsky represented

ITCTransmission and other energy clients as well as telecommunications clients on regulatory administrative

litigation transactional property tax and legislative matters Mr Oginsky practiced state regulatory law at

Dickinson Wright PLLC in Lansing Michigan from August 2001 to May 2002 From 1999 to 2001 Mr Oginsky

was an attorney with Sutherland Asbill Brennan LLP in Washington D.C where his practice focused on

representing energy clients in FERC and state electric and natural gas matters
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the elements of compensation for our chief

executive officer chief financial officer and each of the three other most highly compensated executive officers

who were serving as such at December 31 2008 We refer to these individuals collectively as the NEOs The

Compensation Committee of our Board establishes and reviews the compensation for the NEOs while imple

mentation and day-to-day administration of our compensation programs is performed by our employees

Objectives of Compensation Program

The objective of our compensation program as public company is to attract retain and motivate exceptional

managers and employees and to maintain the focus of those managers and employees on providing value to

customers and shareholders by

performing best-in-class utility operations

improving reliability reducing congestion and facilitating access to generation resources and

utilizing our experience and skills to seek and identify opportunities to invest in needed transmission and

optimize the value of those investments

Our compensation program as public company is designed to motivate and reward individual and corporate

performance Our compensation philosophy is to

Provide for flexibility in pay practices to recognize our unique position and growth proposition

Use market-based pay program aligned with pay-for-performance objectives

Be competitive with the market in all pay elements relating to compensation for current services while

leveraging incentives where possible

Utilize market compensation studies to verify competitiveness and ensure continued competitiveness

Align long-term incentive awards with improvements in shareholder value

Provide benefits through flexible cost-effective plans and maintain above-market benefits while taking into

account business needs and affordability and

Provide other non-monetary awards to recognize and incentivize performance

Exclusion of Pre-IPO Related Amounts from Normal Compensation Amounts

On July 26 2005 we became public company following our initial public offering or IPO Certain dollar

amounts referred to as Pre-IPO Related Amounts are included in the Summary Compensation Table in this proxy

statement However those amounts are legacy issues which are tied to and result from NEOs personal investments

and assumed risks and other arrangements made while we were privately held Accordingly the Compensation

Committee believes those legacy amounts should not be viewed as part of the NEOs normal compensation for

purposes of measuring against the objectives of our compensation program or for comparisons to public company

executive compensation The Compensation Committee believes that NEO compensation excluding the Pre-IPO

Related Amounts is fair and reasonable as compared to peer company compensation and meets the objectives of

our compensation program outlined above Amounts that are Pre-IPO Related Amounts and the compensation of

13



the NEOs after exclusion of the Pre-IPO Related Amounts are identified in footnote to the Summary Com

pensation Table

We began operations on February 28 2003 following the acquisition of our first operating utility subsidiary

ITCTransmission from DTE Energy To motivate management to meet challenges and cause us to grow we at the

direction of our controlling shareholder at the time International Transmission Holdings Limited Partnership or

ITHLP established an equity participation program under which each executive officer made personal equity

investments in our common stock Based on the number of shares purchased we also made grant of options to the

executive Certain executives including the NEOs also received grants of restricted stock All of these purchases

and grants were subject to five-year vesting and transfer restrictions

In connection with the IPO in 2005 each executive also waived contractual rights to sell stock in the IPO In

exchange the executives were granted options based on the number of shares each executive could have sold but

chose not to sell in the IPO Because these equity grants are tied to NEOs personal investments and risks faced

prior to the IPO the value of option awards made before July 26 2005 are not considered by the Compensation

Committee to be part of normal NEO compensation The dollar amounts included in the Option Awards column of

the Summary Compensation Table that the Compensation Committee considers to be Pre-IPO Related Amounts are

identified in footnote to the Summary Compensation Table

In addition to the waiver of contractual rights to sell stock in the IPO the Management Stockholders

Agreement for grants made by us prior to November 16 2005 provides that grantee of restricted stock or options

under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan may sell shares of restricted stock and shares underlying then

exercisable options in any offering conducted by ITHLP notwithstanding other vesting requirements and transfer

restrictions pursuant to piggyback registration rights as discussed further in the narrative following the

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

Under the ITC Holdings Corp Executive Group Special Bonus Plan or the Special Bonus Plan the

Compensation Committee is authorized to approve the crediting of special bonus amounts to plan participants

and generally gives consideration to dividends paid or expected to be paid on our common stock We adopted the

Special Bonus Plan in June 2005 as vehicle that could be used to compensate plan participants for the lost value of

equity investments and grants that occurred prior to the IPO In 2008 bonuses under the Special Bonus Plan were

credited to NEOs once during each quarter The amounts of the awards were equal to the approved per share

quarterly dividend amount multiplied by the number of our common shares underlying the options held by the NEO

granted prior to the IPO and under the Special Bonus Plan as amended in 2007 are immediately vested and paid

The amounts paid under the Special Bonus Plan in 2008 are set forth in footnote to the Summary Compensation

Table The only participants in this plan are executives who were granted options during the pre-IPO period and

special bonus amounts have been paid only with respect to options granted before the IPO The Compensation

Committee also considers these amounts to be tied to the investments made and risks faced by our executive officers

prior to the IPO Accordingly the Compensation Committee does not consider amounts awarded under the Special

Bonus Plan to be part of normal NEO compensation The Special Bonus Plan awards that the Compensation

Committee considers to be Pre-IPO Related Amounts are identified in footnote to the Summary Compensation

Table

Finally for Mr Welch the Change in Pension Value Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Earnings

column of the Summary Compensation Table includes amounts associated with the Management Supplemental

Benefits Plan or MSBP Mr Welch retired under DTE Energys Management Supplemental Benefit Plan though

with lower benefits than he would have earned with additional service In order to compensate Mr Welch for the

value of benefits he would have received had he remained with DTE Energy the Company agreed to establish the

MSBP such that his retirement benefits would be calculated to include service with DTE Energy with the resulting

amount offset by the benefits he is receiving from DIE Energy The MSBP is described in detail in the Pension

Benefits Management Supplemental Benefits Plan section of this proxy statement following the Pension

Benefits Table The calculation of Mr Welchs benefit under the MSBP is affected by including awards to him

under the Special Bonus Plan prior to May 17 2006 which are considered Pre-IPO Related Amounts as discussed

above The calculation also is affected by including awards to Mr Welch under our former Dividend Equivalents
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Rights Plan or DERP The DERP was established in 2003 to preserve the value of options that previously were

granted to executives and key employees upon return of capital to shareholders that we issued that year Under the

DERP upon affecting return of capital to shareholders cash amount equal to the per share return of capital

multiplied by the number of options held by each executive and key employee was credited to bookkeeping

account maintained for each DERP participant Those amounts previously held in bookkeeping accounts under the

DERP were paid out to each DERP participant in 2005 upon the plans termination Similarly because awards under

the DERP are particularly tied to investments made and risks faced by our executive officers prior to the IPO such

awards also are considered to be Pre-IPO Related Amounts Because awards under the Special Bonus Plan and

DERP are Pre-IPO Related Amounts the Compensation Committee does not include those amounts in the

calculation of Mr Welchs benefit under the MSBP for purposes
of reviewing his normal compensation The

component of the Change in Pension Value Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Earnings for Mr Welch

which the Compensation Committee considers Pre-IPO Related Amounts due to the exclusion of Special Bonus

Plan and DERP awards from Mr Welchs MSBP benefit calculation is identified in footnote to the Summary

Compensation Table

Review of Compensation Benchmarks and Relationship of Compensation Elements

The Compensation Committee has engaged in benchmarking total compensation paid to our executive

officers The benchmarking analysis compared the compensation of our executive officers including the NEOs to

compensation paid to executives by two groups
of peer companies

The Compensation Committee engaged Hewitt as its advisor on executive compensation issues to provide

market data on all of the components of compensation including salary bonus long-term incentives and total

compensation for select executive officers including the NEOs The Compensation Committee also engages

Hewitt to provide market data and comments about the design of our executive compensation programs with respect

to both market practice and the unique strategic goals of our business model Hewitt is engaged by and reports to the

Compensation Committee and at the Compensation Committees discretion participates in its meetings and

executive sessions Executive compensation consulting is the only work that Hewitt performs for us

During 2007 the Compensation Committee through Hewitt conducted benchmarking study that compared

compensation paid to our executive officers including the NEOs to the 50th and 65th percentiles of market for base

salary and the 50th and 75th percentiles for annual incentive compensation and long term incentive compensation

among the peer companies listed below In 2008 following the December 2007 acquisition of the transmission

assets of IPL Hewitt updated its study to adjust for our larger market capitalization that accompanied the

acquisition and related financing The benchmarking study determined that total compensation paid to our NEOs

excluding the Pre-IPO Related Amounts continued to trail the market median as well as the Compensation

Committees goal of targeting the 50th percentile for NEO compensation

Because we are the only publicly traded company that exclusively owns stand-alone electricity transmission

companies the Compensation Committee for benchmarking purposes selected two different peer groups which

were used for both the 2007 and 2008 studies The first group referred to as the Size and Industry Peer Group

consists of electric gas
and water utility companies as well as some companies from other industries that are

comparable to our current size and projected future size as measured by market capitalization The second group

referred to as the High Performance Peer Group was drawn from non-financial services companies in the Hewitt

database with revenue below $4 billion that were in the 60th or higher percentile in both 5-year return on equity and

5-year compound annual growth in revenue for fiscal year
2006 There are no utilities in the second group rather the

group was chosen to reflect our high growth and return profile Periodically the composition of the peer groups
will
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Size and Industry Peer Group

Allegheny Energy Inc

Applied Industrial Technologies

Black Hills Corporation

Brady Corporation

Cabot Oil Gas Corporation

Cleco Corporation

Dynegy Inc

El Paso Electric Company

ESCO Technologies Inc

Forest Oil Corporation

Graco Inc

IDACORP Inc

IHS Group

Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator Inc

Milacron Inc

PacifiCorp

Plains Exploration Production Company

Portland General Electric Company

Powerwave Technologies Inc

Rollins Inc

High Performance Peer Group

AGL Resources Inc

Alberto-Culver Company

Allergan Inc

Alliant Techsystems Inc

BJ Services Company

Briggs Stratton Corporation

Bard Inc

Cabot Oil Gas Corporation

Chicago Bridge and Iron Company

Church Dwight Company

Curtiss-Wright Corporation

Del Monte Foods Company

Donaldson Company Inc

Ferrellgas Partners L.P

Fiserv Inc

Graco Inc

Hot Topic

Mylan Laboratories Inc

Noble Energy Inc

Pioneer Natural Resources Company

Stericycle Inc

Thomas Betts Corporation

WGL Holdings Inc

Woodward Governor Company

As part of the Compensation Committees process in addition to the benchmarking analysis our chief

executive officer reviews and examines market benchmark compensation as well as individual responsibilities and

performance our compensation philosophy and other related information to determine the appropriate level of

compensation for each of our NEOs Our chief executive officer then makes recommendations to the Compensation

Committee on any such compensation adjustments or revisions In turn the Compensation Committee considers

and examines any such recommendations and consults with Hewitt to understand the impact and result of any such

changes

The Compensation Committee reviews and considers each element of compensation in making compensation

determinations The Compensation Committee has not determined that compensation elements are to be set

according to pre-set or formulaic mix The Compensation Committee retains full discretion to consider or

disregard data collected through benchmarking or peer group studies in the course of setting executive compen
sation levels The Compensation Committee does generally review all elements of compensation together in

measuring total compensation packages as part of its benchmarking analyses and in measuring compensation

packages against the objectives of our compensation program

Cash Components of Compensation

The Compensation Committee does not have pre-established mix of cash and non-cash compensation that it

targets Instead it considers the value of each component of compensation as well as the value of total compensation

be reviewed and updated for consistency with the growth and performance profile of the Company These two peer

groups consisted of the following entities in 2007 and 2008
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as compared to market values In addition compensation decisions are also considered in the context of individual

and Company performance retention concerns the importance of the position and internal equity Mr Welch

evaluates the performance of the NEOs other than himself and makes recommendations on their salaries bonus

targets and long-term incentive awards The Compensation Committee considers these recommendations in its

decision making

Base Salary The base salary component of each NEOs annual cash compensation is based on the job

responsibilities and individual contribution of each NEO and with reference to base salary levels of executives at

peer companies

On May 2008 the Compensation Committee approved changes to the base salaries of certain of the NEOs

effective May 12 2008 In making these salary adjustments the Compensation Committee considered the

performance of each individual growth in his or her job responsibilities and the continued growth of the Company

The Compensation Committee also took into account the results of the benchmarking analysis conducted by Hewitt

which showed that the Companys executive officer salaries appreciably trailed the peer group medians The salary

adjustments were made as the second adjustment of three year plan to phase in salary levels that place the

Companys executive officer salaries at benchmarked levels consistent with the objectives of its compensation

program The Compensation Committee has postponed the third adjustment that would have been made in 2009 due

to economic conditions nationally and locally

On May 20 2008 the Compensation Committee approved an increase to Mr Welchs base salary effective

May 26 2008 In considering Mr Welchs salary increase the Compensation Committee considered benchmarking

data the overall performance of the Company and Mr Welchs singular role as the leader of the Company and

electric transmission industry

On March 31 2009 the Compensation Committee approved an increase to Mr Rahills base salary from

$280000 to $300000 effective April 2009 in connection with his change in responsibilities
from the Companys

chief financial officer to president of ITC Grid Development LLC the Companys subsidiary focused on

development activities

Accordingly base salaries of our NEOs are as follows

Name Current Salary

Joseph Welch $735000

Edward Rahill $300000

Linda Blair $344000

Jon upping $344000

Daniel Oginsky $228000

Following these adjustments Mr Welchs base salary approximates the 50th percentile of the peer groups

while the other NEOs base salaries remain considerably below the peer group medians

Bonus Compensation Annual bonus awards based on corporate performance goals are used to provide

incentives for and reward contributions to our growth and success Annual corporate performance bonuses awarded

to NEOs for 2008 are listed in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation

Table in this proxy statement and are described below

Each year the Compensation Committee approves our annual corporate performance bonus plan goals and

targets which are based on key Company objectives operational excellence and superior financial performance

The same corporate performance goals and targets generally are used in determining annual bonus compensation

for all of our employees The corporate performance goals and targets accordingly are designed to align the

interests of customers shareholders management and all employees and encourage
teamwork and coordination

among all of our executives and employees with common focus on the growth and success of the Company Target

amounts for the corporate performance goals are determined based on long-term strategic plans historical
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performance expectations for future growth and desired improvement over time Weights are assigned to each goal
based on areas of focus during the year and difficulty in achieving target amounts Weights are also assigned so that

there is balance between operational and financial goals

The annual bonus plan performance goals are individually weighted Each goal operates independently and
for most goals there is not range of acceptable performance For example if goal is not achieved there is no

payout for that goal We do not pay for achieving below-target performance on any goal but we will pay for

achievement of target performance on those goals that are achieved The bonus goal targets are established to

motivate employees towards operational excellence and superior financial performance and are designed to be

challenging to meet while remaining achievable Corporate performance goal criteria approved by the Compen
sation Committee for 2008 and actual bonus results were

Goal

Safety as measured by lost

time

Safety as measured by

recordable incidents

IlCTransmission Outage

frequency

METC Outage frequency

ITCTransmission Field

Operation and

Maintenance Plan

Rationale for Goal

Maintaining the safety of

ITC employees and

contractors is an ITC core

value and is at the

foundation of ITCs

success

Maintaining the safety of

ITC employees and

contractors is an ITC core

value and is at the

foundation of ITCs

success

Reducing and limiting

system outages is critical

to ensuring system

reliability

Reducing and limiting

system outages is critical

to ensuring system

reliability

Performing necessary

preventative maintenance

is critical to ensuring

system reliability

Rationale for Target

Target remained the same

as in 2007 despite increase

in exposure due to increase

in number of operating

subsidiaries and resulting

increase in employees and

contractors

Target was increased to

reflect increase in
exposure

due to increase in number

of operating subsidiaries

and resulting increase in

employees and contractors

Target was intended to

move company towards

best-in-class system

performance and to

encourage efforts such as

root cause analysis to

reduce the number of

outages The 2008 goal

reflected top decile

performance

Target was intended to

move company towards

best-in-class system

performance and to

encourage efforts such as

root cause analysis to

reduce the number of

outages The 2008 goal

reflected top decile

performance

Target was reflective of

goal to catch up on

historically deferred

maintenance and also

complete the normal

maintenance schedule

2008 Bonus

Weight Payout

5% 0%

5% 5%

5% 5%

5% 0%

5% 5%
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Goal

METC Field Operation

and Maintenance Plan

ITCTransmission Capital

Project Plan

METC Capital Project

Plan

ITC Midwest Capital

Project Plan

General and

Administrative and Non-

field Operation and

Maintenance expense

EBITDA

Total

Rationale for Goal

Performing necessary

preventative maintenance

is critical to ensuring

system reliability

Performing necessary

system upgrades is critical

to ensuring system

reliability providing

robust transmission grid

and delivering financial

performance

Performing necessary

system upgrades is critical

to ensuring system

reliability providing

robust transmission grid

and delivering financial

performance

Performing necessary

system upgrades is critical

to ensuring system

reliability providing

robust transmission grid

and delivering financial

performance

Controlling general and

administrative expenses is

an important part of

controlling rates charged to

transmission customers

EBITDA is an important

measure of the Companys
current financial

performance

Rationale for Target

Target was reflective of

goal to catch up on

historically deferred

maintenance and also

complete the normal

maintenance schedule

The 2008 ITCTransmission

capital project plan was

smaller than the 2007 plan

but reflected increasingly

more difficult to

accomplish projects

The 2008 METC capital

project plan was 533%

larger than the 2007 plan

which was the first full

year of operations within

the Company

2008 was the Companys

first year operating ITC

Midwests transmission

system There was

uncertainty as to how

much of the 2008 capital

program could be

accomplished

Target was set to realize

synergies across multiple

operating subsidiaries

while reflecting staffing

and other administrative

needs in existing business

and increases due to

growth

The 2008 EBITDA goal

was 43% higher than 2007

actual performance

reflecting the addition of

ITC Midwest

2008 Bonus

Weight Payout

5% 5%

15% 15%

15% 15%

15% 15%

10% 10%

15% 15%

100% 90%

We define EBITDA as net income plus income taxes depreciation and amortization expense and interest

expense and excluding allowance for equity funds used during construction and certain other items not related

to operating performance such as loss on extinguishment of debt

Additionally to further motivate management to provide value to shareholders we included performance

factor for 2008 for our executives including the NEOs under which NEOs annual bonus awards may be increased

based on our total return to shareholders compared to the Dow Jones Utility Average Index companies Based on our

2008 total return to shareholders to the extent it was positive number and ranked within the 50th to
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100th percentile as compared to the companies that comprise the Dow Jones Utility Average Index the performance

factor to be applied to each NEOs annual bonus award was in the range of 1.0 to 2.0 as follows

ITCs Total Return to

Shareholders relative to each

of the Dow Jones Utility
Performance

Average Companies
Factor

1st to 50th percentile
1.0

51st to 60th percentile
1.2

61St to 70th percentile
1.4

71st to 80th percentile 1.6

81st to 90th percentile 1.8

91st to 100th percentile 2.0

Our 2008 total return to shareholders was -21% which was the fourth highest return and ranked in the

81st percentile compared to the Dow Jones Utility Average Index companies However because total return to

shareholders for 2008 was negative this ranking equated to performance factor of 1.0

Bonuses are based on target bonus amounts which for each employee is percentage of his or her base salary

The Compensation Committee considers each individuals job responsibilities and the results of its benchmarking

analysis when determining target bonus levels For 2008 target bonus levels were 125% of base salary for

Mr Welch and 100% of base salary for Ms Blair and Messrs Jipping Oginsky and Rahill The benchmarking study

showed that Mr Welchs target bonus opportunity is above the 50th percentile compared to CEOs in our peer

groups In establishing the target at 125% the Compensation Committee considered this information along with

Mr Welchs leading role in the industry and his pivotal role in the growth of the Company The target bonus levels

for the other NEOs are also above the 50th percentile of the market however when these percentages are applied to

their base salaries which are below the 50th percentile they produce total cash compensation values that are

generally consistent with market practice

These factors including the performance factor based on total return to shareholders that is applicable only to

executives resulted in bonus calculation for 2008 for employees including NEOs according to the following

formula

Base Salary Target Bonus of base salary Achievement of Corporate Goals 90% Performance Factor 1.0

Annual Bonus Amount

For fiscal year 2009 the Compensation Committee approved corporate performance goals for the annual

bonus award similar to prior years criteria including the performance factor for executives including NEOs

On December 19 2007 the Compensation Committee approved additional cash bonuses for substantially all

employees with the exception of Mr Welch in conjunction with the successful completion of the acquisition of the

electric transmission assets of Interstate Power and Light Company or the IPL assets the integration of the IPL

assets into the Company and the independent operation of the IPL assets The total bonus award amount was

recommended by management to the Compensation Committee and was based on the annual incentive award for

2007 The bonus was paid in two installments with the first payment being made on December 31 2007 in

recognition of closing the acquisition The second payment was made on December 24 2008 and was contingent

upon satisfaction of performance targets relating to integration of the IPL assets into the Company The Com

pensation Committee established the goals in 2007 based on managements recommendation which included

completing the following tasks

transition of independent system operation and network and third party billing

personnel hiring and training

warehouse set-up and tools/equipment procurement
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transferring of franchises and

timely compliance filings

All of the integration goals were achieved The second payment was equal to half of the 2007 annual incentive

plan bonus based on 2008 base salary as follows

2008 Base Salary Target Bonus 100% of base salary Achievement of Corporate Goals 85% for 2007 --

Bonus Amount

On February 18 2008 Mr Welch received bonus in the form of deferred stock units in connection with the

acquisition of the IPL assets as described below under Equity-Based Grants

On February 2006 the Compensation Committee approved the Executive Cash Bonus Agreement between

the Company and Mr Oginsky to offer him additional financial incentive to provide continuing services to the

Company in lieu of the equity-based compensation previously received by other executive officers The agreement

provides that Mr Oginsky will receive cash bonus in the amount of $120000 on August of each of the years

2006 2007 2008 and 2009 The bonus for any year
will not be payable if Mr Oginskys employment has been

terminated by him without good reason or by the Company for cause each as defined in the Executive Cash

Bonus Agreement prior to August of such year If Mr Oginskys employment is otherwise terminated he is

entitled to receive all unpaid bonus payments in lump sum within 15 days after termination

Equity-Based Grants

On August 13 2008 the Compensation Committee approved grants of restricted stock and stock options to

employees including the NEOs under the Amended and Restated ITC Holdings Corp 2006 Long Term Incentive

Plan or LTIP The primary purpose of the LTIP is to encourage equity ownership among our employees non-

employee directors and consultants in order to align their interests with those of shareholders The LTIP is designed

to enhance our ability to attract motivate and retain qualified managers and employees and encourage strong

performance It also is designed to motivate future growth through individual performance and in turn strong

Company performance The amounts and terms of grants made under the LTIP are described in the narrative

following the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table in this proxy statement The LTIP was amended in 2008 with the

approval of our shareholders to add shares to the pool of shares available for future grants to simplify the share

counting provision to bring the LTIP into compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and to make

minor clarifying changes

The Compensation Committee approved awards under the LTIP based on our CEOs recommendation derived

from market data of our peer groups The award grants are meant to reward motivate and incent performance as

well as act as retention mechanism total value for the award for each grantee except Mr Welch was

determined based on percentage
of salary For the NEOs except Mr Welch the awards were targeted to be 125%

of base salary For Mr Welch the total value for the award was based on target
value of $1100000 The target

award value was then weighted between grants of restricted stock and options The awards were weighted as 20%

restricted stock and 80% options for Mr Welch and 30% restricted stock and 70% options for the other NEOs The

allocation of awards between stock options and restricted stock is based on several considerations including the risk

profile that the Compensation Committee believes to be appropriate for the position and market practice The

Compensation Committee believes that because more senior positions have greater influence on Company

performance they should have greater proportion of their equity incentives in stock options which become

valuable only when the market price of our common stock is above the price at the grant date Consequently

Mr Welchs equity award has higher proportion in stock options than the awards of the other NEOs Hewitt

provided the Compensation Committee with valuations of the options and restricted stock according to its modified

Black-Scholes model which was also applied to the equity awards of the peer group companies In determining the

size of grants under the LTIP and the manner in which awards were identified the Compensation Committee

considered comparisons to peer company long-term incentive plan grants expense to the Company and dilution of
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shareholder value as well as amounts that it believes will motivate performance to achieve continued growth in our

value The grant made to Mr Welch was somewhat below the 50th percentile of the market and the grants to

Mr upping and Ms Blair were substantially below market Messrs Rahill and Oginsky received grants that

approximate the 50th percentile

Also in August 2008 the Compensation Committee approved minor modifications to outstanding equity

awards with such modifications being applicable to future awards as well The modifications allowed for

immediate vesting of restricted stock and option grants upon death or disability of the grantee or upon change

in control of the Company Further if the grantee retires at or after the age of 65 restricted stock awards vest on pro

rata basis and options continue to vest on their normal vesting schedule These modifications were made in order to

better align our equity awards with market practice which we believe will assist us in the retention of employees

On February 18 2008 the Compensation Committee approved bonus for Mr Welch in recognition of the

Companys successful completion of the acquisition of the IPL assets in December 2007 The Compensation

Committee established the value of the award at $850000 based on Mr Welchs actual bonus earned in 2007 with

additional consideration related to the substantial increase in our stock price following the announcement and

completion of the transaction The Compensation Committee decided to provide the award in the form of 15277

vested deferred stock units that would be settled in transferrable shares of our common stock over three year

period rather than cash The Compensation Committee believed that this mechanism would provide Mr Welch

with timely recognition of the achievement while also linking his ultimate benefit to the value shareholders realize

from the future success of the acquisition The deferred stock units were granted in accordance with the terms of the

LTIP based on the closing price of our common stock on February 15 2008 the last trading date prior to the date of

grant since there was no trading in our common stock on February 18 2008 The deferred stock units will be paid in

shares of our common stock in three equal annual installments beginning February 18 2009 at the rate of one share

per unit subject to anti-dilution adjustment in accordance with the LTIP Upon change in control of the Company
as defined in the LTIP the units will be immediately converted into the right to receive the number of shares of

common stock for which units could then be settled and will be settled within 30 days of the change in control All of

Mr Welchs rights to the units became vested immediately upon grant and are not subject to forfeiture upon

termination of employment or any other event Mr Welch has no voting rights with respect to the shares underlying

the units until the shares become issued and outstanding upon settlement of the units He does however have

dividend equivalent rights with respect to the units such that he will receive additional deferred stock units with

fair market value equal to the cash dividends he would have received on the shares underlying the deferred stock

units he holds if such underlying shares of common stock had been outstanding on the record date for the dividend

The additional units will be settled in shares of our common stock at the same time as the units on which the

dividend equivalents were received The units are not transferable by Mr Welch but the shares issued upon each

settlement date will be immediately transferable

Pension Benefits

As is common in our industry and as established pursuant to our initial formation requirements pursuant to the

acquisition agreement with DTE Energy for ITCTransmission we maintain tax-qualified defined benefit

retirement plan for eligible employees comprised of traditional pension component and cash balance

component All employees including the NEOs participate in either the traditional component or the cash

balance component We have also established two supplemental nonqualified noncontributory retirement benefit

plans for selected management employees the Management Supplemental Benefit Plan or MSBP in which only

Mr Welch participates and the Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan or ESRP in which all other NEOs

participate These plans provide for benefits that supplement those provided by our qualified defined benefit

retirement plan Benefits payable to the NEOs pursuant to the retirement plans are set by the terms of that plan The

Compensation Committee exercises no regular discretionary authority in the determination of benefits The

retirement plans may be modified amended or terminated at any time although no such action may reduce NEOs
earned benefits and with regard to the MSBI changes must generally be agreed to by Mr Welch In November

2008 the Compensation Committee approved amendments to the MSBP and the ESRP to comply with

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code relating to taxation of deferred compensation and to update and
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clarify certain provisions See Pension Benefits in this proxy statement for infonnation regarding participation by

the NEOs in our retirement plans as well as description of the terms of the plans

Benefits and Perquisites

The NEOs participate in variety of benefits programs which are designed to enable us to attract and retain

our workforce in competitive marketplace These programs include our Savings and Investment Plan which

consists of 401k component matching contribution component and component that provides additional

benefits for certain executives executive defined contribution plan

Our NEOs are provided limited number of perquisites in addition to benefits provided to our other

employees The purpose of these perquisites is to minimize distractions from the NEOs attention to important

Company initiatives to facilitate their access to work functions and personnel and to encourage
interactions among

NEOs and others within professional business and local communities NEOs are provided perquisites such as auto

allowance financial estate and legal planning income tax return preparation annual physical club memberships

personal liability insurance and relocation assistance as well as reimbursements for income taxes related to the

inclusion of the value of the payment by the Company of these perquisites Additionally we own aircraft to facilitate

the business travel schedules of our executives and other employees particularly to locations that do not provide

efficient commercial flight schedules Mr Welch and guests traveling with him are permitted to travel for personal

business on our aircraft with an annual limit on total incremental expense to the Company of $125000 for such

personal travel In 2007 the Compensation Committee reviewed market data showing the prevalence of various

perquisites in American industry These perquisites are further discussed in footnote to the Summary Compen

sation Table in this proxy statement

Potential Severance Compensation

Pursuant to employment agreements with each NEO each NEO is entitled to certain benefits and payments

upon termination of his or her employment Benefits and payments to be provided vary based on the circumstances

of the termination The Compensation Committee believes it is important to provide this protection in order to

ensure our NEOs will remain engaged and committed to us during an acquisition of the Company or other transition

in management In November 2008 the Compensation Committee approved amendments to the NEOs employ

ment agreements to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code relating to taxation of deferred

compensation and to update and clarify certain provisions in the agreements See Employment Agreements and

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control in this proxy statement for further detail on these

employment agreements including discussion of the compensation to be provided upon termination or change in

control

In addition to severance benefits identified in their employment agreements NEOs are eligible to receive

certain payments or benefits due to termination of employment or change in control of the Company which would

be related to grants made under the 2003 Plan the LTIP or our benefits plans The NEOs eligibility for such

payments or benefits is as identified in the descriptions of those plans in this proxy statement Because these

agreements are provided to satisfy different objectives than our regular compensation program and because they

are by definition contingent in nature decisions made regarding these programs do not affect our regular

compensation program

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Section 162m of the Code restricts the deductibility of executive compensation paid to companys chief

executive officer and any of the four other most highly compensated executive officers at the end of any fiscal year

to not more than $1000000 in annual compensation including the value of restricted stock and deferred stock units

as they vest and the gain from the exercise of certain stock option grants Certain performance-based compensation

is exempt from this limitation if it complies with the various conditions described in Section 162m In general our
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stock options and cash incentive compensation arrangements are designed to cause compensation realized in

connection with the plans to comply with these conditions and be exempt from the Section 162m restriction on

deductibility to the extent permissible

Other components of our compensation program may result in payments from time to time that would be

subject to the restriction on deductibility but we do not believe the effect of the restriction on us is currently material

or that further action to qualify compensation for deductibility is necessary at this time It may be appropriate to

exceed the limitations on deductibility under Section 162m to ensure that executive officers are compensated in

manner that is consistent with the best interests of us and our shareholders and we reserve the authority to approve

non-deductible compensation in appropriate circumstances We continue to evaluate from time to time the

advisability of qualifying future executive compensation programs for exemption from the Section 162m
restriction on deductibility

Stock Ownership Guidelines

In furtherance of our objective to align the interests of management with shareholders effective August 16

2006 the Compensation Committee adopted stock ownership guidelines applicable to executive officers Under

these guidelines executive officers including NEOs must meet the applicable stock ownership guideline by the

later of August 16 2011 or the fifth anniversary of when the guidelines first become applicable to the individual

The guidelines require ownership of shares of our common stock valued at five times annual salary in the case of the

chief executive officer three times annual salary in the case of executive and senior vice presidents and two times

annual salary in the case of other executive officers The Compensation Committee determined the ownership levels

in reliance on comparisons to peer company stock ownership guideline policies Shares issuable upon exercise of

vested in-the-money stock options shares including shares of restricted stock owned directly shares owned

through various employee benefit plans and shares previously owned by executives but placed in trust for family

members count towards the ownership threshold Stock ownership positions could be considered as factor in

promotion or succession decisions and failure to maintain the applicable minimum ownership threshold may result

in payment of only portion of annual incentives in our common stock or other action by the Compensation

Committee Restricted stock awards may not be sold after vesting unless the individual is in compliance with the

applicable ownership guideline subject to hardship exceptions approved by the chief executive officer or by the

Compensation Committee in the case of an exception to be approved on behalf of the chief executive officer The

Compensation Committee may modify amend waive suspend or rescind any aspect of the guidelines at any time

Each of the NEOs is in compliance at this time with the stock ownership guidelines

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed this Compensation Discussion and Analysis with

management and based on the review and discussions with management has recommended to the Board of

Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement

LEE STEWART EDWARD JEPSEN RICHARD MCLELLAN BENNETT STEWART
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Summary Compensation

The following table provides summary of compensation paid or accrued by the Company and its subsidiaries

to or on behalf of the NEOs for services rendered by them during 20082007 and 2006 as required by SEC rules and

regulations As stated in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement the NEOs

received certain amounts disclosed as compensation below but which are tied to and result from personal

investments and assumed risks and other arrangements made while the Company was privately held referred

to throughout this proxy statement as Pre-IPO Related Amounts Footnote ito this Summary Compensation Table

identifies amounts considered by the Compensation Committee to be Pre-IPO Related Amounts which the

Compensation Committee does not consider part of NEOs normal compensation Footnote also shows com

pensation paid to the NEOs in 20082007 and 2006 excluding Pre-IPO Related Amounts which the Compensation

Committee considers NEOs normal compensation

Summary Compensation Table
Change in

Pension

Value Non

Nun.Equity qualified

Incentive Deferred

Stock Option Plan Compensation
AH Other

Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation

Name Year Salary $2 $3 $3 $4 $5 $6 Total

Joseph Welch 2008 $678654 $1098902 $974063 $438354 826875 $3133475 $168833 $7319156

President CEO 2007 $512231 $1569810 40866 $412276 $1232500 808001 90007 $4665691

Treasurer Director 2006 $389404 992705 8000 $748576 400000 $1405372 73415 $4017472

Edward Rahill 2008 $271308 186340 35804 82176 371000 146335 54607 $1147570

SVR Finance CFO 2007 $247116 457104 13192 64571 425000 87223 57602 $1351808

2006 $206962 218332 3674 $124082 168000 65192 53789 840031

Linda Blair 2008 $317723 183151 39055 88911 455800 79568 48545 $1212753

EVP CBO 2007 $257275 455640 12330 74091 448800 41069 53451 $1342656

2006 $180394 205451 3212 $130667 146800 34651 44666 745841

Jon Jipping 2008 $317723 91575 38698 76524 455800 151717 55125 $1187162

EVP COO 2007 $256458 283918 11973 46432 448800 56190 49293 $1153064

2006 $165865 122725 3064 67657 140000 37108 35877 572296

Daniel Oginsky 2008 $218908 197754 26124 65015 302100 44019 39257 893177

VP General 2007 $194627 368814 8546 35159 336600 28434 40059 $1012239

Counsel 2006 $147692 240240 2324 $112044 62000 33024 16180 613504

The following two tables show first breakdown of the Pre-IPO Related Amounts and second compensation

for NEOs after excluding the Pre-IPO Related Amounts
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Pre-IPO Related Amounts

Change in

Pension

Value Non-

qualified

Deferred

Option Compensation
Bonus Awards Earnings

Name Year Total

Joseph Welch 2008 $1098902 32227 $371066 $1502195
2007 $1569810 $193361 $279853 $2043024
2006 992705 $193361 $829134 $2015200

Edward Rahill 2008 186340 4148 190488

2007 350853 24886 375739
2006 168332 24886 193218

Linda Blair 2008 183151 6109 189260

2007 343440 36654 380094

2006 165451 36654 202105

Jon Jipping 2008 91575 3055 94630
2007 171718 18327 190045

2006 82725 18327 101052

Daniel Oginsky 2008 77754 77754
2007 164664 164664

2006 70240 70240

Compensation After Excluding Pre-IPO Related Amounts

Change in

Pension

Value

Non-Equity Non-qualified

Incentive Deferred

Stock Option Plan Compensation All Other

Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total

XL

Joseph Welch 2008 $678654 $974063 $406127 826875 $2762409 $168833 $5816961

2007 $512231 40866 $218915 $1232500 528148 90007 $2622667

2006 $389404 8000 $555215 400000 576238 73415 $2002272

Edward Rahill 2008 $271308 $35804 78028 371000 146335 $54607 9570821

2007 $247116 $106251 $13192 $39685 425000 87223 $57602 976069

2006 $206962 50000 3674 99196 168000 65192 $53789 646813

Linda Blair 2008 $317723 $39055 $82802 455800 79568 48545 $1023493

2007 $257275 $112200 $12330 $37437 448800 41069 $53451 962562

2006 $180394 40000 3212 94013 146800 34651 44666 543736

Jon Jipping 2008 $317723 $38698 73469 455800 151717 $55125 $1092532

2007 $256458 $112200 $11973 28105 448800 56190 49293 963019

2006 $165865 40000 3064 49330 140000 37108 $35877 471244

Daniel Oginsky 2008 $218908 $120000 26124 65015 302100 44019 $39257 815423

2007 $194627 $204150 8546 $35159 336600 28434 40059 847575

2006 $147692 $170000 2324 $112044 62000 33024 $16180 543264

The compensation amounts reported in this column reflect special bonus awards under the Special Bonus Plan

Such bonuses are awarded at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee Special bonuses awarded by

the Compensation Committee to date have been equal to per share dividend amounts paid by the Company

multiplied by the number of options granted in 2003 and 2005 that continue to be held by plan participants

Special bonuses awarded under the Special Bonus Plan in 2006 include vested portion paid directly to the

executive and an unvested portion that was held in an account for the executive Amendments to the Special
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Bonus Plan approved in November 2007 provided that all previously awarded but unvested special bonus

amounts would be immediately vested and paid and that any future special bonus amounts awarded would be

vested and paid at the time of the award Both vested and unvested amounts are reflected in the year
earned

without regard to vesting In addition NEOs other than Mr Welch received discretionary bonuses in

recognition of the integral role they played in the successful acquisition and integration of METC during

2006 and the successful acquisition of the IPL assets during 2007 Mr Oginskys bonus pursuant to the

Executive Cash Bonus Agreement is also included for 20082007 and 2006 Each of these bonuses is set forth in

the following table under Other Bonuses

Special Bonus Other

Vested Unvested Bonuses Total Bonus

Joseph Welch 2008 $1098902 $1098902

2007 $1569810 $1569810

2006 682295 $310410 992705

Edward Rahill 2008 186340 186340

2007 350854 $106250 457104

2006 70884 97448 50000 218332

Linda Blair 2008 183151 183151

2007 343440 $112200 455640

2006 70589 94862 40000 205451

Jon Jipping
2008 91575 91575

2007 171718 $112200 283918

2006 35296 47429 40000 122725

Daniel Oginsky 2008 77754 $120000 197754

2007 164664 $204150 368814

2006 17022 53218 $170000 240240

The amounts reported in this column represent amounts that have been amortized in our 2008 2007 and 2006

financial statements in connection with stock option and restricted stock awards previously granted to the NEOs

under the LTIP and our 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees which excludes any

forfeiture reserves recorded for these awards Awards are grant date values amortized over the requisite vesting

period three or five years for stock options and restricted stock The amounts are based on the grant date fair

value of the award pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 123R FAS 123R The grant date present
value of the stock options was determined in

accordance with FAS 23R using Black-Scholes option pricing model The options have term of 10 years

from date of grant
with remaining future life of 9.6 years

for 2008 grants 8.6 years
for 2007 grants and

7.6 years for 2006 grants Weighted average assumption used in the valuation of the 2008 options include an

expected volatility of 24.7% risk-free interest rate of 3.36% an expected life of years an expected dividend

yield of 2.14% and an underlying share price of $56.88 per
share The 2008 restricted stock awards are

recorded at fair value at the date of grant which is equivalent to the underlying share price of $56.88 per share

The 2008 deferred stock units are recorded at fair value at the date of grant The weighted average grant date fair

value of the deferred stock units granted in 2008 was $55.49 Weighted average assumption used in the

valuation of the 2007 options include an expected volatility of 21.3% risk-free interest rate of 4.47% an

expected life of years an expected dividend yield of 2.71% and an underlying share price of $42.82 per
share

The 2007 restricted stock awards are recorded at fair value at the date of grant which is equivalent to the

underlying share price of $42.82 per
share Weighted average assumption used in the valuation of the 2006

options include an expected volatility of 22.2% risk-free interest rate of 4.82% an expected life of years an
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expected dividend yield of 3.33% and an underlying share price of $33.00 per share The 2006 restricted stock

awards are recorded at fair value at the date of grant which is equivalent to the underlying share price of $33.00

per share The amount for 2008 also includes amounts that have been amortized in our 2008 financial

statements in connection with the deferred stock units paid to Mr Welch described in footnote to the Grants of

Plan Based Awards Table

The amounts reported in this column include cash awards tied to the achievement of annual Company
performance goals under our bonus plan in effect for each of 2008 2007 and 2006 Each year the Compen
sation Committee sets the targets for bonuses as well as the appropriate financial and operational metrics For

2006 the Committee selected earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization capital project

plan safety outage frequency and field and non-field OM For 2007 and 2008 the Committee added priority

maintenance activities to the above list Actual payouts ranged between 90% and 112.5% of base salary for

2008 85% and 106.25% of base salary times the performance factor of 2.0 for 2007 and between 80% and

100% of base salary for 2006 Also reflected in this column are cash awards paid in 2008 to NEOs except

Mr Welch tied to the achievement of goals with respect to the Companys integration of the IPL assets during

2008 The Compensation Committee set the goals in 2007 which included completing transition of inde

pendent system operation and network and third party billing completing personnel hiring and training

warehouse set-up and tools/equipment procurement transferring of franchises and timely compliance filings

All of the integration goals were achieved Payout was equal to half of the 2007 annual incentive plan bonus

based on 2008 base salary calculated as follows

2008 Base Salary Target Bonus 100% of base salary Achievement of Corporate Goals 85% for 2007
Bonus Amount

All amounts reported in this column pertain to the tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan and two supple

mental nonqualified noncontributory retirement plans maintained by the Company None of the income on

nonqualified deferred compensation was above-market or preferential Variation in the amounts from year to year
reflect the formulas on which the benefits are calculated which formulas have not been revised The 2006 and

2007 figures for Mr Welch have been corrected from disclosure in prior years in this column and elsewhere in this

proxy statement due to restatement of Mr Welchs Special Annuity Credit

All Other Compensation includes amounts for auto allowance financial estate and legal planning income tax

return preparation annual physical club memberships personal liability insurance relocation assistance

personal use of company aircraft for Mr Welch only and for other benefits such as Company contributions

on behalf of the NEOs pursuant to the matching and executive defined contribution plan components of the

Savings and Investment Plan as well as reimbursements for income taxes related to the inclusion of the value of

the payment by the Company of these perquisites Perquisites have been valued for purposes of these tables on the

basis of the aggregate incremental cost to the Company These benefits and perquisites for 2008 2007 and 2006

are itemized in the table below as required by applicable SEC rules
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Executive

Defined

Contribution Personal

Plan Use of

401k Employer Tax Company Other

Name Year Match Contribution Reimbursements Aircraft Benefits Total

Joseph Welch 2008 $13800 $16700 $34619 $67139 $36574 $168832

2007 $13500 $11303 $11147 $54057 90007

2006 $13200 $15800 9469 $34946 73415

Edward Rahill 2008 $13800 $16700 4343 $19764 54607

2007 $13500 $11303 7879 $24920 57602

2006 $13200 $15800 4570 $20219 53789

Linda Blair 2008 $12350 $16700 2466 $17029 48545

2007 $12250 $11303 6699 $23199 53451

2006 $11900 7780 $24986 44666

Jon Jipping 2008 $12350 $16700 4894 $21180 55124

2007 $12250 $11303 4765 $20975 49293

2006 $11900 4035 $19942 35877

Daniel Oginsky 2008 $12350 $16700 1318 8890 39258

2007 $12250 $11303 3756 $12750 40059

2006 4292 1457 $10430 16179

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth information concerning each grant of an award made to NEO during 2008

Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

All Other All Other Grant

Stock Option Exercise Date Fair

Awards Awards or Base Value of

Number of Number of Price of Stock and
Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Shares of Securities Option Option

Grant
Incentive Plan Awards

Stock or Underlying Awards Awards

Name Date Threshold Target $1 Maximum $l Units Options $/Sh $2

Joseph Welch 2/18/2008 152773 $850012

3/17/08 883 4436

6/16/08 803 4474

8/13/2008 4372 54862 $56.88 $979034

9/16/08 843 4701

12/16/08 1183 4701

$9l8750a $1837500a

Edward Rahill 8/13/2008 2087 15274 $56.88 $322045

$280000a 560000a

$119000b

Linda Blair 8/13/2008 2564 18765 $56.88 $395651

$344000a 688000a

$l46200b

Jon Jipping 8/13/2008 2564 18765 $56.88 $395651

$344000a 688000a

$l46200b

Daniel Oginsky 8/13/2008 1699 12438 $56.88 $262221

$228000a 456000a

96900b
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The compensation reported reflects the annual cash awards tied to the achievement of annual Company

performance goals under our 2008 bonus plan The target payout for 2008 was set at 125% of base salary for

Mr Welch and 100% of base salary for the other NEOs The amount shown in Column represents the

potential payout based on maximum achievement of the bonus goals and the performance factor under which

NEOs annual bonus awards could be increased up to two times the target amount based on our total return to

shareholders compared to the Dow Jones Utility Average Index The actual bonus payments earned were based

on an achievement of 90% of bonus targets and performance factor of 1.0 Actual dollar amounts are disclosed

and reported in the Summary Compensation Table as Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation Plan awards

were earned in 2008 and paid in February 2009 For more information regarding the corporate goals for 2008

see Compensation Discussion and Analysis Cash Components of Compensation Bonus Compensation in

this proxy statement

The compensation reported reflects the cash awards paid in 2008 to NEOs except Mr Welch tied to the

achievement of goals with respect to the Companys integration of the IPL assets during 2008 The Com

pensation Committee set the goals in 2007 which included completing transition of independent system

operation and network and third party billing completing personnel hiring and training warehouse set-up and

tools/equipment procurement transferring of franchises and timely compliance filings All of the integration

goals were achieved Payout was equal to half of the 2007 annual incentive plan bonus based on 2008 base

salary calculated as follows

2008 Base Salary Target Bonus 100% of base salary Achievement of Corporate Goals 85% for 2007

Bonus Amount

Grant Date Fair Value consists of stock options and restricted stock awarded under the LTIP with grant date of

August 13 2008 and for Mr Welch grant of 15277 deferred stock units as described in footnote below

Stock options vest 33% on August 13 of each year over three
year period beginning August 13 2009 Grant

date present value of the stock options was determined in accordance with FAS l23R using Black-Scholes

option pricing model The options have term of 10 years
from date of grant with remaining future life of

9.6 years Weighted average assumptions used in the valuation of the options include an expected volatility of

24.7% risk-free interest rate of 3.36% an expected life of years an expected dividend yield of 2.14% and

an underlying share price of $56.88 per share The restricted stock awards are recorded at fair value at the date

of grant which is equivalent to the underlying share price of $56.88 per
share The 2008 deferred stock units are

recorded at fair value at the date of grant The weighted average grant date fair value of the deferred stock units

granted in 2008 was $55.49

This compensation reflects an $850000 bonus for Mr Welch in recognition of the Companys successful

completion of the acquisition of the IPL assets in December 2007 awarded and paid in the form of 15277

deferred stock units pursuant to the LTIP The bonus was converted to units in accordance with the terms of the

LTIP based on the closing price on February 15 2008 the last trading date prior to the date of grant since there

was no trading in our common stock on February 18 2008 The deferred stock units will be paid in shares of

our common stock in three equal annual installments beginning February 18 2009 at the rate of one share
per

unit subject to anti-dilution adjustment in accordance with the LTIP regardless of whether Mr Welch remains

employed by the Company There are dividend equivalent rights with respect to the units such that Mr Welch

will receive additional deferred stock units with fair market value equal to the cash dividends he would have

received on the shares underlying the deferred stock units he holds if such underlying shares of common stock

had been outstanding on the record date for the dividend The additional units will be settled in shares of our

common stock at the same time as the units on which the dividend equivalents were received During 2008 370

deferred stock units were granted to Mr Welch pursuant to dividend equivalent rights

The Compensation Committee has established bonus targets as percentage of the base salary for each NEO in

consideration of benchmarking data on total cash compensation the importance of the NEOs position to the

success of the Company our need to create meaningful incentives to enhance performance and the culture of

teamwork that makes our company successful The Compensation Committee does not have pre-established

targeted allocation of cash compensation into its component elements of base salary and bonus
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The Compensation Committee may grant stock options restricted stock restricted stock units and perfor

mance based awards in the form of equity or cash under the LTIP with the terms of each award set forth in written

agreement with the recipient Equity-based grants made in 2008 to the NEOs under the LTIP were made pursuant to

terms stated in the August 2008 form of restricted stock award agreement and the August 2008 form of option

agreement

The August 2008 form of restricted stock award agreement provides that so long as the grantee remains

employed by us the restricted stock fully vests upon the earlier of the third anniversary of the grant date ii the

grantees death or permanent disability or iii change in control as defined in the LTIP If the grantees

employment is terminated for any reason other than retirement at or after age 65 death or disability prior to the

restricted stock becoming fully vested the grantee forfeits the restricted stock unless otherwise determined by the

Compensation Committee If the grantees employment is terminated due to retirement the stock will vest pro rata

based on service time since the grant date and the remaining unvested shares will be canceled The restricted stock

agreement also provides that restricted stock issued to the grantee may not be transferred by the grantee in any

manner prior to vesting Grantees otherwise have all rights of holders of our common stock including voting rights

and the right to receive dividends

The August 2008 form of option agreement provides that the options become exercisable in three equal annual

installments beginning on the one year anniversary of the grant date so long as the grantee remains employed by us

The options become fully exercisable immediately upon the grantees death or permanent disability or ii upon

change in control as defined in the LTIP The Compensation Committee has the right to accelerate vesting or

extend the time for exercise The exercise price of the options is the fair market value
per

share of our common stock

on the grant date The grantee may pay the exercise price in cash with previously acquired shares that have been

held at least six months or pursuant to broker-assisted cashless exercise method The stock options will expire

10 years after the grant date and will immediately terminate to the extent not yet exercisable if the grantees

employment with us is terminated for any reason other than retirement at or after
age 65 death or disability If the

grantees employment is terminated other than due to retirement at or after
age 65 death or disability on or after the

date the options first become exercisable then the grantee has the right to exercise the option for three months after

termination of employment to the extent exercisable on the date of termination If the grantee retires from the

Company at or after age 65 the options will continue to vest on the normal schedule and the grantee has the right to

exercise the option at any time during the remaining term to the extent it was not previously exercised If the

grantees employment terminates due to death or disability the grantee or the grantees estate has the right to

exercise the option at any time during the remaining term to the extent it was not previously exercised The option

agreement also provides that options issued to the grantee may not be transferred by the grantee except pursuant to

will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution or transfers to which the Compensation Committee has given

prior written consent Until the issuance of shares of stock pursuant to the exercise of stock options holders of stock

options granted under the option agreement have no rights of holders of our common stock
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides
information with respect to unexercised options and shares of stock that have not

vested as of the end of 2008 held by the NEOs

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

Number of Number of

Securities Securities

Underlying Underlying
Number of Shares or Market Value of

Unexercised Options
Unexercised Options Option Exercise Option Expiration

Units of Stock That Shares or Units of

Name if Exercisable1
Unexercisable1 Price Date Have Not Vested if Stock That Have Not

Vested

Joseph Welch 601778
7.48 2/28/2013

193001 128668 $23.00 7/25/2015

15515 23273 $33.00 8/16/2016

16191 64768 $42.82 8/15/2017

54862 $56.88 8/13/2018

29093 $127065

60724 $265225

43725 $190969

Edward Rahill 100296
7.48 2/9/2014

33775 22517 $23.00 7/25/2015

4157 6237 $33.00 8/16/2016

1907 7629 $42.82 8/15/2017

15274 $56.88 8/13/2018

13363 58356

12264 53552

20875 91160

Linda Blair 100296
7.48 4/15/2013

32167 21445 $23.00 7/25/2015

3632 5450 $33.00 8/16/2016

2014 8056 $42.82 8/15/2017

18765 $56.88 8/13/2018

11683 51018

12954 56566

25645 $111996

Jon Jipping
50148

7.48 4/15/2013

16083 10723 $23.00 7/25/2015

3464 5198 $33.00 8/16/2016

2014 8056 $42.82 8/15/2017

18765 $56.88 8/13/2018

11143 48660

12954 56566

25645 $111996

Daniel Oginsky
48350 16989 $23.00 7/25/2015

2630 3946 $33.00 8/16/2016

1294 5180 $42.82 8/15/2017

12438 $56.88 8/13/2018

8453 36910

8324 36342

16995 74212
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Each option has ten year life With the exception of options granted to Mr Oginsky on July 25 2005 and

options granted to all NEOs on August 13 2008 all options vest in five equal annual installments beginning on

the first anniversary of the grant date Of the options granted to Mr Oginsky on July 25 2005 14% vested

immediately with 20% vesting on the first four anniversaries of the grant date and the remaining unvested

options vesting on the fifth anniversary of the grant date The options granted to all NEOs on August 13 2008

vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date

Value was determined by multiplying the number of shares that have not vested by the closing price of our

common stock as of December 31 2008 $43.68 per share

The outstanding shares of restricted stock vest five years
after the date of the grant which was August 16 2006

The outstanding shares of restricted stock vest five years after the date of the grant
which was August 15 2007

The outstanding shares of restricted stock vest three years
after the date of the grant which was August 13

2008

Equity grants made to NEOs in 2008 were made pursuant to the LTIP The terms of these grants are described

above in the narrative discussion accompanying the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table Prior equity grants under

the LTIP have substantially the same terms as the 2008 grants except that the vesting period of the prior grants is

five years rather than three

Prior to 2006 we awarded equity-based compensation under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan which

was established in 2003 and amended in 2005 with approval of our shareholders The plan provides for the granting

of equity awards which have consisted of the right to purchase shares of common stock as well as the right to

receive grants of restricted common stock and options to purchase shares of common stock The Compensation

Committee administers the plan

Restricted stock granted under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan was granted pursuant to

Management Stockholders Agreement and restricted stock award agreement Under those agreements the

restricted stock grants generally vest five years after the date of grant assuming the grantee continues to be

employed by us or any of our subsidiaries during such time Upon retirement at or after age 65 restricted stock will

vest pro rata based upon service since the reference date in the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan Restricted

stock automatically and without Compensation Committee consent becomes 100% vested immediately upon

change of ownership of the Company as defined in the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan In addition

restricted stock will become vested upon termination of the recipients employment with us if termination is due to

death disability or is by the Company without cause or by the recipient for good reason as such terms are defined in

the restricted stock award agreements If the recipients employment is terminated by the Company for cause or by

the recipient without good reason any unvested restricted shares will be forfeited

Options granted under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan are granted pursuant to Management

Stockholders Agreement and stock option agreement The options generally vest and become exercisable at the

rate of 20% per year over five years beginning one year after grant assuming the recipient of the option retires at or

after age 65 or continues to be employed during such time by us or any of our subsidiaries and expire on the tenth

anniversary of the date of the grant In addition the options automatically become exercisable in the event of the

recipients death or disability and immediately prior to change of ownership of the Company as defined in the

2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan Upon retirement at or after age 65 options will continue to vest on their

normal vesting schedule and once exercisable may be exercised at any time before they otherwise expire The

options expire earlier in the event of the termination of the option holders employment other than due to retirement

at or after age 65 death or disability certain change in ownership events or termination of the option pursuant to

the Management Stockholders Agreement

In addition to the vesting terms described above pursuant to piggyback rights the Management Stock

holders Agreement for grants made by us prior to November 16 2005 provides that grantee of restricted stock or

options under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan may sell shares of restricted stock and shares underlying
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then exercisable options in an offering conducted by ITHLP notwithstanding other vesting requirements and

transfer restrictions

The Management Stockholders Agreement contains certain additional provisions that are binding on the

parties including the NEOs We may repurchase common stock and exercisable options to purchase our common

stock subject to the Management Stockholders Agreement held by NEO upon the termination of that NEOs

employment with the Company if the termination occurs prior to the fifth anniversary of our IPO at various

repurchase prices that are equal to or less than the fair market value
per

share of the common stock being

repurchased In addition each NEO is generally prohibited from effecting any public sale or distribution of shares of

common stock not covered by registration statement within the period between seven days before and 180 days

after the effective date of registration statement or if later the date of the public offering pursuant to the

registration statement in connection with public offering of capital stock of the Company with
respect to shares

covered by the Management Stockholders Agreement For so long as the NEO is employed by us and for period of

one year thereafter the NEO is subject to covenants not to be engaged in or have financial interest in
any business

which competes with any business of the Company or solicit our customers or clients to terminate their relationship

with us or otherwise compete with any business of the Company or solicit or offer employment to any person who

has been employed by us at any time during the 12 months immediately preceding the termination of the NEOs

employment Also the NEO may not disclose or use at any time any confidential information pertaining to the

business of the Company except when required to perform his or her duties to the Company by law or judicial

process

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table provides information with respect to options exercised by the NEOs during 2008 and

shares of restricted stock held by the NEOs that vested during 2008

Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Shares

Number of Shares Value Realized on Acquired on Value Realized on
Name Acquired on Exercise Exercise Vesting Vesting

ci

Joseph Welch1 15277 $850012

Edward Rahill

Linda Blair

Jon Jipping

Daniel Oginsky

Amounts reported represent the deferred stock unit bonus for Mr Welch in recognition of the Companys
successful completion of the acquisition of the IPL assets Stock vesting reflects the value realized based upon

the closing price of our common stock as of February 15 2008 $55.64 the last trading date prior to the date of

grant since there was no trading in our common stock on such date Settlement of the units in shares will occur

in three equal annual installments beginning February 18 2009 in accordance with the related grant agreement
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Pension Benefits

The following table provides information with respect to each pension benefit plan that provides for payments

or other benefits at following or in connection with retirement Those plans are the International Transmission

Company Retirement Plan the Qualified Plan the MSBP and the ESRP

Pension Benefits Table

Estimated Present

Number of Years Value of

Credited Service Accumulated Benefit

Name Plan Name $2

Joseph Welch Cash Balance Component 5.83 95699

Special Annuity Credit 5.83 479011

Total Qualified Plan 574710

MSBP 37.92 $8813098

Edward Rahill Traditional Component 9.83 294633

ESRP Shift 5.83 80095

Total Qualified Plan 374728

ESRP 5.83 147941

Linda Blair Cash Balance Component 15.83 101880

ESRP Shift 5.83 20642

Total Qualified Plan 122522

ESRP 5.83 150262

Jon upping Traditional Component 17.75 251697

Total Qualified Plan 251697

ESRP 3.92 125130

Daniel Oginsky Cash Balance Component 4.17 51247

Total Qualified Plan 51247

ESRP 4.0 92960

Credited service is estimated as of December 31 2008 and represents the service reflected in the determination

of benefits For determining vesting service with DTE Energy is counted for all plans shown in the table except

for the ESRP as explained below

For the NEOs other than Messrs Welch and Oginsky the credited service for the traditional and cash balance

components of the Qualified Plan include service with DTE Energy The Company began operations on

February 282003 following its acquisition of ITCTransmission from DTE Energy As of that date the benefits

from DTE Energys qualified plan that had accrued as well as the associated assets from DIE Energys pension

trust were transferred to the Companys plan Therefore even though DIE Energy service is included in

determining the benefits under the traditional and cash balance components of the Qualified Plan the benefits

associated with this additional service do not represent benefit augmentation but rather transfer of benefit

liability and associated assets from DTE Energys qualified plan to the Qualified Plan With respect to the

ESRP credited service includes Company service only for the period during which the NEO was an ESRP

participant

Mr Welchs credited service for the Qualified Plan only includes service with the Company because he retired

under DTE Energys qualified plan concurrent with commencing employment with the Company As result

unlike the other NEOs his benefits under DTE Energys qualified plan were not transferred to the Qualified

Plan Mr Welch also retired under DIE Energys Management Supplemental Benefit Plan though with lower
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benefits than he would have earned with additional service In order to compensate Mr Welch for the value of

benefits he would have received had he remained with DTE Energy the Company agreed to establish its MSBP

such that benefits would be calculated including service with DTE Energy with the resulting amount offset by

the benefits he is receiving from DTE Energy We estimate that $3.9 million of the Estimated Present Value of

Accumulated Benefit is the value of the augmentation of benefits resulting from including Mr Welchs 32 years

of service with DTE Energy This estimate excludes the impact of Pre-IPO Related Amounts Including Pre

IPO Related Amounts in the calculation of Mr Welchs MSBP benefit resulted in an estimated benefit

augmentation of an additional $2.2 million

The Estimated Present Value of Accumulated Benefit is the estimated lump-sum equivalent value measured

as of December 31 2008 the measurement date used for financial accounting purposes of the benefit that

was earned as of that date Certain benefits are payable as an annuity only not as lump sum and/or may not be

payable for several years in the future The values reflected are based on several assumptions The date at which

the present values were estimated was December 31 30 2008 The rate at which future expected benefit

payments were discounted in calculating present values was 5.95% the same rate used for fiscal year 2008

financial accounting The future annual earnings rate on account balances under the cash balance and ESRP

shift components of the Qualified Plan and for ESRP benefits was assumed to be 4.27% for 2009 and 4.0%

thereafter

We assumed no NEOs would die or become disabled prior to retirement or terminate employment with us prior

to becoming eligible for benefits unreduced for early retirement The assumed retirement age
for each executive

was generally the earliest age at which benefits unreduced for early retirement were available under the

respective plans For the traditional component of the defined benefit plan that age
is the earlier of age 58

with 30 years of service including service with DTE Energy or age 60 with 15
years

of service For

consistency we generally use the same assumed retirement commencement age
for other benefits including

benefits expressed as an account value where the concept of benefit reductions for early retirement is not

meaningful The assumed retirement benefit commencement ages for the respective NEOs were as follows

Mr Welch Age 65 for the Special Annuity Credit 62 for all other retirement benefits

Mr Rahill Age 60

Ms Blair Age 58

Mr Jipping Age 58

Mr Oginsky Age 58

Post-retirement mortality was assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 table projected for future

mortality improvements to 2010 using Scale AA Benefits under the traditional component of the Qualified

Plan were assumed to be paid as monthly annuity payable for the lifetime of the employee Under the MSBP
benefits are payable for Mr Welchs life with minimum payment period of 15 years guaranteed For all other

benefits payment was assumed to be as single lump sum although other actuarially equivalent forms are

available

We maintain one tax-qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plan and two supplemental non

qualified noncontributory defined benefit retirement plans First we maintain the Qualified Plan which provides

funded tax-qualified benefits up to the limits on compensation and benefits under the Internal Revenue Code

Generally all of our salaried employees including the NEOs are eligible to participate

Second we maintain the MSBP in which Mr Welch is the only participant The MSBP provides additional

retirement benefits that are not tax-qualified

Third we maintain the ESRP in which Ms Blair and Messrs Rahill upping and Oginsky participate The

ESRP provides additional retirement benefits which are not tax qualified
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The following describes the Qualified Plan the MSBP and the ESRP and pension benefits provided to the

NEOs under those plans

Qualified Plan

There are two primary retirement benefit components of the Qualified Plan Each NEO earns benefits from the

Company under only one of these primary components

Because our first operating utility subsidiary was acquired from DTE Energy component of the Qualified

Plan bears relation to the DTE Energy Corporation Retirement Plan the DTE Plan Generally persons who were

participants in the traditional component of the DTE Plan as of February 28 2003 the date ITCTransmission was

acquired from DTE Energy earn benefits under the traditional component of our Qualified Plan All other

participants earn benefits under the cash balance component Mr Welch began receiving retirement benefits under

the traditional component of the DTE Plan before beginning his employment with us and is earning benefits under

the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan In addition to the traditional and cash balance components
Mr Welch earns special annuity credit described below and Mr Rahill and Ms Blair have benefits under the

ESRP shift also described below

Benefits under the Qualified Plan are funded by an irrevocable tax-exempt trust NEOs benefit under the

Qualified Plan is payable from the assets held by the tax-exempt trust

NEOs become fully vested in their normal retirement benefits described below with years of service

including service with DTE Energy or upon attainment of the plans normal retirement age of 65 If NEO
terminates employment with less than

years of service the NEO is not vested in any portion of his or her benefit

Traditional Component of Qualified Plan

Messrs Rahill and Jipping participate in the traditional component of the Qualified Plan The benefits are

determined under the following formula stated as an annual single life annuity payable in equal monthly
installments at the normal retirement age of 65 1.5% times

average final compensation times credited service

up to 30 years plus 1.4% times average final compensation times credited service in excess of 30
years Credited

Service includes service with DTE Energy Although benefits under the formula are defined in terms of single life

annuity other annuity forms e.g joint and survivor benefits are available that have the same actuarial value as the

single life annuity benefit The benefits are not payable in the form of lump sum

Average final compensation is equal to one-fifth of the NEOs salary excluding any bonuses or special pay
during the 260 consecutive weeks of credited service that results in the highest average

Benefits provided under the Qualified Plan are based on compensation up to compensation limit under the

Internal Revenue Code which was $230000 in 2008 and is indexed in future years In addition benefits provided

under the Qualified Plan may not exceed benefit limit under the Internal Revenue Code which was $185000
payable as single life annuity beginning at normal retirement

age in 2008

NEOs may retire with reduced benefit as early as age 45 after 15 years of credited service If NEO has

30
years

of credited service at retirement the benefit that would be payable at normal retirement
age is reduced for

commencement ages below 58 The percentage of the normal retirement benefit payable at sample commencement

ages is as follows

Age 58 and older 100%

Age 55 85%

Age 50 40%
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If NEO has less than 30 years
of credited service at retirement the benefit that would be payable at normal

retirement age
is reduced for commencement ages below age 60 The percentage of the normal retirement benefit

payable at sample commencement ages
is as follows

Age 60 and older 100%

Age 55 71%

Age 50 40%

If NEO terminates employment prior to earning 15 years
of credited service the annuity benefit may not

commence prior to attaining age 65 If the NEO terminates employment after earning 15 years
of Credited Service

but below age 45 the benefit may commence as early as age 45 The percentage of the normal retirement benefit

payable at sample commencement ages is as follows

Age 65 and older
100%

Age 60 58%

Age 55 36%

Age 5o 23%

Age 45 16%

Neither Mr Jipping nor Mr Rahill had attained eligibility for immediate retirement at year end 2008

Mr Jippings annual accrued benefit payable monthly as an annuity for his lifetime beginning at age 65 is

approximately $48300 and Mr Rahills is approximately $32000 Both are fully vested

Cash Balance Component of Qualified Plan

Ms Blair and Messrs Welch and Oginsky participate in the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan The

benefits are stated as notional account value

Each year NEOs account is increased by contribution credit equal to 7% of pay For this purpose pay is

equal to base salary plus bonuses and overtime up to the same compensation limit as applies under the traditional

component of the Qualified Plan $230000 in 2008 Each year NEOs account is also increased by an interest

credit based on 30-year Treasury rates

Upon termination of employment vested NEO may elect full payment of his or her account Alternate forms

of benefit e.g various forms of annuities are available as well that have the same actuarial value as the account

As of January 12008 Ms Blair and Messrs Welch and Oginsky are fully vested and are entitled to immediate

payment of their account value on termination of employment even if before normal retirement age Ms Blairs

estimated account value as of year
end 2008 is approximately $125000 Mr Welchs is approximately $98400 and

Mr Oginskys is approximately $67000

Special Annuity Credit for Welch in the Qualified Plan

In addition to his cash balance account Mr Welch earns an additional benefit in the Qualified Plan This

benefit is stated as single life annuity payable in equal monthly installments equal to $10000 times years of

credited service after February 28 2003 up to ten years of credited service i.e the maximum benefit is $100000

per year Other annuity forms are available that are actuarially equivalent to the single life annuity

Because Qualified Plan benefits are offset against the otherwise determined MSBP benefits see below the

effect of this benefit is to shift benefits from the MSBP nonqualified plan to the Qualified Plan which affords

certain tax benefits to the Company and Mr Welch As of year end 2008 Mr Welch had earned an annual special
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annuity credit payable for his lifetime in equal monthly installments totaling $58333 per year He is vested in but

not currently eligible to retire and receive this benefit

ESRP Shift Benefit in Qualified Plan

The ESRP provides notional account accruals similar to the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan The

compensation credit to the NEOs notional account analogous to the contribution credit in the cash balance

component of the Qualified Plan is equal to 9% of base salary plus actual bonus earned under the Companys

annual bonus plan The investment credit analogous to the interest credit in the cash balance component of the

Qualified Plan is similarly based on 30-year Treasury rates

The ESRP shift benefit is an amount that would otherwise be payable from the ESRP but is instead being paid

from the Qualified Plan subject to applicable qualified plan legal limits on the ability to discriminate in favor of

highly paid employees The NEOs cash balance account is increased by any amounts shifted from the ESRP As

with Mr Welchs special annuity credit the purpose of the benefit is to provide the NEOs and the Company the tax

advantages of providing benefits through qualified plan

Mr Rahill and Ms Blair have received ESRP shift additions to their Qualified Plan cash balance accounts

There was no shift of compensation credits for 2008 although previous shifts have continued to earn interest credits

As of year end 2008 ESRP shift balances were as follows

Mr RahiIl $86829

Ms Blair $25319

Management Supplemental Benefit Plan

The benefit provided by the MSBP is payable as an annuity beginning on the earliest date following

termination of employment that is permitted under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code relating to the

taxation of deferred compensation The purpose of the MSBP is to provide an overall target
level of benefits based

on all
years

of service including with DTE Energy The MSBP benefit is equal to this overall target offset by all

benefits earned under the Qualified Plan the DTE Plan and DTE Energys Management Supplemental Benefit

Plan nonqualified plan

The MSBP target before offsets expressed as an annual single life annuity with 15
years

of payments

guaranteed commencing at age 60 the MSBP normal retirement age or later is equal to 60% plus 0.5% for

each year of total service in excess of 25 years times average final compensation

Mr Welch is currently eligible to retire with an immediate benefit under the MSBP The life annuity with

15 years of guaranteed payments is the only form of benefits payable under the plan lump sum is not available

Average final compensation is equal to one-fifth of Mr Welchs compensation during the 260 weeks not

necessarily consecutive of Company service that results in the highest average Compensation is equal to salary

plus any bonuses excluding Special Bonus Amounts paid after May 17 2006 under the Special Bonus Plan Unlike

the Qualified Plan for the MSBP there is no limit on the amount of pay taken into account

For purposes of calculating average final compensation amounts paid by DTE Energy are considered in

selecting the highest 260 weeks Further each bonus payment that is considered compensation is mapped to the

single week it was paid before the highest 260 weeks are selected Therefore although compensation is averaged

over the number of weeks in years the average final compensation includes well over years
of bonuses

As of December 31 2008 if Mr Welch would have retired he would have received an MSBP benefit of

approximately $781000 after offsets payable as an annual annuity for his lifetime with minimum payment period

of 15 years guaranteed
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The MSBP is funded with Rabbi Trust which we cannot use for any purpose other than to satisfy the benefit

obligations under the MSBP except in the event of the Companys bankruptcy in which case the assets are available

to general creditors

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan

The ESRP is nonqualified retirement plan Only selected executives participate including Ms Blair and

Messrs Rahill upping and Oginsky Mr Welch does not participate The purpose of the ESRP is to promote the

success of the Company and its subsidiaries by providing the ability to attract and retain talented executives by

providing such designated executives with additional retirement benefits

The ESRP resembles the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan in that benefits are expressed as

notional account value and the vested account balance is payable as lump sum on termination of employment

although an installment option of equivalent value is also available

Each year NEOs account is increased by compensation credit equal to 9% of pay For this purpose pay

is equal to base salary plus bonuses under the Companys annual bonus plan There is no limit on compensation that

may be taken into account as in the Qualified Plan Each year NEOs account is also increased by an investment

credit equal to the same earnings rate as the interest credit in the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan

based on 30-year Treasury rates

The plan has been in effect since March 2003 Vesting occurs at 20% for each year of participation and years

of service at DTE Energy are not counted toward vesting Vesting percentages as of December 31 2008 are as

follows

Mr Rahill 100%

Ms Blair 100%

Mr Jipping 60%

Mr Oginsky 80%

As noted above in the description of the Qualified Plan portion of the ESRP account balance may be shifted

to the cash balance component of the Qualified Plan each year as permitted under the rules for qualified plans Such

shift allows the NEOs to become immediately vested in the account values shifted and confers certain tax

advantages to the NEOs and us As of December 31 2008 the ESRP account values net of the amounts shifted to

the Qualified Plan are as follows

Mr Rahill $160420

Ms Blair $213318

Mr Jipping $165423

Mr Oginsky $140609

The ESRP is funded with Rabbi Trust which we cannot use for any purpose other than to satisfy the benefit

obligations under the ESRP except in the event of the Companys bankruptcy in which case the assets are available

to general creditors The ESRP requires that the Rabbi Trust be fully funded in the event of Change in Control

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We maintain the Executive Deferred Compensation Plan under which nonqualified deferred compensation is

permissible The following table provides information with respect to the plan that allows for the deferral of
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compensation on basis that is not tax-qualified There were no Company contributions executive contributions or

withdrawals or other distributions pursuant to the plan during 2008

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table

Aggregate Earnings in Aggregate Balance at

Name Last FY Last FYE

Joseph Welch1 $156132 $339152

Edward Rahill

Linda Blair

Jon upping

Daniel Oginsky

None of this amount is reported in the Summary Compensation Table as none of it is above-market or

preferential

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan

Only selected officers of the Company including the NEOs are eligible to participate in this plan however

only Mr Welch has deferred income under this plan NEOs are allowed to defer up to 100% of their salary and

bonus Investment earnings are based on the same investment options available under the qualified Savings and

Investment Plan 40 1k plan and are selected by the individual NEOs Distributions will generally be made at the

NEOs termination of employment for any reason In November 2008 the Compensation Committee approved

amendments to the Executive Deferred Compensation Plan to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue

Code relating to taxation of deferred compensation and to update and clarify certain provisions

Employment Agreements and Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

As referenced above we have entered into employment agreements with each of the NEOs The employment

agreements are subject to automatic one-year employment term renewals each May unless either party provides the

other with 30 days advance written notice of intent not to renew the employment term Under the employment

agreements Mr Welch reports to our Board of Directors and all of the other NEOs report to Mr Welch

The employment agreements also state each NEOs current annual base salary which is subject to annual

review and increase by our Board of Directors in its discretion The employment agreements also provide that NEOs

are eligible to receive an annual cash bonus subject to our achievement of certain performance targets established

by our Board of Directors as detailed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this proxy statement

The employment agreements also provide the NEOs with the right to participate in certain welfare and pension

benefits including the right to participate in certain tax qualified and non-tax-qualified defined benefit and defined

contribution plans and retiree welfare benefit plan

In addition the NEOs employment agreements provide for payments by us of certain benefits upon

termination of employment The rights available at termination depend on the situation and circumstances

surrounding the terminating event The terms Cause and Good Reason are used in the employment agreements

of each NEO and an understanding of these terms is necessary to determine the appropriate rights for which NEO

is eligible The terms are defined as follows

Cause means NEOs continued failure substantially to perform his or her duties other than as result of

total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness for period of 10 days following written notice

by the Company to the NEO of such failure dishonesty in the performance of the NEOs duties NEOs
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conviction of or plea of nob contender to crime constituting felony misdemeanor involving moral

turpitude willful malfeasance or willful misconduct in connection with NEOs duties or any act of

omission which is injurious to the financial condition or business reputation of the Company

Good reason means greater than 10% reduction in the total value of the NEOs base salary target bonus

and employee benefits if NEOs responsibilities and authority are substantially diminished and NEOs

work location is relocated to more than fifty 50 miles from Novi Michigan or Ann Arbor Michigan

If NEOs employment with us is terminated without cause by the Company or by the NEO for good reason as

such terms are defined in the employment agreements the NEO will receive

any accrued but unpaid compensation and benefits For each of the NEOs the benefits include

Mr Welch annual Special Annuity Credit and cash balance under the Qualified Plan and annual MSBP

benefit

Mr Rahill annual benefit under the traditional component of the Qualified Plan and payment of the

ESRP shift balance and vested portion of ESRP balance

Ms Blair cash balance and ESRP shift under the Qualified Plan and vested portion of ESRP balance

Mr Jipping annual benefit under the traditional component of the Qualified Plan and vested portion of

ESRP balance and

Mr Oginsky cash balance under the Qualified Plan and vested portion of ESRP balance

pro rata portion of his or her target bonus for the current year

continued payment during specified severance period as described below of the NEOs annual rate of

base salary plus for Mr Welch only an amount equal to the average of each of the annual bonuses that were

payable to him for the three fiscal years immediately preceding the fiscal year in which his employment

terminates commencing on the earliest date that is permitted under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue

Code relating to the taxation of deferred compensation

any restrictions on stock awards will be deemed to have lapsed which result in the following values as of

December 31 2008

Mr Welch $583259

Mr Rahill $203068

Ms Blair $219579

Mr Jipping $217221

Mr Oginsky $147464

continued coverage under our active health and welfare plans for the specified severance period and

outplacement services for up to two years and

for Messrs Welch and Rahill and Ms Blair only deemed satisfaction of the eligibility requirements of the

Companys retiree welfare benefit plan for purposes of participation therein and for the other NEOs

participation in the Companys retiree welfare benefit plan only if by the end of their specified severance

period they have achieved the necessary age and service credit otherwise necessary to meet the eligibility

requirements

In addition if the Company terminates its retiree welfare benefit plan and by application of the provisions

described in the prior sentence the NEO would otherwise be entitled to retiree welfare benefits the Company will

establish other coverage for the NEO or the NEO will receive cash payment equal to the Companys cost of
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providing such benefits in order to assist the NEO in obtaining other retiree welfare benefits The specified

severance period referenced above is one year
for Mr Oginsky and two years for all other NEOs

In addition while employed by us and for period of two years after any termination of employment without

cause by the Company other than due to their disability or for good reason by them and for period of one year

following any other termination of their employment the NEOs will be subject to certain covenants not to compete

with or assist other entities in competing with our business and not to encourage our employees to terminate their

employment with us At all times while employed and thereafter the NEOs will also be subject to covenant not to

disclose confidential information

In the event of change in control with or without termination of employment

All of the NEOs unvested options will vest and become immediately exercisable in accordance with their

terms resulting in the following values as of December 31 2008

Mr.Welch $2965110

Mr Rahill 538844

Ms Blair 508637

Mr Jipping 284194

Mr Oginsky 397909

Any restrictions on stock awards will be deemed to have lapsed see above for values and

All ESRP balances become fully vested see the Pension Benefits Table

As part of Mr Welchs agreement we would pay all excise taxes and additional income taxes due in order to

provide the same benefit he would receive if no excise tax were due If Mr Welchs employment had been

terminated due to change in control on December 31 2008 we estimate that there would have been no excise tax

due and consequently no additional tax reimbursement

Upon death or disability NEO receives pro rata portion of his or her current year target bonus full and

immediate vesting of any unvested stock options and all restrictions are assumed lapsed All balances under the cash

balance and ESRP shift components of the Qualified Plan and the ESRP balance vested portion only for

disability are immediately payable If the NEO has 10 years of service after age 45 then the NEO and his or her

spouse is eligible for retiree medical benefits

Upon death under the traditional and for Mr Welch only the special annuity credit components of the

Qualified Plan the surviving spouse receives an annuity for life equal to 50% of the NEOs benefit that would have

been receivable as 50% joint and survivor annuity one of the optional forms of payment under the Qualified Plan

For Mr Welch only the death benefit under the MSBP payable to his beneficiary or his estate is 15 years of

payments of his accrued benefit

The benefits to be provided to the NEOs under various termination scenarios are detailed in the table below

The table assumes that the termination has occurred on December 31 2008 and assumes stock price of

$43.68 per share The amounts in the table include vested retirement benefits that have accrued to the NEO

regardless of termination on that date as well as incremental benefits that would become payable because of

termination on that date
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Termination Scenarios Value of Potential Payments

Total Value of Severance Benefits and Unvested Equity

Awards

Involuntary Change In Control

Not-for-Cause or and Involuntary

Voluntary Involuntary For Voluntary Good Not-for-Cause Death

Name Resignation Cause Reason pre-tax Disability Pre-retirement

Joseph Welch $9548991 $9548991 $13311629 $16859998 $14016110 $12629749

Edward Rahill 522670 522670 1623915 2365827 1544582 1382533

Linda I-I Blair 272784 272784 1863203 2.591419 1345000 1345000

Jon Jipping 376827 376827 1458686 2010153 1272294 1124101

Daniel Oginsky 144207 144207 879787 1443751 936171 936171

Director Compensation

The following table provides information concerning the compensation of directors during 2008

Director Compensation Table

Fees Earned or Paid Stock Awards

Name in Cash $1 23 Total

Edward Jepsen $71000 $42485 $113485

Richard McLellan $49000 7639 56639

William Museler $59500 $25966 85466

Hazel OLeary $50500 $25966 76466

Bennett Stewart $68500 $40970 $109470

Lee Stewart $85500 $42725 $128225

Includes annual Board retainer committee chairmanship retainer and Board/committee meeting fees earned in

fiscal year 2008 as well as lead director fee for Mr Lee Stewart only

Aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FAS 23R awards are recorded at fair value at the

date of grant Amounts shown in the table are amounts that have been amortized in our 2008 financial

statements in connection with the restricted stock awards held by these directors disregarding forfeiture

assumptions Restricted stock awards are grant date values amortized over the requisite vesting period of three

years

The values for each director who is shown on the table reflect 2008 award with grant date fair value for

accounting purposes of $55000 equivalent to 967 shares at $56.88 per share as well as awards made in prior

years that continue to be expensed under FAS 123R The aggregate number of unvested stock awards

outstanding as of December 31 2008 for each director is as follows Mr Jepsen 3615 shares Mr McLellan

967 shares Mr Museler 2251 shares Ms OLeary 2251 shares Mr Bennett Stewart 3615 shares and

Mr Lee Stewart 3615 shares

In 2008 we paid our non-employee directors an annual cash retainer of $25000 an annual equity retainer of

restricted stock with value at the time of grant of $55000 under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan $1500

per Board of Directors meeting and $1500 per committee meeting In addition we paid $7000 annually to the

chair of the Audit and Finance Committee $4500 annually to the chairs of the other Board committees and $20000

annually to our lead director In November 2008 the Board adopted revised director compensation policy

effective January 2009 Pursuant to the new policy we will pay our non-employee directors an annual cash

retainer of $75000 and an annual equity retainer of restricted stock with total value of $75000 under the 2003

Stock Purchase and Option Plan In addition we will pay $10000 annually to the chair of the Audit and Finance
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Committee $5000 annually to the chairs of the other Board committees and $20000 annually to our lead director

There are no per-meeting fees under the new policy Directors were and will continue to be reimbursed for their out-

of-pocket expenses
in an accountable expense plan Directors who are employees of the Company do not receive

separate compensation for their services as director All non-employee directors are compensated under the same

arrangement

Through 2008 restricted stock award agreements with the directors provide that the restricted stock fully vests

upon the earlier of the three year anniversary of the grant date ii the date the grantee ceases to be member of

the Board for any reason other than due to removal for cause or iii change of ownership as such term is

defined in the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan Pursuant to the new policy the restricted stock grants will be

made on quarterly basis and the restricted stock will fully vest upon the earlier of March 31 of the third year

following the grant date ii the date the grantee ceases to be member of the Board for any reason other than due to

removal for cause or iii change of ownership as such term is defined in the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option

Plan If the grantee is removed from the Board for cause prior to the restricted stock becoming fully vested the

grantee forfeits the restricted stock These restricted stock award agreements also provide that the restricted stock

issued to the grantee may not be transferred by the grantee in any manner prior to vesting Grantees otherwise have

all rights of holders of our common stock including voting rights and the right to receive dividends

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to its charter the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is charged with monitoring and

reviewing issues involving independence and potential conflicts of interest with respect to our directors and

executive officers In addition our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics generally forbids conflicts of interest

With the approval of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee Clayton Welch Jennifer Horn

Jessica Welch and Katie Welch each of whom is son daughter or daughter-in-law of Joseph Welch the

Companys chief executive officer were employed by us as Engineer Fleet Manager Manager of Warehouse and

Logistics and Intermediate Accountant respectively during 2008 and continue to be employed by us These

individuals are employed on an at will basis and compensated on the same basis as our other employees of similar

function seniority and responsibility without regard to their relationship with Mr Welch These four individuals

none of whom resides with or is supported financially by Mr Welch received aggregate salary bonus and taxable

perquisites for services rendered in the above capacities totaling $274325 during 2008

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte has acted as our independent registered public accounting firm to audit the financial statements of the

Company and its consolidated subsidiaries since the Companys inception in 2003 and acted as such in 2008 The

Audit and Finance Committee has appointed Deloitte to act as the independent registered public accountants to

audit our 2009 consolidated financial statements As matter of good corporate practice we are asking our

shareholders to ratify the appointment of Deloitte as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2009

The affirmative vote of the holders of majority of the shares of our common stock voting in person or by proxy is

required to ratify the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm Abstentions and broker

non-votes will be disregarded for purposes
of determining the number of votes counted toward this vote If the

shareholders fail to ratify the appointment of Deloitte the Audit and Finance Committee would reconsider its

appointment Even if the appointment is ratified the Audit and Finance Committee in its discretion may direct the

appointment of different independent accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit and Finance

Committee determines that such change would be in our shareholders best interests

Representatives of Deloitte are expected to be present at the 2009 Annual Meeting and to be available to

respond to appropriate questions The representatives will also be provided an opportunity to make statement if

they so desire
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The following table provides summary of the aggregate fees incurred for Deloittes services in 2008 and

2007

2008 2007

Audit fees1
$2113015 $1507607

Audit-related fees2
211976 125005

Tax fees3
274799 539731

All other fees4
22603 25476

Total fees
$2622393 $2426919

Audit fees were for professional services rendered for the audit of our consolidated financial statements and

internal controls and reviews of the interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports and

services that are normally provided by Deloitte in connection with statutory
and regulatory filing engagements

The fees also include amounts for the services provided in connection with our 2008 securities offerings

Audit-related fees were for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the

audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under Audit Fees These services

include agreed-upon procedures
and the audit of our employee benefit plans

Tax fees were professional
services for federal and state tax compliance tax advice and tax planning

All other fees were for services other than the services reported above In 2008 and 2007 these services

included business acquisition
and benefit plan consulting In 2006 Deloitte discontinued providing personal

income tax preparation and financial planning
for executives consistent with independence requirements

2007

fees include final amount for these services

The Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors does not consider the provision of the services

described above by Deloitte to be incompatible with the maintenance of Deloittes independence

The Audit and Finance Committee has adopted pre-approval policy for all audit and non-audit services

pursuant to which it pre-approves all audit and non-audit services provided by the independent registered public

accounting firm prior to the engagement with respect to such services To the extent that we need an engagement for

audit andIor non-audit services between Audit and Finance Committee meetings the Audit and Finance Committee

chairman is authorized by the Audit and Finance Committee to approve
the required engagement on its behalf

The Audit and Finance Committee approved all of the services performed by Deloitte in 2008

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AVOTE FOR RATIFYING THE APPOINTMENT OF

DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP AS THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO AUDIT THE COMPANYS 2009 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SECTION 16a BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act requires our

directors executive officers and ten percent owners to file reports
of holdings and transactions in our stock with the

SEC Based solely upon review of Forms 34 and and amendments thereto and written representations
furnished

to us our officers directors and ten percent owners timely filed all required reports since the beginning of 2008

pursuant to Section 16a of the Exchange Act

By Order of the Board of Directors

Wendy McIntyre

Secretary

Novi Michigan

April 13 2009
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE

SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

This report contains certain statements that describe our managements beliefs

concerning future business conditions and prospects growth opportunities and

the outlook for our business and the electric transmission industry based upon

information currently available Such statements are forward-looking

statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995 Wherever possible we have identified these forward-looking statements

by words such as anticipates believes intends estimates expects

projects and similar phrases These forward-looking statements are based

upon assumptions our management believes are reasonable Such forward-

looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause our

actual results performance and achievements to differ materially from those

expressed in or implied by these statements including among other things the

risks and uncertainties disclosed in our annual reports on Form 10-K and our

quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission from time to time

Because our forward-looking statements are based on estimates and

assumptions that are subject to significant business economic and competitive

uncertainties many of which are beyond our control or are subject to change

actual results could be materially different and any or all of our forward-looking

statements may turn out to be wrong

The statements are reflective as of the date made and can be affected by

assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties

Many factors mentioned in our discussion in this report will be important in

determining future results Consequently we cannot assure you that our

expectations or forecasts expressed in such forward-looking statements will be

achieved Actual future results may vary materially Except as required by law

we undertake no obligation to publicly update any of our forward-looking or

other statements whether as result of new information future events or

otherwise unless required by law
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DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise noted or the context requires all references in this report to

ITC Holdings Corp and its subsidiaries

ITC Great Plains are references to hG Great Plains LLC wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Grid

Development LLC

ITC Grid Development are references to ITC Grid Development LLC wholly-owned subsidiary

of ITC Holdings

Green Power Express are references to Green Power Express LF an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of ITC Holdings

ITC Holdings are references to ITC Holdings Corp and not any of its subsidiaries

ITC Midwest are references to ITC Midwest LLC wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Holdings

lTCTransmission are references to International Transmission Company wholly-owned sub

sidiary of ITC Holdings

METC are references to Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC wholly-owned subsid

iary of MTH

MTH are references to Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership the sole member of

METC and wholly owned subsidiary of ITC Holdings

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are references to ITCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest

together and

We our and us are references to ITC Holdings together with all of its subsidiaries

Other definitions

ATC are references to American Transmission Company LLC an affiliate of IPL

Consumers Energy are references to Consumers Energy Company wholly-owned subsidiary of

CMS Energy Corporation

Detroit Edison are references to The Detroit Edison Company wholly-owned subsidiary of DTE

Energy

DTE Energy are references to DTE Energy Company

FERC are references to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

FPA are references to the Federal Power Act

IPL are references to Interstate Power and Light Company an Alhiant Energy Corporation

subsidiary

ISO are references to Independent System Operators

hUB are references to the Iowa Utilities Board

kV are references to kilovolts one kilovolt equaling 1000 volts

kW are references to kilowatts one kilowatt equaling 1000 watts

MISO are references to the Midwest Independent Transmission System Operalor Inc FERC

approved RTO which oversees the operation of the bulk power transmission system for sub

stantial portion of the Midwestern United States and Manitoba Canada and of which lTCTrans

mission METC and ITC Midwest are members



MPUC are references to the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission

MW are references to megawatts one megawatt equaling 1000000 watts

NERC are references to the North American Electric Reliability Corporation

NOLs are references to net operating loss carryforwards for income taxes

RTO are references to Regional Transmission Organizations and

SPP are references to Southwest Power Pool Inc FERC-approved RIO



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Our business consists primarily of the operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries hG
Transmission METC and ITC Midwest In 2002 ITC Holdings was incorporated in the State of Michigan for

the purpose of acquiring lTCTransmission lTCTransmission was originally formed in 2001 as subsidiary

of Detroit Edison an electric utility subsidiary of DTE Energy and was acquired in 2003 by ITC Holdings

METC was originally formed in 2001 as subsidiary of Consumers Energy an electric and gas utility

subsidiary of CMS Energy Corporation and was acquired in 2006 by ITC Holdings ITC Midwest was

formed in 2007 by ITC Holdings to acquire the transmission assets of lPL in December 2007

Through our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries we are engaged in the transmission of electricity in

the United States Our business strategy is to operate maintain and invest in transmission infrastructure in

order to enhance system integrity and reliability and to reduce transmission constraints By pursuing this

strategy we strive for high reliability of our systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of

choice including renewable sources We operate high-voltage systems in Michigans Lower Peninsula and

portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois and Missouri that transmit electricity from generating stations to local

distribution facilities connected to our systems

As electric transmission utilities with rates regulated by the FERC our Regulated Operating Sub

sidiaries earn revenues through tariff rates charged for the use of their electric transmission systems by our

customers which include investor-owned utilities municipalities co-operatives power marketers and

alternative energy suppliers As independent transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries are subject to rate regulation only by the FERC The rates charged by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries are established using Attachment as discussed in Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Rate Setting and Attachment

Development of Business

We are pursuing strategic development opportunities for transmission construction related to building

super-regional 765 kV transmission facilities to facilitate interconnections for wind generation and other

renewable resources For example we are pursuing the opportunity to invest in the Green Power Express

project transmission project that will traverse portions of North Dakota South Dakota Minnesota Iowa

Wisconsin Illinois and Indiana and would ultimately include approximately 3000 miles of extra high-

voltage 765kV transmission The entire project is currently estimated to cost approximately $10 to

$12 billion Portions of the Green Power Express project fall within the service territory of ITC Midwest ITC

Holdings expects to partner with other affected utilities within the Green Power Express project regions and

would therefore only invest in portion of the total project cost In addition to the Green Power Express

project based on proposals by RTOs including MISO and the SPF we are exploring additional strategic

opportunities to upgrade the transmission grid within the MISO and SPP regions and surrounding regions

with backbone 765 kV transmission network Based on the anticipated growth of wind generation

resources we also foresee the need to construct additional transmission facilities that will provide

interconnection opportunities for those wind facilities The backbone 765 kV transmission network

transmission for wind interconnection and for interconnection of other renewable generating facilities

may provide additional investment opportunities The total investment opportunities estimated for our

investment in the Green Power Express project other backbone 765kV transmission networks wind

interconnection and other transmission for other renewable facilities are estimated to be up to $10 billion

Further we are pursuing the opportunity to invest in two projects in Kansas known as the Spearville-Knoll

Axtell transmission project the KETA Project and the Kansas V-Plan transmission project running from

Spearville substation near Dodge City to Wichita through subsidiaries of ITC Grid Development The

capital investment for these two projects is anticipated to be between approximately $500 million and

$1 billion In January 2009 we filed an application with the FERC to establish formula rate for these two



projects and other projects within the SPP region Additionally we believe we may have the opportunity to

invest approximately $1 billion to $2 billion in other Extra High Voltage Overlay projects that have been

identified by the SPP We are also exploring opportunities to invest up to approximately $1.3 billion to build

new 765 kV transmission facility across the southern portion of Michigans Lower Peninsula We cannot

predict if or when these investment opportunities will begin or their duration Refer to the discussion of

risks associated with our strategic development opportunities in Item 1A Risk Factors Our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries actual capital expenditures may be lower than planned which would decrease

expected rate base and therefore our revenues In addition we expect to pursue strategic development

opportunities to improve the efficiency and reliability of the transmission grid but we cannot assure you

that we will be able to initiate or complete any of these investments

Segments

We have one reportable segment consisting of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Additionally we

have other subsidiaries focused primarily on business development activities and holding company
whose activities include corporate debt and equity financings and general corporate activities more

detailed discussion of our reportable segment including financial information about the segment is

included in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements

Operations

As transmission-only companies our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries function as conduits allow

ing for power from generators to be transmitted to local distribution systems either entirely through their

own systems or in conjunction with neighboring transmission systems Third parties then transmit power

through these local distribution systems to end-use consumers The transmission of electricity by our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is central function to the provision of electricity to residential

commercial and industrial end-use consumers The operations performed by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries fall into the following categories

asset planning

engineering design and construction

maintenance and

real time operations

Asset Planning

Our Asset Planning group uses detailed system models and long-term load forecasts to develop our

system expansion capital plans The expansion plans identify projects that would address potential future

reliability issues and/or produce economic savings for customers by eliminating constraints

Asset Planning works closely with MISO in the development of our annual system expansion capital

plans by performing technical evaluations and detailed studies As the regional planning authority MISO

reviews regional system improvement projects by its members including our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries

Engineering Design and Construction

Our Engineering Design and Construction group is responsible for design equipment specifications

maintenance plans and project engineering for capital operation and maintenance work We work with

outside contractors to perform some of our engineering and design and all of our construction but retain

internal technical experts that have experience with respect to the key elements of the transmission

system such as substations lines equipment and protective relaying systems This internal expertise

allows us to effectively manage outside contractors



Maintenance

We develop and track the preventive maintenance plan to promote safe and reliable system By

performing preventive maintenance on our assets we can minimize the need for reactive maintenance

resulting in improved reliability Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries contract with Utility Lines Con

struction which is division of Asplundh Tree Expert Co to perform the bulk of their maintenance The

agreements provide us with access to an experienced and scalable workforce with knowledge of our

system at an established rate The agreements are scheduled to terminate on August 29 2013 and

automatically renew for additional five year terms unless terminated by either party

Real Time Operations

ITC Transmission and METC

System Operations From our operations control room facility in Novi Michigan transmission

system coordinators continuously monitor the performance of the lTCTransmission and METC transmis

sion systems using state of the art computer and communication systems to perform analysis to plan for

contingencies and maintain security and reliability following any unplanned events on the system

Transmission system coordinators are also responsible for the switching and protective tagging function

taking equipment in and out of service to ensure capital construction projects and maintenance programs

can be completed safely and reliably

Local Balancing Authority Operatoi Under the functional control of MISO lTCTransmission and

METC operate their electric transmission systems as combined Local Balancing Authority LBA area

known as the Michigan Electric Coordinated Systems MECS From the operations control room facility

in Novi Michigan our employees perform the LBA functions as outlined in MISOs Balancing Authority

Agreement These functions include actual interchange data administration and verification and MECS

LBA area emergency procedure implementation and coordination

ITC Midwest

We had entered into certain operating contracts with lPL and ATC that govern operations of the

transmission system for period of at least twelve months from the closing of the ITC Midwest acquisition

in December 2007 These contracts include the IPL Transition Services Agreement for operations

services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system and the ATC Operating Agreement for operations

services related to the 69 kV and above transmission system Transmission system operations services

include switching and protective tagging to facilitate capital construction projects and maintenance

programs system monitoring contingency and security analysis and responding to unplanned incidents

on the system In December 2008 ITC Midwest terminated the ATC Operating Agreement and currently

performs these functions in the operations control room facility in Novi Michigan

Operating Contracts

lTCTransmission

Detroit Edison operates the electric distribution system to which lTCTransmissions transmission

system connects set of three operating contracts sets forth the terms and conditions related to Detroit

Edisons and lTCTransmissions ongoing working relationship These contracts include the following

Master Operating Agreement The Master Operating Agreement the MOA dated as of

February 28 2003 governs the primary day-to-day operational responsibilities of lTCTransmission

and Detroit Edison and will remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties

subject to any required FERC approvals unless earlier terminated pursuant to its terms The MOA
identifies the control area coordination services that lTCTransmission is obligated to provide to Detroit

Edison The MOA also requires Detroit Edison to provide certain generation-based support services

to lTCTransmission



Generator Interconnection and Operation Agreement Detroit Edison and lTCTransmission

entered into the Generator Interconnection and Operation Agreement the GIOA dated as of

February 28 2003 in order to establish re-establish and maintain the direct electricity interconnec

tion of Detroit Edisons electricity generating assets with lTCTransmissions transmission system for

the purposes of transmitting electric power from and to the electricity generating facilities Unless

otherwise terminated by mutual agreement of the parties subject to any required FERC approvals

the GIOA will remain in effect until Detroit Edison elects to terminate the agreement with respect to

particular unit or until particular unit ceases commercial operation

Coordination and Interconnection Agreement The Coordination and Interconnection Agree

ment the CIA dated as of February 28 2003 governs the rights obligations and responsibilities of

lTCTransmission and Detroit Edison regarding among other things the operation and interconnec

tion of Detroit Edisons distribution system and lTCTransmissions transmission system and the

construction of new facilities or modification of existing facilities Additionally the CIA allocates costs

for operation of supervisory communications and metering equipment The CIA will remain in effect

until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties subject to any required FERC approvals

METC

Consumers Energy operates the electric distribution system to which METCs transmission system

connects METC is party to number of operating contracts with Consumers Energy that govern the

operations and maintenance of its transmission system These contracts include the following

Amended and Restated Easement Agreement Under the Amended and Restated Easement

Agreement the Easement Agreement dated as of April 29 2002 and as further supplemented

Consumers Energy provides METC with an easement to the land which we refer to as premises on

which majority of METCs transmission towers poles lines and other transmission facilities used to

transmit electricity at voltages of at least 120 kV are located which we refer to collectively as the

facilities Consumers Energy retained for itself the rights to and the value of activities associated with

all other uses of the premises and the facilities covered by the Easement Agreement such as for

distribution of electricity fiber optics telecommunications gas pipelines and agricultural uses

Accordingly METC is not permitted to use the premises or the facilities covered by the Easement

Agreement for any purposes other than to provide electric transmission and related services to

inspect maintain repair replace and remove electric transmission facilities and to alter improve

relocate and construct additional electric transmission facilities The easement is further subject to the

rights of any third parties that had rights to use or occupy the premises or the facilities prior to April

2001 in manner not inconsistent with METCs permitted uses

METC pays Consumers Energy annual rent of $10.0 million in equal quarterly installments for

the easement and related rights under the Easement Agreement Although METC and Consumers

Energy share the use of the premises and the facilities covered by the Easement Agreement METC

pays the entire amount of any rentals property taxes inspection fees and other amounts required to

be paid to third parties with respect to any use occupancy operations or other activities on the

premises or the facilities and is generally responsible for the maintenance of the premises and the

facilities used for electric transmission at its expense METC also must maintain commercial general

liability insurance protecting METC and Consumers Energy against claims for personal injury death

or property damage occurring on the premises or the facilities and pay for all insurance premiums

METC is also responsible for patrolling the premises and the facilities by air at its expense at least

annually and to notify Consumers Energy of any unauthorized uses or encroachments discovered

METC must indemnify Consumers Energy for all liabilities arising from the facilities covered by the

Easement Agreement

METC must notify Consumers Energy before altering improving relocating or constructing

additional transmission facilities covered by the Easement Agreement Consumers Energy may

respond by notifying METC of reasonable work and design restrictions and precautions that are



needed to avoid endangering existing distribution facilities pipelines or communications lines in

which case METC must comply with these restrictions and precautions METC has the right at its own

expense to require Consumers Energy to remove and relocate these facilities but Consumers Energy

may require payment in advance or the provision of reasonable security for payment by METC prior to

removing or relocating these facilities and Consumers Energy need not commence any relocation

work until an alternative right-of-way satisfactory to Consumers Energy is obtained at METCs

expense

The term of the Easement Agreement runs through December 31 2050 and is subject to 10

automatic 50-year renewals after that time unless METC provides one years notice of its election not

to renew the term Consumers Energy may terminate the Easement Agreement 30 days after giving

notice of failure by METC to pay its quarterly installment if METC does not cure the non-payment

within the 30-day notice period At the end of the term or upon any earlier termination of the Easement

Agreement the easement and related rights terminate and the transmission facilities revert to

Consumers Energy

Amended and Restated Operating Agreement Under the Amended and Restated Operating

Agreement the Operating Agreement dated as of April 29 2002 METC agrees to operate its

transmission system to provide all transmission customers with safe efficient reliable and non

discriminatory transmission service pursuant to its tariff Among other things METC is responsible

under the Operating Agreement for maintaining and operating its transmission system providing

Consumers Energy with information and access to its transmission system and related books and

records administering and performing the duties of control area operator that is the entity exercising

operational control over the transmission system and if requested by Consumers Energy building

connection facilities necessary to permit interaction with new distribution facilities built by Consumers

Energy Consumers Energy has corresponding obligations to provide METC with access to its books

and records and to build distribution facilities necessary to provide adequate and reliable transmission

services to wholesale customers Consumers Energy must cooperate with METC as METC performs

its duties as control area operator including by providing reactive supply and voltage control from

generation sources or other ancillary services and reducing load The Operating Agreement is

effective through 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals after that time unless METC

provides one years notice of its election not to renew

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillaiy Services The Amended

and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary Services the Ancillary Services Agree

ment is dated as of April 29 2002 Since METC does not own any generating facilities it must

procure ancillary services from third party suppliers such as Consumers Energy Currently under the

Ancillary Services Agreement METC pays Consumers Energy for providing certain generation-

based services necessary to support the reliable operation of the bulk power grid such as voltage

support and generation capability and capacity to balance loads and generation METC is not

precluded from procuring these ancillary services from third party suppliers when available The

Ancillary Services Agreement is subject to rolling one-year renewals starting May 2003 unless

terminated by either METC or Consumers Energy with six months prior written notice

Amended and Restated Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement The Amended

and Restated Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement the DT Interconnection Agree

ment dated April 29 2002 provides for the interconnection of Consumers Energys distribution

system with METCs transmission system and defines the continuing rights responsibilities and

obligations of the parties with respect to the use of certain of their own and the other partys properties

assets and facilities METC agrees to provide Consumers Energy interconnection service at

agreed-upon interconnection points and the parties have mutual responsibility for maintaining

voltage and compensating for reactive power losses resulting from their respective services The

DT Interconnection Agreement is effective so long as any interconnection point is connected to

METC unless it is terminated earlier by mutual agreement of METC and Consumers Energy



Amended and Restated Generator Interconnection Agreement The Amended and Restated

Generator Interconnection Agreement the Generator Interconnection Agreement dated as of

April 29 2002 specifies the terms and conditions under which Consumers Energy and METC
maintain the interconnection of Consumers Energys generation resources and METCs transmission

assets The Generator Interconnection Agreement is effective either until it is replaced by any MISO

required contract or until mutually agreed by METC and Consumers Energy to terminate but not later

than the date that all listed generators cease commercial operation

ITC Midwest

IPL operates the electric distribution system to which ITC Midwests transmission system connects

ITC Midwest is party to number of operating contracts with IPL that govern the operations and

maintenance of its transmission system These contracts include the following

Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement The Distribution-Transmission Inter

connection Agreement the DTIA dated as of December 17 2007 governs the rights responsi

bilities and obligations of ITC Midwest and IPL with respect to the use of certain of their own and the

other parties property assets and facilities and the construction of new facilities or modification of

existing facilities Additionally the DTIA sets forth the terms pursuant to which the equipment and

facilities and the interconnection equipment of IPL will continue to connect ITC Midwests facilities

through which ITC Midwest provides transmission service under the MISO Transmission and Energy

Markets Tariff The DTIA will remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement by the parties

subject to any required FERC approvals or as long as any interconnection point of IPL is connected

to ITC Midwests facilities unless modified by written agreement of the parties

Large Generator Interconnection Agreement ITC Midwest IPL and MISO entered into the

Large Generator Interconnection Agreement the LGIA dated as of December20 2007 in order to

establish re-establish and maintain the direct electricity interconnection of IPLs electricity gener

ating assets with ITC Midwests transmission system for the purposes of transmitting electric power
from and to the electricity generating facilities The LGIA will remain in effect until terminated by ITC

Midwest or until IPL elects to terminate the agreement if particular unit ceases commercial

operation for three consecutive years

Transition Services Agreement The Transition Services Agreement the TSA dated as of

December 20 2007 identifies the transmission corporate administration services the construction

and maintenance services the engineering services and the system operations services related to

the 34.5 kV transmission system that IPL agreed to provide to ITC Midwest The TSA also requires

IPL to provide the transition design planning and implementation relating to those services In

addition to the system operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system IPL will

provide limited number of corporate administration services and construction and maintenance

services to ITC Midwest The initial term of the TSA expired and ITC Midwest exercised the first of its

four options to extend the agreement an additional six months The first extension will terminate

June 30 2009 however ITC Midwest has given notice to IPL that it will require the system

operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system and its associated detailed billing

service to be extended through December31 2009 The agreement can also be terminated by mutual

agreement of the parties Subsequent to the termination of the TSA ITC Midwest expects to perform

the activities covered under the TSA

Operating Agreement The Operating Agreement dated as of December 17 2007 between

ITC Midwest and ATC obligated ATC to provide control operation and emergency response services

as well as providing assistance in the transition of those services to ITC Midwest The services

contemplated by this agreement were only for ITC Midwests transmission facilities operating at 69 kV

and above The Operating Agreement was terminated in December 2008 in accordance with its

terms at which time ITC Midwest began performing the activities covered under the Operating

Agreement



Regulatory Environment

Regulators and public policy makers have seen the need for further investment in the transmission

grid The growth in electricity generation wholesale power sales and consumption combined with

historically inadequate transmission investment have resulted in significant transmission constraints

across the United States and increased stress on aging equipment These problems will continue without

increased investment in transmission infrastructure Transmission system investments can also increase

system reliability and reduce the frequency of power outages Such investments can reduce transmission

constraints and improve access to lower cost generation resources resulting in lower overall cost of

delivered electricity for end-use consumers After the 2003 blackout that affected sections of the North

eastern and Midwestern United States and Ontario Canada the Department of Energy the DOE
established the Office of Electric Transmission and Distribution focused on working with reliability experts

from the power industry state governments and their Canadian counterparts to improve grid reliability and

increase investment in the countrys electric infrastructure In addition the FERC has signaled its desire for

substantial new investment in the transmission sector by implementing financial incentives such as

increasing the return on equity for transmission-only companies to level that is greater than that of

traditional utilities

The FERC has issued orders to promote non-discriminatory transmission access for all transmission

customers In the United States electric transmission assets are predominantly owned operated and

maintained by utilities that also own electricity generation and distribution assets known as vertically

integrated utilities The FERC has recognized that the vertically integrated utility model inhibits the

provision of non-discriminatory transmission access and in order to alleviate this potential discrimination

the FERC has mandated that all transmission systems over which it has jurisdiction must be operated in

comparable non-discriminatory manner such that any seller of electricity affiliated with transmission

owner or operator is not provided with preferential treatment The FERC has also indicated that inde

pendent transmission companies can play prominent role in furthering its policy goals and has

encouraged the legal and functional separation of transmission operations from generation and distri

bution operations

On August 2005 the Energy Policy Act was enacted which requires the FERC to implement

mandatory electric transmission reliability standards to be enforced by an Electric Reliability Organization

Effective June 2007 the FERC approved mandatory adoption of certain reliability standards and approved

enforcement actions for violators including fines of up to $1.0 million per day The NERC was assigned the

responsibility of developing and enforcing these mandatory reliability standards We continually assess

our transmission systems against these reliability standards established by the NERC as well as

ReliabilityFirst Corporation for lTCTransmission and METC and Midwest Reliability Organization for

ITC Midwest which are regional entities under the NERC that have been delegated certain authority for

the purpose of proposing and enforcing reliability standards In addition the FERC has finalized rules

under which our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries may qualify for rate incentives to invest in transmission

infrastructure Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries may also be eligible for federal assistance in the

siting of such infrastructure Finally the Energy Policy Act repealed the Public Utility Holding Company Act

of 1935 which was replaced by the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 It also subjected utility

holding companies to regulations of the FERC related to access to books and records and amended

Section 203 of the FPA to provide explicit authority for the FERC to review mergers and consolidations

involving utility holding companies in certain circumstances

Federal Regulation

As electric transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are regulated by the

FERC The FERC is an independent regulatory commission within the DOE that regulates the interstate

transmission and certain wholesale sales of natural gas the transmission of oil and oil products by

pipeline and the transmission and wholesale sale of electricity in interstate commerce The FERC also

administers accounting and financial reporting regulations and standards of conduct for the companies it

regulates In 1996 in order to facilitate open access transmission for participants in wholesale power
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markets the FERC issued Order No 888 The open access policy promulgated by the FERC in Order

No 888 was upheld in United States Supreme Court decision State of New York vs FERC issued on

March 2002 To facilitate open access among other things FERC Order No 888 encouraged investor

owned utilities to cede operational control over their transmission systems to ISOs which are not-for-profit

entities

As an alternative to ceding operating control of their transmission assets to ISOs certain investor-

owned utilities began to promote the formation of for-profit transmission companies which would assume

control of the operation of the grid In December 1999 the FERC issued Order No 2000 which strongly

encouraged utilities to voluntarily transfer operational control of their transmission systems to RTOs

RTOs as envisioned in Order No 2000 would assume many of the functions of an ISO but the FERC

permitted greater flexibility with regard to the organization and structure of RTOs than it had for ISOs

RTOs could accommodate the inclusion of independently owned for-profit companies that own trans

mission assets within their operating structure Independent ownership would facilitate not only the

independent operation of the transmission systems but also the formation of companies with greater

financial interest in maintaining and augmenting the capacity and reliability of those systems

MISO was formed in 1996 as voluntary association of electric transmission owners consistent with

the principles in FERC Order No 888 Later in response to FERC Order No 2000 MISO evolved into

FERC-approved RTO with an open architecture framework capable of accommodating variety of

business models including independently owned for-profit transmission companies MISO in its role

as an RTO monitors electric reliability throughout much of the Midwest MISO is responsible for coor

dinating the operation of the wholesale electric transmission system and ensuring fair non-discriminatory

access to the transmission grid

State Regulation

The regulatory agencies in the states where our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets are located

do not have jurisdiction over rates or terms and conditions of service However they do have jurisdiction

over siting of transmission facilities and related matters as described below Additionally we are subject to

the regulatory oversight of various state environmental quality departments for compliance with any state

environmental standards and regulations

ITCTransmission and METC

Michigan

The Michigan Public Service Commission has jurisdiction over the siting of transmission facilities

Additionally pursuant to Michigan Public Acts 197 and 198 of 2004 ITCTransmission and METC have the

right as independent transmission companies to condemn property in the state of Michigan for the

purposes of building or maintaining transmission facilities

lTCTransmission and METC are also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Michigan Department

of Environmental Quality the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and certain local authorities for

compliance with all environmental standards and regulations

ITC Midwest

Iowa

ITC Midwest is not public utility subject to the IUBs statutory jurisdiction to regulate public utilitys

rates and services pursuant to Iowa Code ch 476 Iowa Code ch 478 however provides that the IUB has

the power of supervision over the construction operation and maintenance of transmission facilities in

Iowa by any entity which includes the power to issue franchises Iowa Code ch 478 further provides that

any entity granted franchise by the UB is vested with the power of condemnation in Iowa to the extent the

IUB approves and deems necessary for public use
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ITC Midwest also is subject to the regulatory oversight of the Iowa Department of Natural Resources

and certain local authorities for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations

Minnesota

The MPUC does not have jurisdiction to regulate ITC Midwests rates or terms and conditions of

service However the MPUC has jurisdiction over the siting and routing of new transmission lines through

Minnesotas Certificate of Need Process Transmission companies are also required to participate in the

States Biennial Transmission Planning Process and are subject to the states preventative maintenance

requirements Pursuant to Minnesota law ITC Midwest has the right as an independent transmission

company to condemn property in the State of Minnesota for the purpose of building new transmission

facilities

ITC Midwest is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency the

Minnesota Department of Natural Resources the MPUC in conjunction with the Department of Com

merce and certain local authorities for compliance with applicable environmental standards and

regulations

Illinois

The Illinois Commerce Commission ICCdoes not have jurisdiction to regulate ITC Midwests rates

or terms and conditions of service but the ICC does exercise jurisdiction over siting of new transmission

lines

ITC Midwest also is subject to the regulatory oversight of the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency

the Illinois Department of Natural Resources the Illinois Pollution Control Board and certain local

authorities for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations

Missouri

The Missouri Public Service Commission the MOPSC does not have jurisdiction to regulate the

Companys rates terms or conditions of service However because ITC Midwest is public utility and an

electrical corporation under Missouri law the MOPSC has jurisdiction to determine whether ITC Midwest

may operate in such capacity In this regard on August 30 2007 the MOPSC granted ITC Midwest

certificate of public convenience and necessity to own operate and maintain 161 kV transmission line of

approximately 9.5 miles located in Clark County Missouri which connects the former IPLs transmission

substation in Keokuk Iowa with Ameren Energy Generating Companys transmission substation near

Wayland Missouri The MOPSC also exercises jurisdiction with regard to other non-rate matters affecting

this Missouri asset such as transmission substation construction general safety and the transfer of the

franchise or property

hG Midwest is also subject to the regulatory oversight of the Missouri Department of Natural

Resources for compliance with all environmental standards and regulations relating to this transmission

line

Sources of Revenue

See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper

ations Results of Operations Operating Revenues for discussion of our principal sources of

revenue

Seasonahhty

Prior to the implementation of forward-looking Attachment effective January 2007 for ITC

Transmission and METC the revenues recognized by these subsidiaries were dependent on monthly peak

loads Revenues and net income varied between periods based on monthly peak loads among other

factors To the extent that actual conditions during an annual period varied from the data on which the
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Attachment rate was based our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries earned more or less revenue during

that annual period and therefore recovered more or less than their respective net revenue requirements

The calculation of net revenue requirement is described in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Rate Setting and Attachment Net Revenue

Requirement Calculation

Under forward-looking Attachment as discussed in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Rate Setting and Attachment Forward-Looking

Attachment monthly peak loads continue to be used for billing network revenues and continue to affect

operating cash flows However our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue or defer revenues to the

extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher or lower respectively

than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period This results in more consistent net income for each

quarterly period within given year compared to the historical Attachment method that previously

applied to lTCTransmission and METC

Principal Customers

Our principal transmission service customers are Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL which

accounted for approximately 41.6% 25.6% and 19.8% respectively of our total operating revenues for the

year ended December 31 2008 One or more of these customers together have consistently represented

significant percentage of our operating revenue These percentages of total operating revenues of

Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL include an estimate for the 2008 Attachment revenue

accruals that were included in our 2008 operating revenues but will not be billed to our customers until

2010 We have assumed that the Attachment revenues billed to these customers in 2010 would be in the

same proportion of the respective percentages of network revenues billed to them in 2008 Our remaining

revenues were generated from providing service to other entities such as alternative electricity suppliers

power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide electricity to end-use consumers and from

transaction-based capacity reservations Nearly all of our revenues are from transmission customers in the

United States Although we may have allocated revenues from time to time from Canadian entities

reserving transmission over the Ontario or Manitoba interface these revenues have not been and are not

expected to be material to us

Billing

MISO is responsible for billing and collection for transmission services and administers the trans

mission tariff in the MISO service territory As the billing agent for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

MISO bills Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly basis and collects

fees for the use of our transmission systems MISO has implemented strict credit policies for its members

which include customers using our transmission systems In general if these customers do not maintain

their investment grade credit rating or have history of late payments MISO may require them to provide

MISO with letter of credit or cash deposit equal to the highest monthly invoiced amount over the

previous 12 months

Competition

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is the only transmission system in its respective service

area and therefore effectively has no competitors For our subsidiaries focused on development oppor

tunities for capital projects in other service areas the incumbent utilities or other entities with transmission

development initiatives may compete with us by deciding to pursue capital projects that we are pursuing

Because our subsidiaries are the only transmission companies that are independent from electricity

market participants we believe we are best able to develop these projects in non-discriminatory manner

However there are no assurances we will be selected to develop projects that other entities are also

pursuing None of our existing operating revenues relate to these development initiatives and our

development expenses are recorded to operating expenses unless and until the FERC allows us recovery

of such expenses and they are probable of recovery
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Employees

As of December31 2008 we had 392 employees We consider our relations with our employees to be

good

The certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC rules have been filed as exhibits to this report The unqualified certification

of the Chief Executive Officer as to compliance with New York Stock Exchange NYSE corporate

governance requirements was filed with the NYSE on June 19 2008

Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to federal state and local environmental laws and regulations which

impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment establish standards for the

management treatment storage transportation and disposal of hazardous materials and of solid and

hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and remediate contamination in certain circum

stances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as well as other liabilities concerning

hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury or property damage may arise

at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and sites where wastes have been

treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated by us Such liabilities may arise

even where the contamination does not result from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws

Under number of environmental laws such liabilities may also be joint and several meaning that party

can be held responsible for more than its share of the liability involved or even the entire share

Environmental requirements generally have become more stringent and compliance with those require

ments more expensive We are not aware of any specific developments that would increase our costs for

such compliance in manner that would be expected to have material adverse effect on our results of

operations financial position or liquidity

Our assets and operations also involve the use of materials classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise

dangerous Many of the properties our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries own or operate have been used

for many years and include older facilities and equipment that may be more likely than newer ones to

contain or be made from such materials Some of these properties include aboveground or underground

storage tanks and associated piping Some of them also include large electrical equipment filled with

mineral oil which may contain or previously have contained polychlorinated biphenyls commonly known

as PCBs Our facilities and equipment are often situated close to or on property owned by others so that if

they are the source of contamination the property of others may be affected For example aboveground

and underground transmission lines sometimes traverse properties that we do not own and at some of

our transmission stations transmission assets owned or operated by us and distribution assets owned

or operated by our transmission customers are commingled

Some properties in which we have an ownership interest or at which we operate are and others are

suspected of being affected by environmental contamination We are not aware of any claims pending or

threatened against us with respect to environmental contamination or of any investigation or remediation

of contamination at any properties that entail costs likely to materially affect us Some facilities and

properties are located near environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands

Claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or other

damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmission and

distribution lines While we do not believe that causal link between electromagnetic field exposure and

injury has been generally established and accepted in the scientific community if such relationship is

established or accepted the liabilities and costs imposed on our business could be significant We are not

aware of any claims pending or threatened against us for bodily injury disease or other damages allegedly

related to exposure to electromagnetic fields and electric transmission and distribution lines that entail

costs likely to have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial position or liquidity
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Filings Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Our internet address is www.itc-holdings.com You can access free of charge on our web site all of our

reports filed pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act including our annual reports on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 1O-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those

reports These reports are available as soon as practicable after they are electronically filed with the SEC
Also on our web site are our

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and

Committee Charters for the Audit and Finance Committee Compensation Committee and Nom
inating/Corporate Governance Committee

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to all directors officers and employees including

our Chairman President Chief Executive Officer and Treasurer and our Senior Vice President Finance

and Chief Financial Officer We will post any amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

and any waivers that are required to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the NYSE on our web

site within the required periods The information on our web site is not incorporated by reference into this

report

We will also provide this information in print to any shareholder who requests it

To learn more about us please visit our web site at www.itc-holdings.com We use our website as

channel of distribution of material company information Financial and other material information regarding

us is routinely posted on our web site and is readily accessible

You may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at

100 Street NE Washington DC 20549 You may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains an internet site that

contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file

electronically with the SEC The address is httpllwww.sec.gov

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

Certain elements of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries cost recovery through rates can

be challenged which could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts previously col

lected and thus have an adverse effect on our business financial condition results of opera
tions and cash flows We have also made certain commitments to federal and state

regulators with respect to among other things our rates in connection with recent acquisi
tions including ITC Midwests asset acquisition that could have an adverse effect on our

business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries provide transmission service under rates regulated by the

FERC The FERC has approved our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries use of the rate setting formula

under Attachment but it has not expressly approved the amount of actual capital and operating

expenditures to be used in that formula In addition all aspects of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

rates approved by the FERC including the Attachment rate mechanism lTCTransmissions METCs
and ITC Midwests respective allowed 13.88% 13.38% and 12.38% rates of return on the actual equity

portion of their respective capital structures and the data inputs provided by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries for calculation of each years rate are subject to challenge by interested parties at the FERC
in proceeding under Section 206 of the FPA If challenger can establish that any of these aspects are

unjust unreasonable unduly discriminatory or preferential then the FERC will make appropriate pro

spective adjustments to them and/or disallow any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries inclusion of
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those aspects in the rate setting formula This could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts

collected after the date that Section 206 challenge is filed

On November 18 2008 lPL filed complaint against ITC Midwest before the FERC under

Section 206 of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleges that the operations and maintenance

expenses and administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appear

excessive the true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through

December 31 2008 will cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the

methodology of allocating administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating compa

nies was changed resulting in such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest The complaint

states that it does not challenge ITC Midwests Attachment formula or its planned capital investments

ITC Midwests network rate is based on its forward-looking Attachment rate formula as approved by

FERC which incorporates ITC Midwests projected net revenue requirement and load Among other

things IPLs complaint seeks investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission

service charges reflected in its 2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness

of the 2009 rate with the ultimate goal of reducing such rate The resolution of this proceeding and its

ultimate impact on ITC Midwests network rate and transmission revenues cannot be determined at this

time Various other parties including Detroit Edison and Consumers Energy have filed with the FERC as

interveners in the matter such that the outcome of the case could also have an impact on the rates of

lTCTransmission and METC If the FERC issues decision in this matter which inhibits our ability to

recover costs and expenses through our rates or is otherwise adverse to our interests then our results of

operations financial condition and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected

The FERCs order approving our acquisition of METC was conditioned upon llCTransmission and

METC not recovering merger-related costs in their rates as described in the order unless separate

informational filing is submitted to the FERC The informational filing which could be challenged by

interested parties would need to identify those costs and show that such costs are outweighed by the

benefits of the acquisition Determinations by lTCTransmission or METC that expenses included in

Attachment for recovery are not acquisition related costs are also subject to challenge by interested

parties at the FERC If challenged at the FERC and ITCTransmission or METC fail to show that costs

included for recovery are not merger-related this also could result in lowered rates and/or refunds of

amounts collected

Under the FERCs order approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITC Midwest has agreed to hold

harmless commitment in which no acquisition premium will be recovered in rates nor will ITC Midwest

recover through transmission rates any transaction-related costs that exceed demonstrated transaction-

related savings for period of five years If during the five year period ITC Midwest seeks to recover

transaction-related costs through Attachment ITC Midwest must make an informational filing at the

FERC that identifies the transaction-related costs sought to be recoveredand demonstrates that those

costs are exceeded by transaction-related savings If challenged at the FERC and ITC Midwest fails to

show that transaction-related costs included for recovery do not exceed transaction-related savings ITC

Midwest could be subject to lowered rates and/or refunds of amounts previously collected Additionally in

Iowa and Minnesota as part of the regulatory approval process ITC Midwest committed not to recover the

first $15.0 million in transaction-related costs under any circumstances

In the Minnesota regulatory proceeding ITC Midwest also agreed to build two construction projects

intended to improve the reliability and efficiency of our electric transmission system ITC Midwest agreed to

use commercially reasonable efforts to complete these projects prior to December 2009 and 2011

respectively In the event ITC Midwest fails to meet these commitments the allowed 12.38% rate of return

on the actual equity portion of ITC Midwests capital structure will be reduced to 10.39% under Attachment

until such time as it completes these projects Any of the events described above could have an adverse

effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows
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Approval of ITC Midwests asset acquisition by state regulatory authorities in Iowa may be

subject to further challenge If such proceedings are decided in manner that is unfavorable

to us all or part of the orders approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition in Iowa could be

reversed which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

In September 2007 the IUB issued an order declining to disapprove ITC Midwests asset acquisition

and terminating the review docket and ITC Midwests asset acquisition was accordingly deemed to be

approved by operation of law upon the subsequent expiration in September 2007 of the prescribed

statutory period The IUB order recognized that regulatory approvals in other jurisdictions were required

and stated that material changes in ITC Midwests asset acquisition imposed by such approvals could

require the submission of new proposal for IUB review if such changes materially altered the basis for the

IUB order On October 19 2007 the Iowa Office of Consumer Advocate the IOCA filed in the Iowa

District Court for Polk County petition for judicial review asking the court to reverse vacate and remand

to the IUB the IUBs decision declining to disapprove ITC Midwests asset acquisition final hearing on the

IOCAs petition for judicial review occurred on August 2008 On September 25 2008 the JOCA filed an

application with the District Court for leave to present additional evidence On October 2008 the District

Court issued ruling that affirmed the tUBs decision in all respects and rejected the IOCAs claimed relief

but failed to address or acknowledge the IOCAs motion for leave to present additional evidence

Subsequently on December 11 2008 the District Court denied the IOCAs application for leave to present

additional evidence and reaffirmed its prior ruling affirming the IUBs decision and rejecting the IOCAs

claimed relief On February 13 2009 the IOCA filed notice of appeal with the Iowa Supreme Court If the

IOCAs appeal is ultimately decided in manner that is unfavorable to us all or part of the orders approving

ITC Midwests asset acquisition in Iowa could be reversed which could have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries actual capital expenditures may be lower than

planned which would decrease expected rate base and therefore our revenues In addition

we expect to pursue strategic development opportunities to improve the efficiency and reli

ability of the transmission grid but we cannot assure you that we will be able to initiate or

complete any of these investments

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries rate base revenues and earnings are determined in

part by additions to property plant and equipment when placed in service We expect ITCTransmission

METC and ITC Midwest to invest approximately $700 million $1150 million and $1050 million respec

tively in their respective systems over the period beginning January 2008 through December31 2017

The expected amounts of capital investment over the period beginning January 2008 through Decem
ber 31 2017 do not include total of $150 million for lTCTransmission and METC combined and

$250 million at ITC Midwest for estimated transmission network upgrades for generator interconnections

due to high degree of uncertainty on whether these projects will ultimately be built and because they

could replace other transmission projects currently being planned This estimate for transmission network

upgrades for generator interconnections could change significantly due to factors beyond our control such

as changes in the MISO queue for generation projects and whether the generator meets the various

criteria of Attachment FF of the MISO Transmission and Energy Market Tariff for the project to qualify as

refundable network upgrade among other factors For the year ended December 31 2009 we expect

ITCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest to invest approximately $70 million to $85 million $110 million

to $130 million and $90 million to $110 million respectively in their respective systems which includes

estimated capital investments for transmission network upgrades Additionally we also expect to spend

approximately $30 million at ITC Midwest to purchase and complete construction on substation and to

purchase transmission line Our expected capital investments at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

for the year ended December 31 2009 could change significantly due to the uncertainty around capital

investments for transmission network upgrades for generator interconnections as described above If our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries capital expenditures and the resulting in-service property plant and

equipment are lower than anticipated for any reason our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will have
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lower than anticipated rate base thus causing their revenue requirements and future earnings to be

potentially lower than anticipated

In addition we are pursuing broader strategic development investment opportunities for transmission

construction related to building super-regional 765 kV transmission facilities interconnections for wind

generation and other renewable resources and investment opportunities The incumbent utilities or other

entities with transmission development initiatives may compete with us by deciding to pursue capital

projects that we are pursuing These estimates of potential investment opportunities are based primarily

on foreseeable transmission needs and general transmission construction costs not necessarily on

particular project cost estimates

Any capital investment at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries or as result of our broader strategic

development initiatives may be lower than expected due to among other factors the impact of actual

loads forecasted loads regional economic conditions weather conditions union strikes labor shortages

material and equipment prices and availability our ability to obtain financing for such expenditures if

necessary limitations on the amount of construction that can be undertaken on our system or transmission

systems owned by others at any one time or regulatory approvals for reasons relating to rate construct

environmental siting regional planning cost recovery and other issues or as result of legal proceedings

and variances between estimated and actual costs of construction contracts awarded Our ability to

engage in construction projects resulting from pursuing these initiatives is subject to significant uncer

tainties including the factors discussed above and will depend on obtaining any necessary regulatory and

other approvals for the project and for us to initiate construction our achieving status as the builder of the

project in some circumstances and other factors Therefore we can provide no assurance as to the actual

level of investment we may achieve at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries or as result of the broader

strategic development initiatives

The regulations to which we are subject may limit our ability to raise capital and/or pursue

acquisitions development opportunities or other transactions or may subject us to

liabilities

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is public utility under the FPA and accordingly is

subject to regulation by the FERC Approval of the FERC is required under Section 203 of the FPA for

disposition or acquisition of regulated public utility facilities either directly or indirectly through holding

company Such approval may also be required to acquire securities in public utility Section 203 of the

FPA also provides the FERC with explicit authority over utility holding companies purchases or acqui

sitions of and mergers or consolidations with public utility Finally each of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries must also seek approval by the FERC under Section 204 of the FPA for issuances of its

securities including debt securities

We are also pursuing strategic development opportunities for construction of transmission facilities

and interconnections with wind generation and other renewable resources These projects require

regulatory approval by the FERC applicable RTOs and state regulatory agencies Failure to secure such

regulatory approval for new strategic development projects could adversely affect our ability to grow our

business and increase our revenues

In addition we are subject to state and/or local regulations relating to among other things facility

siting If we fail to comply with these local regulations we may incur liabilities for such failure

Changes in federal energy laws regulations or policies could impact cash flows and could

reduce the dividends we may be able to pay our stockholders

Attachment the rate formula mechanism used by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries to

calculate their respective annual revenue requirements will be used by our Regulated Operating Sub

sidiaries for that purpose until and unless the FERC determines that such rate formula is unjust and

unreasonable or that another mechanism is more appropriate Such determinations could result from

challenges initiated at the FERC by interested parties by the FERC on its own initiative in proceeding
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under Section 206 of the FPA or by successful application initiated by any of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries under Section 205 of the FPA End-use consumers and entities supplying electricity to end-

use consumers may attempt to influence government and/or regulators to change the rate setting

methodologies that apply to our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries particularly if rates for delivered

electricity increase substantially

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is regulated by the FERC as public utility under the

FPA and is transmission owner in MISO We cannot predict whether the approved rate methodologies for

any of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will be changed In addition the U.S Congress periodically

considers enacting energy legislation that could shift new responsibilities to the FERC modify provisions

of the FPA or provide the FERC or another entity with increased authority to regulate transmission matters

We cannot predict whether and to what extent our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries may be affected by

any such changes in federal energy laws regulations or policies in the future

If the network load or point-to-point transmission service on our Regulated Operating Sub
sidiaries transmission systems is lower than expected the timing of collection of our reve

nues would be delayed

If the network load or point-to-point transmission service on our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

transmission systems is lower than expected due to weather weak economy changes in the nature or

composition of the transmission grids of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and surrounding areas

poor transmission quality of neighboring transmission systems or for any other reason the timing of the

collection of our revenue requirement would likely be delayed until such circumstances are adjusted

through the true-up mechanism in our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries formula rate mechanism

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries depends on its primary customer for sub
stantial portion of its revenues and any material failure by those primary customers to make

payments for transmission services would adversely affect our revenues and our ability to

service our debt obligations and affect our ability to pay dividends

lTCTransmission derives substantial portion of its revenues from the transmission of electricity to

Detroit Edisons local distribution facilities Detroit Edison accounted for 87.3% of lTCTransmissions total

operating revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 and is expected to constitute the majority of

lTCTransmissions revenues for the foreseeable future Detroit Edison is rated BBB/stable and A3/stable

by Standard Poors Ratings Services and Moodys Investors Services Inc respectively Similarly

Consumers Energy accounted for 82.8% of METCs total operating revenues for the year ended Decem
ber 31 2008 and is expected to constitute the majority of METCs revenues for the foreseeable future

Consumers Energy is rated BBB-/stable and Baal/stable by Standard Poors Ratings Services and

Moodys Investors Service Inc respectively Further IPL accounted for 85.5% of ITC Midwests total

operating revenues for the year ended December31 2008 and is expected to constitute the majority of ITC

Midwests revenues for the foreseeable future IPL is rated BBB/stable and A3/stable by Standard

Poors Ratings Services and Moodys Investors Service Inc respectively These percentages of total

operating revenues of Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and lPL include an estimate for the 2008

Attachment revenue accruals that were included in our 2008 operating revenues but will not be billed to

our customers until 2010 We have assumed that the Attachment revenues billed to these customers in

2010 would be in the same proportion of the respective percentages of network revenues billed to them in

2008

Any material failure by Detroit Edison Consumers Energy or IPL to make payments for transmission

services would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and our ability to service

our debt obligations and could impact the amount of dividends we pay our stockholders

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its transmission assets are located

Additionally significant amount of the land on which lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests
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assets are located is subject to easements mineral rights and other similarencumbrances

and significant amount of lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests other property consists of

easements As result our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries must comply with the provi

sions of various easements mineral rights and other similarencumbrances which may

adversely impact their ability to complete construction projects in timely mannei

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its electric transmission assets are located

Instead under the provisions of an Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy METC pays annual

rent of $10.0 million to Consumers Energy in exchange for rights-of-way leases fee interests and licenses

which allow METC to use the land on which its transmission lines are located Under the terms of the

Easement Agreement METCs easement rights could be eliminated it METC fails to meet certain

requirements such as paying contractual rent to Consumers Energy in timely manner Additionally

significant amount of the land on which lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests assets are located is

subject to easements mineral rights and other similar encumbrances and significant amount of

lTCTransmissions and ITC Midwests other property consists of easements As result they must

comply with the provisions of various easements mineral rights and other similar encumbrances which

may adversely impact their ability to complete their construction projects in timely manner

If ITC Midwests operating agreement with IPL is terminated early ITC Midwest may face

shortage of labor or replacement contractors to provide the services formerly provided by

IPL

ITC Midwest has an operating service agreement with IPL the TSA which governs the operation of

ITC Midwests 34.5 kV transmission system In addition to the system operations services related to the

34.5 kV transmission system IPL provides limited number of corporate administration construction

and maintenance services to ITC Midwest The initial term of the TSA expired and ITC Midwest exercised

the first of its four options to extend the agreement an additional six months The first extension will

terminate June 30 2009 however ITC Midwest has given notice to IPL that it will require the system

operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system and its associated detailed billing service to

be extended through December 31 2009 In May 2009 ITC Midwest plans to issue an official notice to

confirm the six month extension of those services and any others that need to be extended The agreement

can also be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties While this agreement is in place ITC Midwest

will continue to hire and train its own employees and continue to contract with other non-utility owning

vendors to provide these services with the eventual goal of replacing lPL entirely If the FERC were to

terminate this agreement prematurely or prohibit its renewal or it this agreement is terminated or fails to

be renewed for any other reason at any time when ITC Midwest is unprepared for such termination ITC

Midwest may face difficulty finding qualified replacement work force to provide such services which

could have material adverse effect on its ability to carry on its business and on its results of operations

Hazards associated with high-voltage electricity transmission may result in suspension of

our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations or the imposition of civil or criminal

penalties

The operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to the usual hazards associated

with high-voltage electricity transmission including explosions fires inclement weather natural disasters

mechanical failure unscheduled downtime equipment interruptions remediation chemical spills dis

charges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases and other environmental risks The

hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life severe damage to or destruction of property and

equipment and environmental damage and may result in suspension of operations and the imposition of

civil or criminal penalties We maintain property and casualty insurance but we are not fully insured

against all potential hazards incident to our business such as damage to poles towers and lines or losses

caused by outages
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Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to environmental regulations and to laws

that can give rise to substantial liabilities from environmental contamination

The operations of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to federal state and local

environmental laws and regulations which impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the

environment establish standards for the management treatment storage transportation and disposal of

hazardous materials and of solid and hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and

remediate contamination in certain circumstances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as

well as other liabilities concerning hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury

or property damage may arise at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and

sites where wastes have been treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated

by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Such liabilities may arise even where the contamination does not

result from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws Under number of environmental laws

such liabilities may also be joint and several meaning that party can be held responsible for more than its

share of the liability involved or even the entire share Environmental requirements generally have become

more stringent in recent years and compliance with those requirements more expensive

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have incurred expenses in connection with environmental

compliance and we anticipate that each will continue to do so in the future Failure to comply with the

extensive environmental laws and regulations applicable to each could result in significant civil or criminal

penalties and remediation costs Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets and operations also

involve the use of materials classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise dangerous Some of our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries facilities and properties are located near environmentally sensitive areas such as

wetlands and habitats of endangered or threatened species In addition certain properties in which our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operate are suspected of being affected by environmental contam

ination Compliance with these laws and regulations and liabilities concerning contamination or hazard

ous materials may adversely affect our costs and therefore our business financial condition and results

of operations

In addition claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or

other damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmis

sion and distribution lines We cannot assure you that such claims will not be asserted against us or that if

determined in manner adverse to our interests would not have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory requirements Viola

tions of these requirements whether intentional or unintentional may result in penalties

that under some circumstances could have material adverse effect on our results of oper
ations financial condition and cash flows

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are required to comply with various regulations including

reliability standards established by the NERC which acts as the nations Electric Reliability Organization

approved by the FERC in accordance with Section 215 of the EPA These standards address operation

planning and security of the bulk power system including requirements in respect of real-time transmission

operations emergency operations vegetation management critical infrastructure protection and person
nel training Failure to comply with these requirements can result in monetary penalties as well as non-

monetary sanctions Monetary penalties vary based on an assigned risk factor for each potential violation

the severity of the violation and various other circumstances such as whether the violation was intentional

or concealed whether there are repeated violations the degree of the violators cooperation in investigating

and remediating the violation and the presence of compliance program Penalty amounts range from

$1 000 to maximum of $1.0 million per day depending on the severity of the violation Non-monetary

sanctions include potential limitations on the violators activities or operation and placing the violator on

watchlist for major violators Despite our best efforts to comply and the implementation of compliance

program intended to ensure reliability there can be no assurance that violations will not occur that would

result in material penalties or sanctions If any of our operating subsidiaries were to violate the NERC
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reliability standards even unintentionally in any material way any penalties or sanctions imposed against

us could have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condition and cash flows

Acts of wai terrorist attacks and threats or the escalation of military activity in response to

such attacks or otherwise may negatively affect our business financial condition and results

of operations

Acts of war terrorist attacks and threats or the escalation of military activity in response to such

attacks or otherwise may negatively affect our business financial condition and results of operations in

unpredictable ways such as increased security measures and disruptions of markets Strategic targets

such as energy related assets including for example our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

facilities and Detroit Edisons Consumers Energys and IPLs generation and distribution facilities may

be at risk of future terrorist attacks In addition to the increased costs associated with heightened security

requirements such events may have an adverse effect on the economy in general lower level of

economic activity could result in decline in energy consumption which may adversely affect our

business financial condition and results of operations

Risks Related to Our Structure and Financial Leverage

ITC Holdings is holding company with no operations and unless we receive dividends or

other payments from our subsidiaries we may be unable to pay dividends and fulfill our

other cash obligations

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of the stock

and membership interests in our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and any other subsidiaries ITC

Holdings may have deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax NOLs and cash on hand

Our only sources of cash to pay dividends to our stockholders are dividends and other payments received

by us from time to time from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and any other subsidiaries we may have

and the proceeds raised from the sale of our debt and equity securities Each of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries however is legally distinct from us and has no obligation contingent or otherwise to make

funds available to us for the payment of dividends to ITC Holdings stockholders or otherwise The ability of

each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and any other subsidiaries we may have to pay dividends

and make other payments to us is subject to among other things the availability of funds after taking into

account capital expenditure requirements the terms of its indebtedness applicable state laws and

regulations of the FERC and the FPA While we currently intend to continue to pay quarterly dividends

on our common stock we have no obligation to do so The payment of dividends is within the absolute

discretion of our board of directors and will depend on among other things our results of operations

working capital requirements capital expenditure requirements financial condition contractual restric

tions anticipated cash needs and other factors that our board deems relevant

We are highly leveraged and our dependence on debt may limit our ability to fulfill our debt

obligations and/or to obtain additional financing

We are highly leveraged As of December31 2008 we had approximately $2.2 billion of consolidated

indebtedness consisting of various outstanding debt securities and borrowings under various credit

facilities In addition we had total of $340.0 million in revolving credit agreement commitments at

December 31 2008 This capital structure can have several important consequences including but not

limited to the following

If future cash flows are insufficient we may not be able to make principal or interest payments on our

debt obligations which could result in the occurrence of an event of default under one or more of

those debt instruments

If future cash flows are insufficient we may need to incur further indebtedness in order to make the

capital expenditures and other expenses or investments planned by us
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Our indebtedness will have the general effect of reducing our flexibility to react to changing business

and economic conditions insofar as they affect our financial condition and therefore may pose

substantial risk to our shareholders substantial portion of the dividends and payments in lieu of

taxes we receive from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will be dedicated to the payment of

interest on our indebtedness thereby reducing the funds available for the payment of dividends on

our common stock

in the event that we are liquidated our senior or subordinated creditors and the senior or subor

dinated creditors of our subsidiaries will be entitled to payment in full prior to any distributions to the

holders of shares of our common stock

Our revolving credit facilities mature in March 2012 for ITC Holdings lTCTransmission and METC
and in January 2013 for ITC Midwest Our ability to secure additional financing prior to or after that

time if needed may be substantially restricted by the existing level of our indebtedness and the

restrictions contained in our debt instruments

Lehman Brothers Bank FSB Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndication

was included in bankruptcy filing made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on

September 14 2008 We are attempting to identify replacement bank to fulfill Lehmans com
mitment but given the favorable terms of our existing agreement compared to current market

conditions it is unlikely that will be able to find replacement bank If we are unable to identify

replacement bank to fulfill Lehmans commitment our capacity to borrow under our the currently

outstanding revolving credit facilities would continue to be reduced

Current market conditions could affect our access to capital markets restrict our ability to secure

financing to make the capital expenditures and other expenses or investments planned by us and

could adversely affect our business financial condition cash flows and results of operations

We may incur substantial indebtedness in the future The incurrence of additional indebtedness would

increase the leverage-related risks described here

Certain provisions in our debt instruments limit our financial flexibility

Our debt instruments include senior notes secured notes first mortgage bonds and revolving credit

agreements containing numerous financial and operating covenants that place significant restrictions on

among other things our ability to

incur additional indebtedness

engage in sale and lease-back transactions

create liens or other encumbrances

enter into mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions or sell or otherwise dispose of all or

substantially all of our assets

create and acquire subsidiaries and

pay dividends or make distributions on our and ITCTransmissions capital stock and METCs and

ITC Midwests member capital

The revolving credit agreements METCs senior secured notes and ITC Holdings senior notes

require us to meet certain financial ratios Our ability to comply with these and other requirements and

restrictions may be affected by changes in economic or business conditions results of operations or other

events beyond our control failure to comply with the obligations contained in any of our debt instruments

could result in acceleration of the related debt and the acceleration of debt under other instruments

evidencing indebtedness that may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions
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Adverse changes in our credit ratings may negatively affect us

Our ability to access capital markets is important to our ability to operate our business Increased

scrutiny of the energy industry and the impact of regulation as well as changes in our financial perfor

mance and the prevailing unfavorable conditions in the capital markets could result in credit agencies

reexamining our credit ratings downgrade in our credit ratings could restrict or discontinue our ability to

access capital markets at attractive rates and increase our borrowing costs rating downgrade could also

increase the interest we pay under our revolving credit agreements

ITC Holdings common stock offering in October 2006 caused us to undergo an ownership

change for purposes of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the

Code which will limit the amount of our federal income tax NOLs that we may use to

reduce our tax liability in given period

As of December 31 2008 we had estimated federal income tax NOLs of $253.4 million resulting in

part from accelerated depreciation methods for property plant and equipment for income tax reporting

purposes These federal income tax NOLs may be used to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce

our U.S federal income taxes otherwise payable Section 382 of the Code imposes an annual limit on the

ability of corporation that undergoes an ownership change to use its federal income tax NOLs to reduce

its tax liability As result of the ownership change in October 2006 we are not able to use our pre

ownership change federal income tax NOLs in excess of the limitation imposed by Section 382 for each

annual period Included in the total federal income tax NOLs above are approximately $38.5 million of

federal income tax NOLs included in our 2006 consolidated tax return for the entities acquired in the METC

acquisition We will be subject to annual limitations on the use of such federal income tax NOLs as result

of the acquisition of all of the indirect ownership interests in METC by us as well as limitations resulting

from prior transactions by the acquired entities We have not recorded valuation allowance relating to our

federal income tax NOLs In the event it becomes more likely than not that any portion of the federal income

tax NOLs will expire unused we would be required to recognize an expense to establish valuation

allowance in the period in which the determination is made If the expense is significant it could have

material adverse effect on our results of operations

Provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws Michigan corporate law and our debt

agreements may impede efforts by our shareholders to change the direction or management
of our company

Our Articles of Incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that might enable our management to

resist proposed takeover These provisions could discourage delay or prevent change of control or an

acquisition at price that our shareholders may find attractive These provisions also may discourage

proxy contests and make it more difficult for our shareholders to elect directors and take other corporate

actions The existence of these provisions could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future

for shares of our common stock These provisions include

requirement that special meetings of our shareholders may be called only by our board of

directors the chairman of our board of directors our president or the holders of majority of the

shares of our outstanding common stock

advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and nominations and

the authority of our board to issue without shareholder approval common or preferred stock

including in connection with our implementation of any shareholders rights plan or poison pill

In addition our revolving credit agreements provide that change in majority of ITC Holdings board

of directors that is not approved by the current ITC Holdings directors or acquiring beneficial ownership of

35% or more of ITC Holdings outstanding common shares will constitute default under those

agreements
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Provisions in our Articles of Incorporation restrict market participants from voting or owning

5% or more of the outstanding shares of our capital stock

Certain of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have been granted favorable rate treatment by the

FERC based on their independence from market participants The FERC defines market participant to

include any person or entity that either directly or through an affiliate sells or brokers electricity or

provides ancillary services to MISO An affiliate for these purposes includes any person or entity that

directly or indirectly owns controls or holds with the power to vote 5% or more of the outstanding voting

securities of market participant To help ensure that we and our subsidiaries will remain independent of

market participants our Articles of Incorporation impose certain restrictions on the ownership and voting of

shares of our capital stock by market participants In particular the Articles of Incorporation provide that we

are restricted from issuing any shares of capital stock or recording any transfer of shares if the issuance or

transfer would cause any market participant either individually or together with members of its group as
defined in SEC beneficial ownership rules to beneficially own 5% or more of any class or series of our

capital stock Additionally if market participant together with its group members acquires beneficial

ownership of 5% or more of any series of the outstanding shares of our capital stock such market

participant or any shareholder who is member of group including market participant will not be able to

vote or direct or control the votes of shares representing 5% or more of any series of our outstanding capital

stock Finally to the extent market participant together with its group members acquires beneficial

ownership of 5% or more of the outstanding shares of any series of our capital stock our Articles of

Incorporation allow our board of directors to redeem any shares of our capital stock so that after giving

effect to the redemption the market participant together with its group members will cease to beneficially

own 5% or more of that series of our outstanding capital stock

ITEM UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission facilities are located in the lower peninsula of

Michigan and portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois and Missouri and have agreements with other utilities

for the joint ownership of specific substations and transmission lines See Note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements

ITCTransmission owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 2800 circuit miles of overhead and underground transmission lines rated at voltages

of 120 kV to 345 kV

approximately 18200 transmission towers and poles

station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at 163 stations and substations which

either interconnect our transmission facilities or connect lTCTransmissions facilities with gener

ation or distribution facilities owned by others

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g switching stations

breakers and metering equipment

associated land held in fee rights of way and easements

an approximately 188000 square-foot corporate headquarters facility and operations control room

including furniture fixtures and office equipment and

an approximately 40000 square-foot facility in Ann Arbor Michigan that includes back-up

operations control room
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ITCTransmissions First Mortgage Bonds are issued under ITCTransmissions First Mortgage and

Deed of Trust As result the bondholders have the benefit of first mortgage lien on substantially all of

lTClransmissions property

METC owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 5500 circuit miles of overhead transmission lines rated at voltages of 138 kV to

345 kV

approximately 36200 transmission towers and poles

station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at 93 stations and substations which

either interconnect our transmission facilities or connect METCs facilities with generation or

distribution facilities owned by others and

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g switching stations

breakers and metering equipment

Amounts borrowed under METCs revolving credit agreement are secured by first priority security

interest on all of METCs assets through the issuance of senior secured bonds collateral series under

METCs first mortgage indenture and the second supplemental indenture thereto

METC does not own the majority of the land on which its assets are located but under the provisions

of its Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy METC has an easement to use the land rights-of-

way leases and licenses in the land on which its transmission lines are located that are held or controlled

by Consumers Energy See Item Business Operating Contracts METC Amended and Restated

Easement Agreement

ITC Midwest owns the assets of transmission system and related assets including

approximately 6800 miles of transmission lines rated at voltages of 34.5kV to 345kV

transmission towers and poles

station assets such as transformers and circuit breakers at approximately 254 stations and

substations which either interconnect ITC Midwests transmission facilities or connect ITC Mid

wests facilities with generation or distribution facilities owned by others

other transmission equipment necessary to safely operate the system e.g switching stations

breakers and metering equipment and

associated land held in fee rights of way and easements

ITC Midwests First Mortgage Bonds were initially issued in January 2008 under ITC Midwests First

Mortgage and Deed of Trust As result the bondholders have the benefit of first mortgage lien on

substantially all of ITC Midwests property

The assets of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are suitable for electric transmission and

adequate for the electricity demand in our service territory We prioritize capital spending based in part

on meeting reliability standards within the industry This includes replacing and upgrading existing assets

as needed

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in certain legal proceedings from time to time before various courts governmental

agencies and mediation panels concerning matters arising in the ordinary course of business These

proceedings include certain contract disputes regulatory matters and pending judicial matters We
cannot predict the final disposition of such proceedings We regularly review legal matters and record

provisions for claims that are considered probable of loss The resolution of pending proceedings is not

expected to have material effect on our operations or financial statements in the period they are resolved
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On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint against ITC Midwest before the FERC under

Section 206 of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleges that the operations and maintenance

expenses and administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appear

excessive the true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through

December 31 2008 will cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the

methodology of allocating administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating compa

nies was changed resulting in such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest The complaint

states that it does not challenge ITC Midwests Attachment formula or its planned capital investments

ITC Midwests network rate is based on its forward-looking Attachment rate formula as approved by

FERC which incorporates ITC Midwests projected net revenue requirement and load Among other

things IPLs complaint seeks investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission

service charges reflected in its 2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness

of the 2009 rate with the ultimate goal of reducing such rate The resolution of this proceeding and its

ultimate impact on ITC Midwests network rate and transmission revenues cannot be determined at this

time We believe that ITC Midwests 2009 rate is just and reasonable that IPL has not proffered sufficient

arguments or reasons for the complaint to be sustained and that ITC Midwests 2009 rate appropriately

reflects the commitment of ITC Midwest to improve the performance and reliability of its transmission

system Accordingly ITC Holdings and ITC Midwest believe that IPLs action is without merit and currently

intend to contest it vigorously However various other parties including Detroit Edison and Consumers

Energy have filed with the FERC as interveners in the matter such that the outcome of the case could also

have an impact on the rates of lTCTransmission and METC If the FERC issues decision in this matter

which inhibits our ability to recover costs and expenses through our rates or is otherwise adverse to our

interests then our results of operations financial condition and liquidity may be materially and adversely

affected

Refer to Notes and 15 to the consolidated financial statements for description of other pending

litigation

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS To VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None

PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAT
TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Stock Price and Dividends

Our common stock has traded on the NYSE since July 26 2005 under the symbol ITC Prior to that

time there was no public market for our stock As of February 20 2009 there were approximately

496 shareholders of record of our common stock

The following tables set forth the high and low sales price per share of the common stock for each full

quarterly period in 2008 and 2007 as reported on the NYSE and the cash dividends per share paid during

the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31 2008 High Low Dividends

Quarter ended December 31 2008 $56.00 $32.35 $0.305

Quarter ended September 30 2008 $59.99 $49.35 $0.305

Quarter ended June 30 2008 $57.13 $50.42 $0.290

Quarter ended March 31 2008 $58.14 $49.16 $0.290
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Year Ended December 31 2007 High Low Dividends

Quarter ended December 31 2007 $58.58 $46.24 $0.290

Quarter ended September 30 2007 $51.39 $40.40 $0.290

Quarter ended June 30 2007 $46.42 $39.38 $0.275

Quarter ended March 31 2007 $45.12 $37.90 $0.275

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of ITC Holdings board of

directors and depends on various factors including our net income financial condition cash requirements

future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors As holding company with

no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of the common stock of lTCTransmission

ownership interests in METC and ITC Midwest ownership interests of our other subsidiaries deferred tax

assets relating primarily to federal income tax NOLs and cash ITC Holdings material cash inflows are only

from dividends and other payments received from time to time from its subsidiaries and the proceeds

raised from the sale of debt and equity securities ITC Holdings may not be able to access cash generated

by its subsidiaries in order to pay dividends to shareholders The ability of ITC Holdings subsidiaries to

make dividend and other payments to ITC Holdings is subject to the availability of funds after taking into

account the subsidiaries funding requirements the terms of the subsidiaries indebtedness the regula

tions of the FERC under FPA and applicable state laws The debt agreements to which we are parties

contain numerous financial covenants that could limit ITC Holdings ability to pay dividends as well as

covenants that prohibit ITC Holdings from paying dividends if we are in default under our revolving credit

facilities Further our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and each other subsidiary is legally distinct from

ITC Holdings and has no obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us

If and when ITC Holdings pays dividend on its common stock pursuant to our special bonus plans

for executives and certain non-executive employees amounts equivalent to the dividend may be paid to

the special bonus plan participants if approved by the compensation committee We currently expect

these amounts to be paid upon the declaration of dividends on ITC Holdings common stock

The board of directors intends to increase the dividend rate from timeto time as necessary for the yield

to remain competitive subject to prevailing business conditions applicable restrictions on dividend

payments and the availability of capital resources

The transfer agent for the common stock is Computershare Trust Company N.A P.O Box 43078

Providence RI 02940-3078

In addition the information contained in the Equity Compensation table under Item 12 Security

Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters of this report

is incorporated herein by reference

Stock Repurchases

There were no stock repurchases for the quarter ended December 31 2008

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected historical financial data for the periods indicated On

July 19 2005 ITC Holdings affected an approximately 3.34-for-one stock split All amounts and values of

common shares and options and per share data in the accompanying financial information have been

retroactively adjusted to give effect to the stock split
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The selected financial data presented below should be read together with our consolidated financial

statements and the notes to those statements and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 0-K

ITC Holdings and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31

In thousands except share and per share data
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

OPERATiNG REVENUESb 617877 426249 223622 205274 126449

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance 113818 81406 35441 48310 24552

General and administrative 81296 62089 40632 25198 24412

Depreciation and amortization 94769 67928 40156 33197 29480

Taxes other than income taxes 41180 33340 22156 13982 20840

Termination of management

agreements
6725

Other operating income and expense

net 809 688 842

Total operating expenses 330254 244075 137543 127412 99284

OPERATING INCOME 287623 182174 86079 77862 27165

OTHER EXPENSES INCOME
Interest expense 122234 81863 42049 28128 25585

Allowance for equity funds used during

construction 11610 8145 3977 2790 1691

Loss on extinguishment of debt 349 1874

Other income 3415 3457 2348 1700 1289

Otherexpense 3944 1618 1629 615 283

Total other expenses income 111153 72228 39227 24253 22888

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 176470 109946 46852 53609 4277

INCOME TAX PROVISION 67262 36650 13658 18938 1669

INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 109208 73296 33194 34671 2608

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE NET
OF TAX OF $16 29

NET INCOME 109208 73296 33223 34671 2608

Basic earnings per share 2.25 1.73 0.95 1.10 0.09

Diluted earnings per share 2.19 1.68 0.92 1.06 0.08

Weighted-average basic shares 48605951 42298478 35048049 31455065 30183886

Weighted-average diluted shares 49770681 43541306 36236944 32729842 30899548

Dividends declared per share 1.190 1.130 1.075 0.525
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In thousands ___________ ___________ _________ _________

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Cash and cash equivalents

Working capital deficit

Property plant and equipment

net

Total assets

Long Term Debt

ITC Holdings and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

$401840 $287170 $167496 $118586 $76779

flows and balances are included for the periods presented

subsequent to its acquisition on October 10 2006 In addition ITC Midwests results of operations

cash flows and balances are included for the periods presented subsequent to its asset acquisition of

the electric transmission assets of lPL on December 20 2007

The lTCTransmission rate freeze ended December 31 2004 resulted in an increase in operating

revenues for the years presented subsequent to December 31 2004 Refer to discussion of the

lTCTransmission rate freeze in Note to the consolidated financial statements Additionally ITC
Transmissions and METCs implementation of forward-looking Attachment for rates beginning

January 2007 resulted in increases in operating revenues for the years presented subsequent to

December 31 2006 Refer to the discussion of forward-looking Attachment in Note to the

consolidated financial statements

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Safe Harbor Statement Under The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Our reports filings and other public announcements contain certain statements that describe our

managements beliefs concerning future business conditions and prospects growth opportunities and the

outlook for our business and the electric transmission industry based upon information currently available

Such statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 Wherever possible we have identified these forward-looking statements by words

such as will may anticipates believes intends estimates expects projects and similar

phrases These forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions our management believes

are reasonable Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause

our actual results pertormance and achievements to differ materially from those expressed in or implied

by these statements including among others the risks and uncertainties disclosed under Item Risk

Factors

Because our forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions that are subject to

significant business economic and competitive uncertainties many of which are beyond our control or are

ITC Holdings and Subsidiaries

As of December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

58110 2616 13426 24591 14074

1095 30370 10107 19945 27117

2304386 1960433 1197862 603609 513684

3714565 3213297 2128797 916639 808847

1327741 1687193 775963 266104 273485

920512 556231 486315 251211 209938

2248253 2243424 1262278 517315 483423

929063 563075 532244 263301 196602

ITC Holdings

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Total Long Term Debt

Total Stockholders Equity

In thousands

CASH FLOWS DATA

Capital expenditures

METCs results of operations cash
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subject to change actual results could be materially different and any or all of our forward-looking

statements may turn out to be wrong Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and can

be affected by assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Many factors

mentioned in our discussion in this report will be important in determining future results Consequently we

cannot assure you that our expectations or forecasts expressed in such forward-looking statements will be

achieved Actual future results may vary materially Except as required by law we undertake no obligation

to publicly update any of our forward-looking or other statements whether as result of new information

future events or otherwise

Overview

Through our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries we are engaged in the transmission of electricity in

the United States Our business strategy is to operate maintain and invest in transmission infrastructure in

order to enhance system integrity and reliability and to reduce transmission constraints By pursuing this

strategy we strive for high reliability of our systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of

choice including renewable sources We operate high-voltage systems in Michigans Lower Peninsula and

portions of Iowa Minnesota Illinois and Missouri that transmit electricity from generating stations to local

distribution facilities connected to our systems

As electric transmission utilities with rates regulated by the FERC our Regulated Operating Sub

sidiaries earn revenues through tariff rates charged for the use of their electric transmission systems by our

customers which include investor-owned utilities municipalities co-operatives power marketers and

alternative energy suppliers As independent transmission companies our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries are subject to rate regulation only by the FERC The rates charged by our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries are established using Attachment as discussed in Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Rate Setting and Attachment

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries primary operating responsibilities include maintaining

improving and expanding their transmission systems to meet their customers ongoing needs scheduling

outages on system elements to allow for maintenance and construction balancing electricity generation

and demand maintaining appropriate system voltages and monitoring flows over transmission lines and

other facilities to ensure physical limits are not exceeded

We derive nearly all of our revenues from providing network transmission service point-to-point

transmission service and other related services over our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

systems to investor owned utilities such as Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and to other entities

such as alternative electricity suppliers power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide

electricity to end-use consumers and from transaction-based capacity reservations on our transmission

systems Substantially all of our operating expenses and assets support our transmission operations

Significant recent events that influenced our financial position and results of operations and cash flows

for the year ended December 31 2008 or may affect future results include

Capital investment of $399.4 million at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries $121.8 million

$121.1 million and $156.5 million at lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest respectively for the

year ended December 31 2008 resulting primarily from our focus on improving system reliability

ITC Midwests acquisition of the transmission assets of IPL on December20 2007 and the related

financing activities described in Notes and to the consolidated financial statements

Lower actual monthly peak loads as compared to what had been forecasted in developing the

transmission network rates applicable for 2008 at lTCTransmission and METC resulting in

reduction in operating cash flows of $22.8 million and $13.6 million respectively from what had

been projected
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Debt issuances and borrowings under our revolving credit agreements in 2008 and 2007 to fund

capital investment at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries resulting in higher interest

expense and

ITC Great Plains and Green Power Express each filed an application with the FERC for the approval

of rates that would apply to their potential investment in transmission projects in Kansas and

elsewhere in the SPP region

These items are discussed in more detail throughout Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Recent Developments

Development Activities

On January 15 2009 ITC Great Plains filed an application with the FERC for the approval of

forward-looking formula rate that would apply to ITC Great Plains transmission facilities in the SPP region

including Kansas The approval of the application would provide ITC Great Plains with the regulatory

certainty required to make significant transmission investments in the SPP region generally and Kansas in

particular The application seeks approval of formula transmission rate for ITC Great Plains as an

independent transmission company in SPP The application also seeks incentives for major transmission

projects that ITC Great Plains has committed to construct in Kansas including the KETA Project which

would run from Spearville to point near Hays Kansas and then northward to Axtell Nebraska and the

Kansas V-Plan which would run from Spearville southward to Comanche County and then on north

eastern track to Wlchita The total capital investment for these two projects is anticipated to be between

approximately $500 million and $1 billion Additionally the application seeks approval of the recovery of

start-up and development expenses of ITC Great Plains and other development expenses relating to the

KETA Project and Kansas V-Plan through the recognition of regulatory assets The total of these expenses

for which we have requested regulatory asset treatment is $6.5 million through December31 2008 In the

event the FERC approves our application and in the period it becomes probable that future revenues will

result from the approval we would record reduction to operating expenses and recognize the regulatory

assets Federal approval is an essential prerequisite to establishing ITC Great Plains as new inde

pendent transmission company dedicated to investing in transmission within the SPP region Although the

receipt of approval from the FERC for rate would be significant milestone for ITC Great Plains

additional regulatory approvals will be required before ITC Great Plains can commence construction of the

projects it has committed to build including cost allocation for the KETA Project and the Kansas V-Plan

Additionally we believe we may have the opportunity to invest approximately $1 billion to $2 billion in other

extra high voltage overlay projects that have been identified by the SPP other than the KETA Project and

the Kansas V-Plan

On February 2009 Green Power Express filed an application with the FERC for approval of

forward-looking formula rate and incentives for the construction of the Green Power Express project

including the approval of regulatory asset for recovery of development expenses which will enable us to

defer recovery of the costs associated with continued development efforts for the project Over the past

year we have worked to identify network of transmission lines that would facilitate the movement of

12000 megawatts of power from the wind-abundant areas in the Dakotas Minnesota and Iowa to Midwest

load centers such as Chicago southeastern Wisconsin Minneapolis and other states that demand clean

renewable energy The Green Power Express project would traverse portions of North Dakota South

Dakota Minnesota Iowa Wisconsin Illinois and Indiana and is ultimately expected to include approx

imately 3000 miles of extra high-voltage 765kV transmission The entire project is currently estimated to

cost approximately $10 to $12 billion Portions of the Green Power Express project fall within the service

territory of ITC Midwest ITC Holdings expects to partner with other affected utilities within the Green

Power Express project regions and would therefore only invest in portion of the total project cost The

Green Power Express filing with FERC will be the first of many steps in the process to bring this project to

completion to facilitate the delivery of the vast Upper Great Plains renewable wind resources to demand
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centers and markets in the industrial Midwest and further east The Green Power Express project is

portion of our larger vision of super regional high-voltage transmission backbone

We are also exploring opportunities to invest up to approximately $1.3 billion to build new 765 kV

transmission facility across the southern portion of Michigans Lower Peninsula

Complaint of IPL

On November 18 2008 lPL filed complaint against ITC Midwest before the FERC under

Section 206 of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleges that the operations and maintenance

expenses and administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 ITC Midwest rate appear

excessive the true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through

December 31 2008 will cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the

methodology of allocating administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating compa

nies was changed resulting in such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest The complaint

states that it does not challenge ITC Midwests Attachment formula or its planned capital investments

ITC Midwests network rate is based on its forward-looking Attachment rate formula as approved by

FERC which incorporates ITC Midwests projected net revenue requirement and load Among other

things lPLs complaint seeks investigative action by the FERC relating to ITC Midwests transmission

service charges reflected in its 2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness

of the 2009 rate with the ultimate goal of reducing such rate The resolution of this proceeding and its

ultimate impact on ITC Midwests network rate and transmission revenues cannot be determined at this

time We believe that ITC Midwests 2009 rate is just and reasonable that IPL has not proffered sufficient

arguments or reasons for the complaint to be sustained and that ITC Midwests 2009 rate appropriately

reflects the commitment of ITC Midwest to improve the performance and reliability of its transmission

system Accordingly ITC Holdings and ITC Midwest believe that IPLs action is without merit and currently

intend to contest it vigorously However various other parties including Detroit Edison and Consumers

Energy have filed with the FERC as interveners in the matter such that the outcome of the case could also

have an impact on the rates of lTCTransmission and METC If the FERC issues decision in this matter

which inhibits our ability to recover costs and expenses through our rates or is otherwise adverse to our

interests then our results of operations financial condition and liquidity may be materially and adversely

affected

Michigan Sales and Use Tax Audit

The Michigan Department of Treasury the Department currently is conducting sales and use tax

audit of lTCTransmission for the audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 The auditor has raised

an issue regarding whether lTCTransmission qualifies for the industrial processing exemption from sales

and use tax it has taken beginning January 2007 The industrial processing exemption at issue generally

provides an exemption from sales and use tax for an industrial processor or person performing industrial

processing activities for or on behalf of an industrial processor for purchases made by such business of

tangible personal property if the property is used or consumed in the conduct of industrial processing

activities

Based on an analysis of the industrial processing statutes and lTCTransmissions business activities

lTCTransmission claims the industrial processing exemption for purchases of tangible personal property

that it uses in its electricity transmission activities The purchases for which lTCTransmission claimed

exemption include all purchases of tangible property used in its integrated transmission process including

purchases of property to perform inspection quality control and testing activities and to perform planning

scheduling supervision or control of transmission and transformation of the high voltage electricity that

lTCTransmission receives from Detroit Edison

lTCTransmission has received no formal written or verbal communication indicating that its industrial

processing exemption will be denied However based on preliminary and informal communications with

the Department it appears likely that the Department will deny the exemption claims and assess additional
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sales and use tax against ITCTransmission If an assessment is issued lTCTransmission will have

administrative appeal rights and if an administrative appeal is unsuccessful will have right to litigate any

assessment assuming certain jurisdictional requirements are satisfied in either the Michigan Tax Tribunal

or the Michigan Court of Claims

lTClransmission believes that it has strong position supporting the validity of its industrial pro

cessing exemption under the Michigan industrial processing exemption statutes and intends to vigorously

defend against any potential denial of such exemption However if the Department makes an assessment

of sales and use tax based on denial of lTCTransmissions industrial processing exemption and an

appeal is required it is reasonably possible that the assessment of additional sales and use tax could be

sustained after all administrative appeals and litigation

The amount of sales and use tax liability associated with the exemptions taken by lTCTransmission

totals several million dollars In the event it becomes appropriate to record additional sales and use tax

expense relating to this matter lTCTransmission would record the additional sales and use tax expense

primarily as an increase to the cost of property plant and equipment These higher sales and use tax

expenses would be passed on to lTCTransmissions customers through higher net revenue requirements

and resulting rates

Any penalties and interest relating to this matter would potentially not be passed on through rates

METC has also taken the industrial processing exemption totaling several million dollars for periods still

subject to audit since 2005

Iowa Flood Damage

As result of the flooding in Iowa in June of 2008 ITC Midwest suffered damage at three substations

located in Cedar Rapids and Mason City Iowa and was forced to relocate its headquarters in Cedar Rapids

to temporary office facilities The damage caused ITC Midwest to make capital investments of approx

imately $4.5 millionto replace certain property plant and equipment and perform various maintenance and

other expense activities of $1.1 million We have an insurance policy that covers ITC Holdings and its

subsidiaries including ITC Midwest for such damages that includes $1.0 million deductible In the fourth

quarter of 2008 we filed an initial claim under our insurance policy for the flood damage and expect to file

additional insurance claims in 2009 As result of the expected outcome of these claims we recorded an

insurance receivable amount of $2.3 million net of the deductible consisting of $1.7 million reduction in

property plant and equipment and $0.6 million reduction in operations and maintenance expense As of

December 31 2008 we had not received any proceeds from this insurance claim We do not anticipate

that any difficulties in collecting the insurance claim would have material impact on our results of

operations financial position or liquidity as the capital investment and operations and maintenance

expense would be recoverable through the rates of ITC Midwest

Financial Markets

We continue to evaluate the impact on us of the recent volatility of the financial markets and the credit

crisis affecting the capital markets We are not able to predict whether we will experience any material

adverse impact to our earnings or liquidity if current conditions continue to exist Refer to the discussion

under Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources for our short- and long-term financing expectations

Rate Setting and Attachment

Network Transmission Rates

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operate in different rate zones in each of which different

transmission service rate is charged The rates within such joint rate zones are determined using FERC
approved formulaic rate setting mechanism known asAttachment Attachment is rate template used

by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries as well as most transmission owning members of MISO Our
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Regulated Operating Subsidiaries component of their respective joint zone rate are set annually under

Attachment and are in effect for the one year period beginning January Under Attachment our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries component of their respective joint zone rate allows for the recovery of

their respective net revenue requirements Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries net revenue require

ments utilized in developing each respective joint zone rate are derived using Attachment posted on the

MISO Open Access Same-Time Information System each year and are effective without the need to file

rate case with the FERC although the rate is subject to legal challenge at the FERC

The following table presents our component of joint zone network transmission rates per kW/month

that are relevant to our results of operations and cash flows since January 2006

Network Transmission Rate ITCTransmission METCa ITC Midwestb

January 2006 to May 31 2006 $1 .594

June 2006to December31 2006 $1.744 $1524

January 2007 to December 31 2007 $2099 $1 .524 $2.373

January 2008 to December 31 2008 $2.350 $1 .985 $2.446

January 2009 to December 31 2009 $2.520 $2.522 $4.162

METCs results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its acquisition

on October 10 2006

ITC Midwests results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its asset

acquisition of the electric transmission assets of IPL on December 20 2007

Forward-Looking Attachment

On July 14 2006 and December 21 2006 the FERC authorized lTCTransmission and METC

respectively to modify the implementation of its Attachment formula rate so that beginning January

2007 lTCTransmission and METC recover expenses and earn return on and recover investments in

property plant and equipment on current rather than lagging basis As part of the FERC order dated

December 2007 approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition the FERC approved ITC Midwests request

for the use of forward-looking Attachment effective January 2008 In periods of capital expansion

and increasing rate base our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will recover the costs of these capital

investments on more timely basis than under the previous Attachment method used by lTCTrans

mission and METC

Under the forward-looking Attachment formula by September 1st of each year our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries use forecasted expenses additions to in-service property plant and equipment

point-to-point revenues network load and other items for the upcoming calendar year to establish their

projected net revenue requirements and their component of the billed network rates for service on their

systems from January to December31 of that year The forward-looking Attachment formula includes

true-up mechanism whereby each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will compare its actual net

revenue requirements to its billed network revenues for each year after the end of that year Under forward-

looking Attachment in the event billed network revenues in given year are more or less than actual net

revenue requirements which are calculated primarily using information from that years FERC Form No

our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will refund or collect additional revenues with interest within

two-year period such that customers pay only the amounts that correspond to actual net revenue

requirements This annual true-up ensures that our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries recover their

allowed costs and earn their allowed returns For example the true-up adjustment relating to 2008 is

finalized in 2009 upon completion of the 2008 FERC Form No and will be included in the projected net

revenue requirement that is used to establish the rate that will be effective commencing January 2010

Monthly peak loads continue to be used for billing network revenues for our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries Therefore network load continues to have an impact on cash flows from transmission

service but did not impact operating revenues recognized Refer to Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies Revenue
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Recognition under Forward-Looking Attachment for discussion of revenue recognition relating to

network revenues

Net Revenue Requirement Calculation

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries separately calculates net revenue requirement under

Attachment based on its forecasted financial information specific to each company The following steps
illustrate the rate-setting methodology under forward-looking Attachment

Step One Establish Projected Rate Base and Calculate Projected Allowed Return

Rate base is projected using the average of the 13 projected month-end balances for the months

beginning with December 31 of the current year and ending with December 31 of the upcoming year and

consists primarily of projected in-service property plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation

as well as other items

Projected rate base is multiplied by the projected weighted average cost of capital to determine the

projected allowed return on rate base The weighted average cost of capital is calculated using projected

13 month average capital structure the forecasted pre-tax cost of the debt portion of the capital structure

and FERC-approved return of 13.88% 13.38% and 12.38% for lTCTransmission METC and ITC

Midwest respectively on the common equity portion of the forecasted capital structure

Step Two Calculate Projected Gross Revenue Requirement

The projected gross revenue requirement is calculated beginning with the projected allowed return on

rate base as calculated in Step One above and adding projected recoverable operating expenses and an

allowance for income taxes

Step Three Calculate Projected Net Revenue Requirement

After calculating the projected gross revenue requirement in Step Two above the projected gross
revenue requirement is adjusted for any prior year true-up adjustment discussed in Step Four and is

reduced for certain revenues other than network revenues such as projected point-to-point regional cost

sharing revenues and rental revenues This net amount represents our projected net revenue requirement
and is used to calculate our component of the joint zone network transmission rate to be billed to customers

for network transmission service

Step Four Calculate True-up Adjustment

The actual transmission revenues billed for the previous year will be compared to actual net revenue

requirement which is based primarily on amounts from the completed FERC Form No The true-up

adjustment that results from the difference between the actual revenue billed and actual net revenue

requirement will be added to the upcoming years projected net revenue requirement used to determine the

upcoming years joint zone network transmission rate For example the true-up adjustment relating to

2007 was calculated in 2008 upon completion of the 2007 FERC Form No and was included in the

projected net revenue requirement that is used to establish the joint zone network transmission rate that

became effective January 2009 Interest is also applied to the true-up adjustment

Illustration of Attachment Rate Setting Set forth below is simplified illustration of the calculation

of lTCTransmissions component of the joint zone network transmission rate for billing purposes under the

Attachment rate setting mechanism for the period from January 2009 through December 31 2009
that was based primarily upon projections of lTCTransmissions 2009 FERC Form No data Amounts
below are approximations of the amounts used to establish our projected net revenue requirement in the

2009 lTCTransmission Attachment filing lTCTransmissions component of the joint zone network
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Projected recoverable operating expenses for

2009 66400000

Projected taxes and depreciation and

amortization for 2009 $144350000

Projected gross revenue requirements for 2009 Line Line Line $308463930

Less projected revenue credits for 2009 42500000

Plus/less 2007 true-up adjustmentb 236017

Projected net revenue requirement for 2009 Line -Line Line $265727913

10 Projected 2009 network load in kW 8787000

11 Annual component of the joint zone network

transmission rate Line divided by Line 10 30.241

12 Monthly component of the joint zone network Line 11 divided by

transmission rate $/kW per month 12 months 2.520

The weighted average cost of capital for purposes of this illustration is calculated as follows

Percentage of

ITC Transmissions

Total Capitalization

40.00%

60.00%

100.00%

Cost of Capital

5.64%Pre-tax

13.88% After tax

The 2007 true-up adjustment is included in ITC Transmissions component of the 2009 billed joint zone

network transmission rate The 2008 true-up adjustment will not impact ITC Transmissions compo

nent of the 2009 billed joint zone network transmission rate but it will be included as component of

the projected net revenue requirement in the Attachment rate calculation for 2010

Trends and Seasonality

Network Revenues

We expect general trend of increases in network transmission rates and revenues for our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries although we cannot predict specific year-to-year trend due to the variability of

factors beyond our control The primary factor that is expected to continue to increase our rates and our

actual net revenue requirements in future years is our anticipated capital investment in excess of

depreciation as result of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries long-term capital investment programs

Investments in property plant and equipment when placed in service upon completion of capital project

are added to the rate base of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Our Regulated Operating

transmission rate is calculated by dividing the projected net revenue requirement by the sum of the

projected 12 coincident peak network loads divided by 12 months

Projected rate base the average of the

13 months ended December 31 2008 through

December 31 2009

Multiply by projected 13 month weighted

average cost of capitala

Projected allowed return on rate base Line Line

$922700000

10.59%

97713930

Debt

Equity

Weighted

Average
Cost of

Capital

2.26%

8.33%

10.59%
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Subsidiaries strive for high reliability of their systems and to improve accessibility to generation sources of

choice including renewable sources The Energy Policy Act was enacted which requires the FERC to

implement mandatory electric transmission reliability standards to be enforced by an Electric Reliability

Organization Effective June 2007 the FERC approved mandatory adoption of certain reliability standards

and approved enforcement actions for violators including fines of up to $1.0 million per day The NERC
was assigned the responsibility of developing and enforcing these mandatory reliability standards We

continually assess our transmission systems against standards established by the NERC as well as

ReliabilityFirst Corporation for llCTransmission and METC and Midwest Reliability Organization for ITC

Midwest which are regional entities under the NERC that have been delegated certain authority for the

purpose of proposing and enforcing reliability standards We believe we meet the applicable standards in

all material respects although further investment in our transmission systems is needed to maintain

compliance and improve reliability

We also assess our transmission systems against our own planning criteria that are filed annually with

the FERC Based on our planning studies we see needs to make capital investments to rebuild existing

property plant and equipment upgrade the system to address demographic changes that have

impacted transmission load and the changing role that transmission plays in meeting the needs of the

wholesale market including accommodating the siting of new generation or to increase import capacity to

meet changes in peak electrical demand and relieve congestion in the transmission systems The

following table shows our expected and actual capital investment for each of the Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries

Ten-Year Capital
Capital Investment

In millions Investment Program Actual For The Year Ended

Regulated Operating Subsidiary 2008-2017a Expected in 2009 December 31 2008b

llCTransmission 700 70- $85 $121.8

METC $1150 $110-$130 $121.1

ITC Midwest $1050 90- $110c $156.5d

The expected amounts for our ten-year program do not include $150 million for lTCTransmission and

METC combined and $250 million at ITC Midwest for estimated transmission network upgrades for

generator interconnections due to high degree of uncertainty on whether these projects will

ultimately be built and because they could replace other transmission projects currently being planned
This estimate for network upgrades could change significantly due to factors beyond our control such

as changes in the MISO queue for generation projects and whether the generator meets the various

criteria of Attachment FE of the MISO Transmission and Energy Market Tariff for the project to qualify

as refundable network upgrade among other factors In addition these amounts do not include any

possible capital investment associated with the projects discussed under Item Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent Develop

ments Development Activities

Capital investment amounts differ from cash expenditures for property plant and equipment included

in our consolidated statements of cash flows due in part to differences in construction costs incurred

compared to cash paid during that period as well as payments for major equipment inventory that are

included in cash expenditures but not included in capital investment until transferred to construction

work in progress among other factors

Amounts do not include an estimated additional $30 million that we expect to incur at ITC Midwest to

purchase and complete construction on substation and to purchase transmission line

In December 2008 refundable advances from generator received by lIC Midwest for transmission

network upgrades were reclassified to contribution in aid of construction effectively reducing the

property plant and equipment recorded for these network upgrades to $0 The generator did not meet

the various criteria of Attachment FE of the MISO Transmission and Energy Market Tariff at its

commercial operation date for the project to qualify for refund Consequently $6.7 million of contri

butions in aid of construction for network upgrades reduced the amount of ITC Midwests capital
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investments in 2008 all of which had previously been reported as capital investment in Form 1OQ for

the period ended September 30 2008 Additionally upon reclassifying the refundable advances to

contribution in aid of construction the cash receipts from the generator become taxable income for

income tax reporting purposes We are permitted to charge tax gross-up to the generator for the

difference between the total taxable income to be reported compared to the present value of tax

depreciation of the property constructed using the contribution in aid of construction This tax-gross up

is anticipated to be approximately $2.3 million and will be recorded as other operating income when

collectability from the generator is reasonably assured

Investments in property plant and equipment could vary due to among other things the impact of

actual loads forecasted loads regional economic conditions weather conditions union strikes labor

shortages material and equipment prices and availability our ability to obtain financing for such expen

ditures if necessary limitations on the amount of construction that can be undertaken on our systems at

any one time regulatory approvals for reasons relating to rate construct environmental siting regional

planning cost recovery or other issues or as result of legal proceedings and variances between

estimated and actual costs of construction contracts awarded

Seasonality and Attachment Revenue Accrual

Prior to the implementation of forward-looking Attachment effective January 2007 for lTCTrans

mission and METC the revenues recognized by these subsidiaries were dependent on monthly peak
loads Revenues and net income varied between periods based on monthly peak loads among other

factors To the extent that actual conditions during an annual period varied from the data on which the

Attachment rate was based our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries earned more or less revenue during

that annual period and therefore recovered more or less than their respective net revenue requirements

Under forward-looking Attachment although the monthly peak loads continue to be used for billing

network revenues and continue to affect operating cash flows our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

accrue or defer revenues to the extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is

higher or lower respectively than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period This results in more

consistent net income for each quarterly period within given year compared to the historical Attachment

method that previously applied to lTCTransmission and METC

The monthly peak load of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is affected by many factors but is

generally higher in the summer months when cooling demand is higher lTCTransmissions monthly peak

loads for the year ended December 31 2008 were down 10.5% and 5.4% compared to the corresponding

totals for 2007 and 2006 respectively METCs monthly peak loads for the year ended December31 2008

were down 9.0% compared to the corresponding total for 2007 In 2008 lTCTrarismission and METC
monthly peak loads were lower than what had been forecasted in developing the transmission network

rates applicable for 2008 due to cooler than normal weather as well as unfavorable economic factors in

Michigan An unfavorable economy in Michigan that results in lower network loads than what had been

forecasted in developing the transmission network rates applicable for 2009 would continue to negatively

impact our operating cash flows from network revenues in 2009 Transmission network rates in 2010 at

each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries will include the Attachment revenue accrual for the under

recovered amounts relating to 2008 including interest
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Monthly Peak Load in MW
2008 2007 2006

iTCTransmission METC 1TC Midwest iTCTransmission METC ITC Mldwestb llClransmlsslon METCc

January 7890 6215 2974 7876 6051 7754

February 7715 6159 2890 8170 6227 7667

March 7532 5797 2733 7739 6006 7554

April 6926 5223 2455 7141 5473 7035

May 7051 5328 2431 9927 6981 10902

June 10624 7241 2888 11761 8511 9752

July 11016 8042 3376 11706 8672 12392

August 10890 7818 3259 12087 8955 12745

September 10311 7667 3191 11033 7908 8415

October 6893 5519 2786 10365 7524 7302 5642

November 7205 5820 2944 7812 6200 7724 6103

December 7636 6280 3003 8022 6215 2706 8257 6527

Total 101689 77109 34930 113639 84723 2706 107499 18272

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is part of joint rate zone The load data presented is for

all transmission owners in the respective joint rate zone and is used for billing network revenues Each

of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries makes up the significant portion of network load within their

respective joint rate zone

ITC Midwests results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its

acquisition of the electric transmission assets of IPL on December 20 2007

METCs results of operations and cash flows are included for the periods subsequent to its acquisition

on October 10 2006

Significant Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We derive nearly all of our revenues from providing network transmission service point-to-point

transmission service and other related services over our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

systems to Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and to other entities such as alternative electricity

suppliers power marketers and other wholesale customers that provide electricity to end-use consumers

and from transaction-based capacity reservations on our transmission systems MISO is responsible for

billing and collection of transmission services in the MISO service territory MISO as the billing agent for

our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries collects fees for the use of our transmission systems invoicing

Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly basis MISO has implemented

credit policies for its members customers

Network Revenues are generated from network customers for their use of our electric transmission

systems during the one hour of monthly peak usage and consist of both billed network revenues and

accrued or deferred network revenues as result of our accounting under forward-looking Attachment

Refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper

ations Critical Accounting Policies Revenue Recognition under Forward-Looking Attachment for

discussion of revenue recognition relating to network revenues The monthly network revenues billed to

customers using our transmission facilities are the result of calculation which can be simplified into the

following

multiplythe network load measured in kWs achieved during the one hour of monthly peak

usage for our transmission systems by the appropriate monthly tariff rate as calculated under

Attachment by 12 by the number of days in that month and

divide the result by 365
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Point-to-Point Revenues consist of revenues generated from type of transmission service for

which the customer pays for transmission capacity reserved along specified path between two points on

an hourly daily weekly or monthly basis Point-to-point revenues also include other components pursuant

to schedules under the MISO transmission tariff

Regional Cost Sharing Revenues consist of revenues received from transmission customers

associated with network upgrades to our transmission systems that are eligible for regional cost sharing

under Attachment FF of the MISO Transmission and Energy Market Tariff Docket No ERO6-1 Regional

cost sharing revenues became applicable for us during 2008

Scheduling Control and Dispatch Revenues are allocated to our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries by MISO as compensation for the services performed in operating the control area Such services

include processing energy schedule requests monitoring of reliability data implementation of emergency

procedures and coordination of the control area operation Revenues that are allocated by MISO to our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries relating to these services are not determined based on actual expenses

incurred by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries In any given year our Regulated Operating Subsid

iaries may earn more or less scheduling control and dispatch revenues than our actual expenses incurred

Other Revenues consist of rental revenues easement revenues and amounts from providing

ancillary services to customers

Operating Expenses

Operation and Maintenance Expenses consist primarily of the costs of contractors to operate and

maintain our transmission systems and costs for our personnel involved in operation and maintenance

activities

Operation expenses include activities related to control area operations which involve balancing

loads and generation and transmission system operations activities including monitoring the status of our

transmission lines and stations The expenses relating to METCs Easement Agreement are also recorded

within operation expenses

Maintenance expenses include preventive or planned maintenance such as vegetation manage
ment tower painting and equipment inspections as well as reactive maintenance for equipment failures

General and Administrative Expenses consist primarily of costs for personnel in our finance

human resources regulatory information technology and legal organizations general office expenses and

fees for professional services Professional services are principally composed of outside legal audit and

information technology services

We capitalize to property plant and equipment certain general and administrative expenses such as

compensation office rent utilities and information technology These expenses are included in property

plant and equipment on our consolidated statements of financial position

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses consist primarily of depreciation of property plant and

equipment using the straight-line method of accounting Additionally this consists of amortization of

various regulatory and intangible assets

Taxes other than Income Taxes consist primarily of property taxes and payroll taxes Additionally

Michigan Single Business Taxes were recorded here through December 31 2007 prior to the January

2008 effective date of the new Michigan Business Tax that is accounted for as an income tax

Other Operating Income and Expense Net consists primarily of gains and losses associated

with the sale of assets and gains associated with the sale of permanent land easements Additionally this

item consists of any income recognized for tax gross-ups for taxable contributions in aid of construction

received representing the difference between the total taxable income to be reported compared to the

present value of tax depreciation of the property constructed using the contribution in aid of construction
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Other items of income or expense

Interest Expense consists primarily of interest on long term debt at ITC Holdings and our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries Additionally the amortization of debt financing expenses is recorded to interest

expense An allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included in property plant and

equipment accounts and is reduction to interest expense

Allowance for Equity Funds Used During Construction AFUDC Equity is recorded as an item

of other income and is included in property plant and equipment accounts The allowance represents

return on stockholders equity used for construction purposes in accordance with FERC regulations

Assuming all other factors are constant if construction work in progress balances increase AFUDC Equity

will also increase The capitalization rate applied to the construction work in progress balance is based on

the proportion of equity to total capital which currently includes equity and long-term debt and the allowed

return on equity for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Income tax provision

Income tax provision consists primarily of federal income taxes Additionally we record income tax

provisions for the various state income taxes we are subject to including the Michigan Business Tax that

became effective for us on January 2008

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes historical operating results for the periods indicated
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45965

21457

27772

11184

154
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Year Ended
Percentage Year Ended Percentage

December 31 Increase increase December 31 Increase Increase

2008 2007 decrease decrease 2006 decrease decrease

In thousands

OPERATING REVENUES $617877 $426249 $191628 45.0% $223622 $202627 90.6%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance 129.7%

General and administrative 52.8%

Depreciation and amortization 69.2%

Taxes other than income taxes 50.5%

Other operating income and expense-

net 121 18.3%

Total operating expenses 86179 77.5%

OPERATING INCOME 105449 111.6%

OTHER EXPENSES INCOME
Interest expense 122234 81863 40371 49.3% 42049 39814 94.7%

Allowance for equity funds used

during construction 11610 8145 3465 104.8%

Loss on extinguishment of debt 349 349 81.4%

Other income 3415 3457 42 47.2%

Other expense 3944 1618 2326 0.7%

Total other expenses income 111153 72228 38925 53.9% 39227 33001 84.1%

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 176470 109946 66524 60.5% 46852 63094 134.7%

INCOME TAX PROVISION 67262 36650 30612 83.5% 13658 22992 168.3%

INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 109208 73296 35912 49.0% 33194 40102 120.8%

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE NET
OF TAX OF $16 n/a 29 29 100.0%

NET INCOME $109208 73296 35912 49.0% 33223 40073 120.6%

42.5%

100.0%

1.2%
143.8%

3977
1874

2348
1629

4168
1525
1109

11
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Operating Revenues

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

The following table sets forth the components of and changes in operating revenues

2008 2007
Percentage

Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Increase Increase

In thousands

Network revenues $558896 90.5% $390331 91.6% $168565 43.2%

Point-to-point 23417 3.8% 19321 4.5% 4096 21.2%

Scheduling control and

dispatch 16972 2.7% 14674 3.4% 2298 15.7%

Regional cost sharing

revenues 15534 2.5% 0.0% 15534 100.0%

Other 3058 0.5% 1923 0.5% 1135 59.0%

Total $617877 100.0% $426249 100.0% $191628 45.0%

Network revenues increased $133.5 million due to ITC Midwests asset acquisition in December of

2007 Additionally lTCTransmission and METC recognized additional network revenues of $18.6 million

and $16.5 million respectively due to higher net revenue requirement as result of higher rate base

operating expenses and taxes among other items during 2008 as compared to 2007

The table below represents the calculation of the estimated Attachment revenue accrual for the year

ended December 31 2008

Total Revenue

Line Item IlCTransmlsslonc METCc ITC Midwestd Accrual

In thousands

Estimated net revenue requirement

network revenuesa $257156 $165803 $135937

Network revenues billedb 239473 153530 85085

Attachment revenue accrual

line 1line 17683 12273 50852 $80808

The calculation of net revenue requirement is described in Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Rate Setting and Attachment Net

Revenue Requirement Calculation The amount is estimated until such time FERC Form No ls are

completed for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and the calculations are filed with and reviewed

by MISO each year

Network revenues billed at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are calculated based on the joint

zone monthly network peak load multiplied by our effective monthly network rates of $2.350 per kW/

month $1 .985 per kW/month and $2.446 per kW/month applicable to lTCTransmission METC and

ITC Midwest respectively adjusted for the actual number of days in the month

The amount of revenue accrual at lTCTransmission and METC were primarily the result of lower peak

loads compared to what had been forecasted in developing the transmission network rates applicable

for 2008

ITC Midwests billed network rate was frozen during 2008 which was the primary reason for the

revenue accrual

Point-to-point revenues increased due primarily to ITC Midwests asset acquisition resulting in

$3.9 million of additional revenues

Scheduling control and dispatch revenues increased due primarily to ITC Midwests asset acquisition

resulting in $2.4 million of additional revenues
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Regional cost sharing revenues became applicable for us during 2008 We expect to continue to

receive regional cost sharing revenues and the amounts could become more significant in the near future

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

The following table sets forth the components of and changes in operating revenues

Percentage
2007 2006

Increase increase

Amount Percentage Amount Percentage decrease decrease

In thousands

Network revenues $390331 91.6% $206514 92.4% $183817 89.0%

Point-to-point 19321 4.5% 7012 3.1% 12309 175.5%

Scheduling control and

dispatch 14674 3.4% 8274 3.7% 6400 77.4%

Other 1923 0.5% 1822 0.8% 101 5.5%

Total $426249 100.0% $223622 100.0% $202627 90.6%

Network revenues increased by $124.4 million due to the inclusion of amounts for METC for the year

ended December 31 2007 as compared to the period of October 10 2006 through December 31 2006

and $2.5 million due to ITC Midwests asset acquisition in December of 2007 In addition network

revenues increased by $46.4 million due to increases in the rate used for network revenues at ITC
Transmission from $1 .594 per kW/month for the period from January through May of 2006 and $1 .744 kW/

month from June through December of 2006 to $2.099 per kW/month for the year ended December 31
2007 Network revenues also increased by $10.6 million due to an increase of 5.7% in the network load at

lTCTransmission for the year ended December 31 2007 compared to the same period in 2006

The estimated Attachment revenue accrual deferral-net at lTCTransmission and METC resulted

from actual net revenue requirement for the year ended December 31 2007 that exceeded network

revenues billed for the year ended December 31 2007 The table below represents the calculation of the

total Attachment revenue accrual deferral-net for the year ended December 31 2007

Total Revenue
Line Item IlCTransmission METCb Accrual-net

In thousands

Estimated net revenue requirement network
revenues $238599 $149262

Network revenues billeda 238803 129276

Attachment revenue accrual deferral-net

line 1line 204 19986 $19782

Network revenues billed at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are calculated based on the joint

zone monthly network peak load multiplied by our effective monthly network rates of $2.099 per kW/

month and $1 .524 per kW/month applicable to lTCTransmission and METC respectively adjusted for

the actual number of days in the month

METCs billed network rate was frozen during 2007 which was the primary reason for the revenue

accrual

Point-to-point revenues increased due primarily to $7.2 million of additional METC revenues included for

the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to the period of October 10 2006 through December 31
2006 Also lTCTransmission recognized $4.0 million of additional point-to-point revenues for transmission

capacity reservations in 2007 compared to 2006
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Scheduling control and dispatch revenues increased due primarily to $5.0 million of additional METC
revenues included for the year ended December31 2007 as compared to the period of October 10 2006

through December 31 2006

Operating Expenses

Operation and maintenance expenses

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Operation and maintenance expenses increased due primarily to amounts incurred by ITC Midwest of

$27.6 million ITC Midwest incurred $21.5 million of expenses for transmission structure maintenance

inspections and other maintenance activities ITC Midwest also incurred transmission system monitoring

and control expenses of $4.7 million primarily under its services agreement with lPL and operating

agreement with ATC and incurred $1.2 million for incentive bonuses for ITC Midwest integration activities

In addition to the increases in operation and maintenance expenses relating to ITC Midwest METC
incurred additional vegetation management expenses of $6.9 million

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Operation and maintenance expenses increased due primarily to the acquisition of METC in October

2006 METC incurred additional expenses of $24.2 million for contractor expenses for substation oper

ations transmission structure maintenance vegetation management inspections general site mainte

nance and maintenance support costs such as tools equipment rentals and supplies METC also incurred

additional expenses of $7.9 million for easement payments to Consumers Energy $1.4 million for ancillary

services and $0.5 million for asset mapping activities Operation and maintenance expenses at ITC

Transmission increased by $10.3 million primarily due to additional tower painting vegetation manage
ment transmission structure maintenance inspections general site maintenance and maintenance

support costs We also incurred $1.9 million of additional expenses for transmission system monitoring

and control due to the increased activity at our operations facility needed to operate both lTCTransmis

sions and METCs transmission systems during the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to only

operating lTCTransmissions transmission system until METC was acquired in October 2006 Finally we

incurred operation and maintenance expenses of $0.3 million at ITC Midwest during 2007

General and administrative expenses

Year Ended December31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

General and administrative expenses increased by $6.4 million due to higher professional advisory

and consulting services $6.3 million due to higher business expenses primarily for information technology

support and $1.3 million due to higher compensation and benefits expenses primarily resulting from

personnel additions and incentive bonuses for ITC Midwest integration activities all of which include

incremental costs incurred by ITC Midwest Additionally we awarded an executive bonus in the form of

deferred stock unit grant resulting in $0.9 million of expense General and administrative expenses also

increased by $4.2 million at ITC Grid Development and its subsidiaries for salaries benefits and general

business expenses due to increased development activities which are not included in the increases

explained above

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

The increase in general and administrative expenses consisted of $9.4 million due to higher com
pensation and benefits expenses primarily resulting from personnel additions for administrative functions

needed to support our increased level of activities $2.2 million due to higher professional advisory and

consulting services $4.9 million due to higher business expenses including information technology

support and contract labor and $0.5 million due to higher insurance premiums all of which include

incremental costs incurred as result of the METC acquisition In addition general and administrative
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expenses increased by $2.6 million due to expenses under the special bonus plans as described in

Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and due to offering costs of $0.6 million associated with

securities offering by International Transmission Holdings Limited Partnership formerly our largest

shareholder Expenses also increased by $1.4 million at ITC Grid Development and its subsidiaries for

salaries benefits and general business expenses not included in the increases explained above

Depreciation and amortization expenses

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $18.6 million as result of hG Midwests asset

acquisition in December 2007 Additionally we recognized additional depreciation expense of $5.4 million

and $2.8 million at lTCTransmission and METC respectively due primarily to higher depreciable asset

base resulting from property plant and equipment additions

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased due primarily to the acquisition of METC in 2006

resulting in $17.7 million of depreciation expense associated with property plant and equipment and

amortization expense associated with the METC Regulatory Deferral and the METC ADIT Deferral of

$6.2 million in 2007 Additionally we recognized additional depreciation expense of $6.4 million at

ITCTransmission due primarily to higher depreciable asset base resulting from property plant and

equipment additions Finally we recognized $0.5 million of deprecation and amortization expenses at ITC

Midwest in 2007

Taxes other than income taxes

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Taxes other than income taxes increased due to additional property tax expenses at ITC Midwest of

$6.2 million as result of ITC Midwests asset acquisition in December 2007 Additionally property tax

expenses at lTCTransmission and METC increased by $3.1 million and $0.8 million due primarily to

lTCTransmissions and METCs capital additions which are included in the assessments for 2008 personal

property taxes Partially offsetting these increases was decrease of $2.7 million as result of the

replacement of the Michigan Single Business Tax discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial

statements

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Taxes other than income taxes increased due to property tax expenses of $8.0 million at METC during

the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to $1.5 million for the period October 10 2006 through

December 31 2006 Additionally property tax expenses at lTCTransmission increased by $3.4 million

primarily due to lTCTransmissions 2006 capital additions which are included in the assessments for

2007 personal property taxes Taxes other than income taxes also increased by $0.8 million due to higher

payroll taxes

Other operating income and expense net

During the year ended December31 2008 METC sold building resulting in loss of $0.5 million and

lTCTransmission sold permanent easement of land for gain of $1.4 million

During the year ended December31 2007 lTCTransmission sold permanent easement of land for

gain of $0.7 million
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Other expenses income

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Interest expense increased due primarily to higher borrowing levels to finance capital expenditures

and ITC Midwests asset acquisition

AFUDC Equity increased due to increased property plant and equipment expenditures and the

resulting higher construction work in progress balances during 2008 compared to 2007

Other expenses increased due primarily to realized and unrealized losses on our trading securities

recognized during 2008 from the recent financial market conditions that have caused decrease in our

investment values

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Interest expense increased due primarily to higher borrowing levels to finance capital expenditures

and to finance the METC acquisition Additionally METC recognized interest expense of $10.2 million

during the year ended December 31 2007 as compared to $2.8 million for the period October 10 2006

through December 31 2006

AFUDC Equity increased due to increased property plant and equipment expenditures and the

resulting higher construction work in progress balances during 2007 compared to 2006 Additionally

METC recognized AFUDC Equity of $1.7 million during the year ended December 31 2007 as compared

$0.1 million for the period October 10 2006 through December 31 2006

Income Tax Provision

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Our effective tax rate for the year ended December31 2008 of 38.1% differed from our 35% statutory

federal income tax rate due primarily to the state income tax provision of $9.0 million recorded during the

year ended December31 2008 partially offset by the tax effects of AFUDC Equity The state income tax

provision is primarily result of the new Michigan Single Business Tax as discussed in Note 10 to the

consolidated financial statements The amount of income tax expense relating to AFUDC Equity is

recognized as regulatory asset and not included in the income tax provision Our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries include taxes payable relating to AFUDC Equity in their actual net revenue requirements Our

effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2007 of 33.3% differed from our 35% statutory federal

income tax rate due primarily to our accounting for the tax effects of AFUDC Equity

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 of 33.3% and 29.2%

respectively differed from our 35% statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to our accounting for the

tax effects of AFUDC Equity This accounting treatment became applicable for lTCTransmission and

METC during 2006 upon receiving approval to use forward-looking Attachment We recognized

$2.7 million and $2.9 million reduction in income tax expense during 2007 and 2006 respectively due to

the recognition of regulatory asset for AFUDC Equity

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to fund our future capital requirements with cash from operations our existing cash and

cash equivalents amounts available under our revolving credit agreements the terms of which are

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements and issuances under our Sales Agency

Financing Agreement the SAFE Agreement entered into in June 2008 The SAFE Agreement allows us

to issue and sell up to $150 million of our common shares in the market from time to time through June

2011 subject to continued approval from the FERC authorizing ITC Holdings to issue equity as described

in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements In addition we may secure additional funding in the
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financial markets although we can provide no assurance that we will be able to obtain financing on

favorable terms or at all We expect that our capital requirements will arise principally from our need to

Fund capital expenditures at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Our plans with regard to

property plant and equipment investments are described in detail above under Item Manage

ments Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Trends and

Seasonality

Fund working capital requirements

Fund our debt service requirements which are described in detail below under Item Manage

ments Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Contractual

Obligations We expect our interest payments to increase during 2009 compared to 2008 as result

of additional debt incurred in 2008 and 2009 to fund our capital expenditures

Fund dividends to holders of our common stock

Fund contributions to our retirement plans as described in Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements The impact of the growth in the number of participants in our retirement benefit plans

the recent financial market conditions that have caused decrease in the value of our retirement

plan assets and changes in the requirements of the Pension Protection Act may require contribu

tions to our retirement plans to be higher than we have experienced in the past

Fund business development expenses and related capital expenditures We are pursuing other

development activities described above under Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations Recent Developments Development Activities

that result in development expense and could result in significant capital expenditures

We believe that we have sufficient capital resources to meet our currently anticipated short-term

needs We rely on both internal and externŁl sources of liquidity to provide working capital and to fund

capital investments We expect to continue to utilize our revolving credit agreements and our cash and

cash equivalents as needed to meet our other short-term cash requirements As of December 31 2008

we had consolidated indebtedness under our revolving credit agreements of $129.2 million with unused

capacity under the agreements of $210.8 million or $161.1 million of unused capacity if reduced by the

undrawn portion of Lehmans commitment of $49.7 million described below In addition as of Decem

ber 31 2008 we had $58.1 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand which exceeds the amounts that

we would typically maintain for operating purposes in the event conditions in the credit market worsen

We do not expect the recent events in the capital markets to have significant impact on our short-

term liquidity due to the diverse bank group within our revolving credit agreement syndication However

Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndication was included in bankruptcy filing

made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on September 14 2008 Lehmans commitment of

$55.0 million was 16.2% of our total revolving credit agreement capacity of $340.0 million and we had

$5.3 million outstanding under the agreements at December 31 2008 relating to Lehmans participation

We are attempting to identify replacement bank to fulfill Lehmans commitment but given the favorable

terms of our existing agreement compared to current market conditions it is unlikely we will be able to find

replacement bank We believe we have sufficient unused capacity under our revolving credit agreements

without the Lehman capacity to meet our short-term capital requirements

For our long-term capital requirements we expect that we will need to obtain additional debt and

equity financing We expect to be able to obtain such additional financing as needed in amounts and upon

terms that will be reasonably satisfactory to us
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Credit Ratings

Standard and Poors Moodys Investor

Issuer Issuance Ratings Servicesa Service Inc.b

ITC Holdings Senior Notes BBB Baa3

lTCTransmission First Mortgage Bonds A3

METC Senior Secured Notes A3

ITC Midwest First Mortgage Bonds A3

Our Standard and Poors Rating Services credit ratings have stable outlook

Our Moodys Investor Service Inc credit ratings have positive outlook

We believe our investment-grade credit ratings should provide significant degree of flexibility in

obtaining funds on competitive terms However these credit ratings reflect the views of the rating agencies

only An explanation of the significance of these ratings may be obtained from each rating agency Such

ratings are not recommendation to buy sell or hold debt securities but rather an indication of

creditworthiness Any rating can be revised upward or downward or withdrawn at any time by rating

agency if it decides that the circumstances warrant the change Each rating should be evaluated

independently of any other rating

Covenants

Our debt instruments include senior notes secured notes first mortgage bonds and revolving credit

agreements containing numerous financial and operating covenants that place significant restrictions on

among other things our ability to

incur additional indebtedness

engage in sale and lease-back transactions

create liens or other encumbrances

enter into mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions or sell or otherwise dispose of all or

substantially all of our assets

create or acquire subsidiaries and

pay dividends or make distributions on ITC Holdings and lTCTransmissions capital stock or METCs

and ITC Midwests members capital

We are currently in compliance with all debt covenants
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes cash flows for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income
109208 73296 33223

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating
activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 94769 67928 40156

Attachment revenue accrual including accrued

interest
83390 20325

Deferred income tax expense 65054 36650 13230

Other
1240 1523 3309

Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of changes

shown separately
11020 20242 28050

Net cash provided by operating activities 195421 135784 61868

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for property plant and equipment 401840 287170 167496

ITC Midwests asset acquisition including acquisition direct

fees
5722 794490

METC acquisition including acquisition
direct fees and net

of cash acquired
254 495645

Other
6242 6384 1697

Net cash used in investing activities 401320 1075530 661444

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net issuance/repayment of long-term debt including

revolving credit agreements 4516 981000 436286

Issuance of common stock 310543 3402 202253

Dividends on common stock 58935 48168 38307

Other
5269 7298 11821

Net cash provided by financing activities 261393 928936 588411

NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 55494 10810 11165

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of period 2616 13426 24591

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSEnd of period 58110 2616 13426

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $59.6 million in 2008 over 2007 The increase in

cash provided by operating activities was due primarily to higher network revenues billed the recognition

of regional cost sharing revenues higher point-to-point revenues and scheduling control and dispatch

revenues of $110.0 million $15.5 million $4.1 million and $2.3 million respectively Additionally cash

provided by operating activities increased in 2008 due to 2007 payments of $20.0 million to various

transmission customers pursuant to the METC rate case settlement discussed in Note to the consol

idated financial statements These increases were partially offset by higher operating and maintenance
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expenses general and administrative expenses and taxes other than income tax expenses in 2008 of

$32.4 million $19.2 million and $7.8 million respectively Additionally we made $28.7 million of additional

interest payments net of interest capitalized during the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the

same period in 2007 due primarily to higher outstanding balances of long-term debt

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $73.9 million in 2007 over 2006 The increase in

cash provided by operating activities was due primarily to higher network revenues billed point-to-point

revenues and scheduling control and dispatch revenues of $164.0 million $12.3 million and $6.4 million

respectively These increases were partially offset by higher operating and maintenance expenses

general and administrative expenses and taxes other than income tax expenses in 2007 of $46.0 million

$21.5 million and $1 1.2 million respectively primarily as result of the acquisition of METC Additionally

we made $33.5 million of additional interest payments net of interest capitalized during the year ended

December 31 2007 compared to the same period in 2006 due primarily to higher outstanding balances of

long-term debt

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $674.2 million in 2008 compared to 2007 The

decrease in cash used in investing activities was due primarily to payments of ITC Midwests asset

acquisition purchase price and related direct acquisition fees in 2007 The decrease in cash used in

investing activities was partially offset by higher levels of capital investment in property plant and

equipment in 2008 due primarily to activities at ITC Midwest

Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Net cash used in investment activities increased $414.1 million in 2007 over 2006 The increase in

cash used in investing activities was due primarily to payments of ITC Midwests asset acquisition

purchase price and related direct acquisition fees in 2007 and higher levels in investment in property

plant and equipment in 2007 The increase in cash used in investing activities was partially offset by

payments made in 2006 for the purchase price and related direct acquisition fees associated with the

indirect acquisition of METC

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Year Ended December 31 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31 2007

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $667.5 million in 2008 compared to 2007 The

decrease in cash provided by financing activities was due primarily to the 2007 issuance of the

$765.0 million ITC Holdings Bridge Facility used to temporarily finance ITC Midwests asset acquisition

net decrease in borrowings under our revolving credit facilities of $129.3 million during 2008 as compared

to 2007 the 2007 issuance by lTCTransmission of its $100.0 million First Mortgage Bonds Series and

an additional $10.8 million of dividend payments during 2008 as compared to 2007 These decreases in

cash provided by financing activities were partially offset by $101.2 million of additional permanent

financing in excess of the amounts redeemed in full under the ITC Holdings Bridge Facility in January

2008 $13.3 million of additional net proceeds associated with refundable deposits for transmission

network upgrades and $224.9 million of proceeds from the 2008 issuances of lTCTransmissions First

Mortgage Bonds Series METCs Senior Secured Notes and ITC Midwests First Mortgage Bonds

Series and Series
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Year Ended December 31 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31 2006

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $340.5 million in 2007 over 2006 due primarily to

the 2007 issuances of $100.0 million of ITC Holdings Senior Notes Series and Series and the

$765.0 million ITC Holdings Bridge Facility Cash from financing activities also increased due to the net

increase in borrowings of $165.8 million under our revolving credit facilities in 2007 compared to 2006 and

the redemption or repayment of $123.5 million of long-term debt in 2006 These increases were partially

offset by proceeds from the financings in 2006 associated with the METC acquisition including the

issuance of $510.0 million of ITC Holdings Senior Notes and the offering of common shares of $200.5 mil

lion net of underwriters discount and other offering fees Additionally in 2006 lTCTransmission issued

$100.0 million of First Mortgage Bonds to finance investments in property plant and equipment

Contractual Obligations

The following table details our contractual obligations as of December 31 2008

Less Than More Than

In thousands
Total Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years Years

Long-term debt

ITC Holdings Senior Notes $1262000 $317000 945000

ITC Holdings revolving credit

agreement 67953 67953

ITCTransmission First Mortgage

Bonds 385000 185000 200000

ITCTransmission/METC revolving

credit agreement 42064 42064

METC Senior Secured Notes 225000 50000 175000

ITC Midwest First Mortgage Bonds 250000 250000

ITC Midwest revolving credit

agreement 19218 19218

Interest payments

ITC Holdings Senior Notes 938645 74683 200756 142980 520226

ITCTransmission First Mortgage

Bonds 277630 20108 60323 36465 160734

METC Senior Secured Notes 103185 13378 40133 26755 22919

ITC Midwest First Mortgage Bonds 385472 16176 48526 32350 288420

Operating leases 530 326 166 38

Deferred payables 1222 1222

Purchase obligations 42795 30540 9426 2829

METC Easement Agreement 420000 10000 30000 20000 360000

Total obligations $4420714 $166433 $499347 $832635 $2922299

Interest payments included above relate only to our fixed-rate long-term debt outstanding at Decem
ber 31 2008 We also expect to pay interest and commitment fees under our variable-rate revolving credit

agreements that have not been included above due to varying amounts of borrowings and interest rates

under the facilities In 2008 we paid $4.7 million of interest and commitment fees under our revolving credit

agreements

Purchase obligations represent commitments for materials services and equipment that had not

been received as of December31 2008 primarily for construction and maintenance projects for which we
have an executed contract The majority of the items relate to materials and equipment that have long

production lead times
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The Easement Agreement provides METC with an easement for transmission purposes and rights-of-

way leasehold interests fee interests and licenses associated with the land over which the transmission

lines cross The cost for use of the rights-of-way is $10.0 million per year The term of the Easement

Agreement runs through December31 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals thereafter

Payments to Consumers Energy under the Easement Agreement are charged to operation and main

tenance expense

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen

erally accepted in the United States GAAP The preparation of these consolidated financial statements

requires the application of appropriate technical accounting rules and guidance as well as the use of

estimates The application of these policies necessarily involves judgments regarding future events These

estimates and judgments in and of themselves could materially impact the consolidated financial

statements and disclosures based on varying assumptions as future events rarely develop exactly as

forecasted and the best estimates routinely require adjustment

The following is list of accounting policies that are most significant to the portrayal of our financial

condition and results of operations and/or that require managements most difficult subjective or complex

judgments

Regulation

Nearly all of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries business is subject to regulation by the FERC As

result we apply accounting principles in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 71 Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation SEAS 71 Use of SFAS 71 results in

differences in the application of GAAP between regulated and non-regulated businesses SFAS 71

requires the recording of regulatory assets and liabilities for certain transactions that would have been

treated as expense or revenue in non-regulated businesses Future regulatory changes or changes in the

competitive environment could result in discontinuing the application of SFAS 71 If we were to discontinue

the application of SFAS 71 on our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations we may be required to

record losses of $224.5 million relating to the regulatory assets at December31 2008 that are described in

Note to the consolidated financial statements We also may be required to record losses of $52.4 million

relating to intangible assets at December 31 2008 that are described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements Additionally we may be required to record gains of $196.9 million relating to

regulatory liabilities at December 31 2008 primarily for asset removal costs that have been accrued

in advance of incurring these costs

We believe that currently available facts support the continued applicability of SFAS 71 and that all

regulatory assets and liabilities are recoverable or refundable under our current rate environment

Revenue Recognition under Forward-Looking Attachment

Beginning January 2007 for lTCTransmission and METC and January 12008 for ITC Midwest our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries recover expenses and earn return on and recover investments in

property plant and equipment on current rather than lagging basis under forward-looking

Attachment

Under the forward-looking Attachment formula our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries use fore

casted expenses additions to in-service property plant and equipment point-to-point revenues network

load and other items for the upcoming calendar year to establish their projected net revenue requirements

and their component of the billed network rates for service on their systems from January to December31

of that year The forward-looking Attachment formula includes true-up mechanism whereby our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed revenues

for each year
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The true-up mechanism under forward-looking Attachment meets the requirements of Emerging

Issues Task Force No 92-7 Accounting by Rate-Regulated Utilities for the Effects of Certain Alternative

Revenue Programs EITF 92-7 Accordingly revenue is recognized for services provided during each

reporting period based on our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries actual net revenue requirements

calculated using forward-looking Attachment Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrues

or defers revenues to the extent that their actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher

or lower respectively than the amounts billed relating to that reporting period The true-up amount is

automatically reflected in customer bills within two years under the provisions of forward-looking Attach

ment

lTCTransmissions Attachment Rate Freeze Revenue Deferral

lTCTransmissions rate freeze revenue deferral resulted from the difference between the revenue

lTCTransmission would have collected under Attachment and the actual revenue lTCTransmission

received based on the frozen rate of $1 .075 kw/month for the period from February 28 2003 through

December 31 2004 The cumulative revenue deferral at the end of the rate freeze was $59.7 million

$38.8 million net of tax The revenue deferral and related taxes are not reflected as an asset or as revenue

in our consolidated financial statements because they do not meet the criteria to be recorded as regulatory

assets in accordance with SFAS 71 or EITF 92-7 SFAS 71 provides that an enterprise shall capitalize all or

part of an incurred cost that would otherwise be charged to expense if certain criteria are met including

whether it is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost will result from

inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for ratemaking purposes Although the amortization of the revenue

deferral is an allowable component of rates based on the FERCs approval obtained for this item the

revenue deferral does not represent an incurred cost Rather it is delayed recovery of revenue based on

many components of our tariff rate including incurred costs rate base capital structure network load and

other components of Attachment Additionally EITF 92-7 provides that regulated enterprise should

recognize revenue for other than incurred costs if the revenue program meets certain criteria The revenue

deferral did not satisfy the criteria of EITF 92-7 to record the revenue deferral in the year it was determined

as the amounts will not be collected within two years following the end of the year in which the amount was
established We will recognize revenues from June 2006 through December 2011 as the revenue deferral

amount is amortized for ratemaking on straight-line basis and included in Attachment

Purchase Accounting

ITC Holdings acquisitions of lTClransmission and METC and ITC Midwests acquisition of the lPL
transmission assets were accounted for using the purchase method prescribed by Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 141 Business Combinations SEAS 141 The provisions of ITC Holdings

acquisition of lTCTransmission from DTE Energy required an adjustment to the original $610.0 million

acquisition price based on the closing balance sheet at February 28 2003 prepared by DTE Energy
Subsequent to February 28 2003 and through 2007 ITC Holdings and DTE Energy negotiated adjust
ments to the purchase price relating to the acquisition for various property plant and equipment inventory

and other closing balance sheet items related to the acquisition of lTCTransmission which are reflected in

our financial statements for those periods lTCTransmissions METCs and ITC Midwests purchase price

allocations are finalized and we do not expect any further adjustments to the purchase price Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards No 141R Business Combinations replaces SFAS 141 for business

combinations occurring beginning January 2009 and dictates the accounting treatment of any further

adjustments of the estimates recorded in purchase accounting such as adjustments to an acquired

entitys deferred tax asset and liability balances see Note to the consolidated financial statements

Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is regulated utility therefore in accordance with

SEAS 71 the fair value of the majority of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed did not change
significantly as result of applying purchase accounting As discussed below under Valuation of

Goodwill significant amount of goodwill resulted from these acquisitions which will require impairment

testing on at least an annual basis

54



Valuation of Goodwill

We have goodwill resulting from our acquisitions of llCTransmission METC and the assets at ITC

Midwest In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets SFAS 142 we are required to perform an impairment test annually or whenever

events or circumstances indicate that the value of goodwill may be impaired In order to perform these

impairment tests we determined fair value using quoted market prices in active markets and valuation

techniques based on discounted future cash flows under various scenarios We also considered estimates

of market-based valuation multiples for companies within our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries peer

group The market-based multiples involve judgment regarding the appropriate peer group and the

appropriate multiple to apply in the valuation and the cash flow estimates involve judgments based on

broad range of assumptions information and historical results To the extent estimated market-based

valuation multiples and/or discounted cash flows are revised downward we may be required to write down

all or portion of goodwill which would adversely impact earnings As of December31 2008 consolidated

goodwill totaled $951.3 million and we determined that no impairment existed at lTCTransmission METC

or ITC Midwest as of our goodwill impairment testing date of October 2008

Contingent Obligations

We are subject to number of federal and state laws and regulations as well as other factors and

conditions that potentially subject us to environmental litigation income tax and other risks We peri

odically evaluate our exposure to such risks and record reserves for those matters where loss is

considered probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with GAAP The adequacy of reserves can

be significantly affected by external events or conditions that can be unpredictable thus the ultimate

outcome of such matters could materially affect our financial statements These events or conditions

include the following

Changes in existing state or federal regulation by governmental authorities having jurisdiction over

air quality water quality control of toxic substances hazardous and solid wastes and other

environmental matters

Changes in existing federal income tax laws or Internal Revenue Service regulations

Identification and evaluation of potential lawsuits or complaints in which we may be or have been

named as defendant

Resolution or progression of existing matters through the legislative process the courts the Internal

Revenue Service or the Environmental Protection Agency

Valuation of Share-Based Payment

Our accounting for share-based payments requires us to determine the fair value of awards of ITC

Holdings common stock We use the value of ITC Holdings common stock at the date of grant in the

calculation of the fair value of our share-based awards The fair value of stock options held by our

employees is determined using Black-Scholes option valuation method which is valuation technique

that is acceptable for share-based payment accounting Key assumptions in determining fair value include

volatility risk-free interest rate dividend yield and expected lives In the event different assumptions were

used different fair value would be derived that could cause the related expense to be materially higher or

lower

Pension and Postretirement Costs

We sponsor certain post employment benefits to our employees which include retirement plans and

certain postretirement health care dental and life insurance benefits Our periodic costs and obligations

associated with these post employment plans are developed from actuarial valuations derived from

number of assumptions including rates of return on plan assets the discount rate the rate of increase in

health care costs the amount and timing of plan sponsor contributions demographic factors such as
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retirements mortality and turnover among others We evaluate these assumptions annually and they are

updated periodically to reflect our actual experience Three critical assumptions in determining our

periodic costs and obligations are discount rate expected long-term return on plan assets and the rate

of increases in health care costs The discount rate represents the market rate for synthesized double-A

zero coupon bonds with durations corresponding to the expected durations of the benefit obligations and is

used to calculate the present value of the expected future cash flows for benefit obligations under our post

employment plans For our rate of return on plan assets we consider the current and expected asset

allocations as well as historical and expected long-term rates of return on those types of plan assets in

determining the expected long-term return on plan assets Assumed health care cost trend rates have

significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans as described in Note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements

Oft-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have material

effect on our financial condition

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to the consolidated financial statements
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Commodity Price Risk

We have commodity price risk at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries arising from market price

fluctuations for materials such as copper aluminum steel oil and gas and other goods used in con

struction and maintenance activities Higher costs of these materials are passed on to us by the

contractors for these activities These items affect only cash flows as the amounts are included as

components of net revenue requirement and any higher costs are included in rates under Attachment

Interest Rate Risk

Fixed Rate Long Term Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with similar terms and average

maturities the fair value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding revolving credit agreements was

$1986.2 million at December31 2008 The total book value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding

revolving credit agreements was $2119.0 million at December 31 2008 We performed an analysis

calculating the impact of changes in interest rates on the fair value of long-term debt excluding revolving

credit agreements at December 31 2008 An increase in interest rates of 10% from 7.0% to 7.7% for

example at December31 2008 would decrease the fair value of debt by $96.5 million and decrease in

interest rates of 10% at December31 2008 would increase the fair value of debt by $106.1 million at that

date

Revolving Credit Agreements

At December 31 2008 we had consolidated total of $129.2 million outstanding under our revolving

credit agreements which are variable rate loans and therefore fair value approximates book value 10%

increase or decrease in borrowing rates under the revolving credit agreements compared to the weighted

average rates in effect at December 31 2008 would increase or decrease the total interest expense by

$0.2 million respectively for an annual period on constant borrowing level of $129.2 million

Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily with Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL which were responsible

for 41.6% 25.6% and 19.8% respectively of our consolidated operating revenues for 2008 These

percentages assume portion of the 2008 Attachment revenue accruals included in our 2008 operating

revenues which will be billed to our customers in 2010 would be paid by Detroit Edison Consumers

Energy and IPL in the future based on the respective percentage of network revenues billed to them in

2008 Under Detroit Edisons and Consumers Energys current rate structure Detroit Edison and Con

sumers Energy include in their retail rates the actual cost of transmission services provided by ITC

Transmission and METC respectively in their billings to their customers effectively passing through to

end-use consumers the total cost of transmission service IPL currently includes in their retail rates an

allowance for transmission services provided by ITC Midwest in their billings to their customers However

any financial difficulties experienced by Detroit Edison Consumers Energy or IPL may affect their ability

to make payments for transmission service to lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest which could

negatively impact our business MISO as our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries billing agent bills Detroit

Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on monthly basis and collects fees for the use of

our transmission systems MISO has implemented strict credit policies for its members customers which

include customers using our transmission systems In general if these customers do not maintain their

investment grade credit rating or have history of late payments MISO may require them to provide MISO

with letter of credit or cash deposit equal to the highest monthly invoiced amount over the previous twelve

months
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable not absolute

assurance as to the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Internal control over financial reporting no

matter how well designed has inherent limitations Therefore internal control over financial reporting

determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement

preparation and may not prevent or detect all misstatements

Under managements supervision an evaluation of the design and effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting was conducted based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
Our assessment included extensive documenting evaluating and testing of the design and operating

effectiveness of our internal controt over financial reporting Based on this evaluation management

concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2008

Deloitte Touche LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as auditors of our consol

idated financial statements has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 Deloitte Touche LLPs report which expresses an

unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting is included herein
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

ITC Holdings Corp

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of ITC Holdings Corp

and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated

statements of operations changes in stockholders equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits also included the financial

statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and the financial statement

schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits

provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of ITC Holdings Corp and subsidiaries as of December31 2008 and 2007 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our

opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial

statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008

based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 26 2009

expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 26 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

ITC Holdings Corp

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of ITC Holdings Corp and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting

and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our

opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of

the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions

and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reason

able assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance

of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the

assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may
not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of

the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and

for the year ended December31 2008 of the Company and our report dated February 262009 expressed

an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 26 2009
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

In thousands except share data
2008 2007

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 58110 2616
Accounts receivable 57638 40919

Inventory 25077 26315
Deferred income taxes 2689

Regulatory assets- Attachment revenue accrual including accrued interest of

$1637 22301

Other 4147 3518

Total current assets 167273 76057

Property plant and equipment net of accumulated depreciation and amortization

of $925890 and $879843 respectively 2304386 1960433
Other assets

Goodwill 951319 959042

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization of $6050 and $3025

respectively 52357 55382
Regulatory assets- Attachment revenue accrual including accrued interest of

$1512 and $552 respectively 81643 20537

Regulatory assets- Acquisition adjustments net of accumulated amortization of

$22393 and $17004 respectively 80665 86054
Other regulatory assets 39848 29449
Deferred financing fees net of accumulated amortization of $8048 and $5138

respectively 21410 14201

Other 15664 12142

Total other assets 1242906 1176807

TOTAL ASSETS $3714565 $3213297

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 79403 47627
Accrued payroll 10331 8928
Accrued interest 37779 23088
Accrued taxes 18104 15065
Deferred income taxes 6476
ITC Midwests asset acquisition additional purchase price accrual 5402
Refundable deposits from generators for transmission network upgrades 8701 2352
Other 5384 3965

Total current liabilities 166178 106427

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities 24295 13934
Deferred income taxes 144889 90617

Regulatory liabilities 196656 189727

Other 5231 6093

Long-term debt 2248253 2243424
Commitments and contingent liabilities Notes and 15
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock without par value 100000000 shares authorized 49654518 and

42916852 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007
respectively 848624 532103

Retained earnings 81268 31864
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 829 892

Total stockholders equity 929063 563075

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $3714565 $3213297

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

In thousands except share and per share data
2008 2007 2006

OPERATING REVENUES 617877 426249 223622

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance 113818 81406 35441

General and administrative 81296 62089 40632

Depreciation and amortization 94769 67928 40156

Taxes other than income taxes 41180 33340 22156

Other operating income and expense net 809 688 842

Total operating expenses 330254 244075 137543

OPERATING INCOME 287623 182174 86079

OTHER EXPENSES INCOME
Interest expense 122234 81863 42049

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 11610 8145 3977

Loss on extinguishment of debt 349 1874

Other income 3415 3457 2348

Otherexpense 3944 1618 1629

Total other expenses income 111153 72228 39227

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 176470 109946 46852

INCOME TAX PROVISION 67262 36650 13658

INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 109208 73296 33194

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE NET OF TAX OF $16 29

NET INCOME 109208 73296 33223

Basic earnings per share 2.25 1.73 0.95

Diluted earnings per share 2.19 1.68 0.92

Weighted-average basic shares 48605951 42298478 35048049

Weighted-average diluted shares 49770681 43541306 36236944

Dividends declared per common share 1.190 1.130 1.075

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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In thousands except share data

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2005

Net income

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock in MTH and METC

Acquisition

Repurchase and retirement of common stock

Common stock issuance costs

Dividends declared on common stock

Stock
option exercises

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Amortization of share-based compensation net

of forfeitures

Settlement of interest rate lock cash flow

hedges net of tax $522

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow

hedges net of tax $8

Minimum pension liability adjustment net of tax

$174

Comprehensive income

Reclassify the accumulated minimum pension

liability adjustment to other
regulatory assets

net of tax $266

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2006

Net income

Repurchase and retirement of common stock

Common stock issuance costs

Dividends declared on common stock

Stock option exercises

Shares issued under the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Amortization of share-based compensation net

of forfeitures

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow

hedges net of tax $34

Comprehensive income

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2007
Net income

Common stock issuance costs

Dividends declared on common stock

Issuance of common stock

Stock option exercises

Shares issued under the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan

Issuance of restricted stock

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Amortization of share-based compensation net

of forfeitures

Amortization of interest rate lock cash flow

hedges net of tax $34

Other

Comprehensive income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 158 change in measurement date

provisions Note 11
Service cost interest cost and expected

return on plan assets for October

December 31 2007 net of tax of $400

Amortization of
prior

service cost and losses

for October December 31 2007 net of

tax of $140

BALANCE DECEMBER 31 2008

Common Stock
___________________ Retained

Shares Amount Earnings

11792

33223

Total

Stockholders

Equity

$263301

33223

200549

72458

1040
2364

38307
1704

3497

969

14

322

494

$532244

73296

1841

48168
3081

321

22

4062

63

$563075
109208

755
58953

308317
1460

766

21

7251

63

518

73296

See notes to consolidated financial statements

ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

$172$251681

200549

72458
1040
2364

1704

3497

38307

Comprehensive
Income

33223

969

14

322

31946

969

14

322

________ ________
494

$955

33228638

6580987

2195045

30605

191685

236160

6150

42395760

41867

351172

8922
228644

25779

42916852

6420737
141883

18593
172261

15808

$526485

1841

3081

321

4062

$532103

755

308317
1460

766

7251

6714
73296

48168

22

63

31864 $892
109208

58953

21

63

63

73359

$109208

63

$109271

518

647

225

49654518 $848624 81268

647

225

$829 $929063
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

See notes to consolidated financial statements

2008 2007 2006
In thousands

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 109208 73296 33223

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 94769 67928 40156

Attachment revenue accrual including accrued interest 83390 20325

Deferred income tax expense 65054 36650 13230

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 11610 8145 3977

Other 10370 6622 7286

Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of changes shown separately

Accounts receivable 14455 3023 996

Inventory 10237 18016 3431

Other current assets 629 6469 4834

Accounts payable 14948 9533 17938

Accrued payroll
778 3401 818

Accrued interest 14693 4172 4112

Accrued taxes 3600 779 2130

METC rate case accrued liability
20000

Other current liabilities 1191 2952 7327

Non-current assets and liabilities net 1131 605 940

Net cash provided by operating activities 195421 135784 61868

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for property plant and equipment 401840 287170 167496

ITC Midwests asset acquisition purchase price 4714 783113

ITC Midwests asset acquisition direct fees 1008 11377

Acquisition of MTH and METC net of cash acquired 484189

MTH and METC asset acquisition direct fees 254 1456

Other 6242 6384 1697

Net cash used in investing activities 401320 1075530 661444

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of long-term debt 782782 865000 609627

Repayment of long-term debt 765000 123541

Borrowings under ITC Holdings Term Loan agreement 25000

Repayment of ITC Holdings Term Loan agreement 25000

Borrowings under revolving credit agreements 657733 678200 128400

Repayments of revolving credit agreements 670999 562200 178200

Issuance of common stock 310543 3402 202253

Dividends on common stock 58935 48168 38307

Refundable deposits from generators for transmission network upgrades 15661

Repayment of refundable deposits from generators for transmission network

upgrades 2352

Debt issuance costs 7159 5409 6969

Other 881 1889 4852

Net cash provided by financing activities 261393 928936 588411

NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 55494 10810 11165

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of period 2616 13426 24591

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS End of period 58110 2616 13426
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

ITC Holdings Corp ITC Holdings and together with its subsidiaries we our or us was

incorporated for the purpose of acquiring International Transmission Company ITCTransmission from

DTE Energy Company DTE Energy Following the approval of the transaction by the Federal Energy

Regulatory Commission the FERC ITC Holdings acquired the outstanding ownership interests of

ITCTransmission on February 28 2003

On October 10 2006 ITC Holdings acquired an indirect ownership through various intermediate

entities of all the partnership interests in Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership MTH the

sole member of Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC METC
On December 20 2007 ITC Midwest LLC ITC Midwest wholly owned subsidiary of ITC

Holdings completed the acquisition of the transmission assets of Interstate Power and Light Company

IPL an Alliant Energy Corporation subsidiary

lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest together our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are

independent electric transmission utilities with rates regulated by the FERC and established on cost-of

service model lTCTransmissions service area is located in southeastern Michigan and METCs service

area covers approximately two-thirds of Michigans Lower Peninsula and is contiguous with ITCTrans

missions service area with nine interconnection points ITC Midwests service area is located in portions of

Iowa Minnesota Illinois and Missouri The Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator Inc

MISO bills and collects revenues from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries customers at FERC
approved rates

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

summary of the major accounting policies followed in the preparation of the accompanying
consolidated financial statements which conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America GAAP is presented below

Principles of Consolidation ITC Holdings consolidates its majority owned subsidiaries We
eliminate all intercompany balances and transactions

Use of Estimates The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with

GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets

liabilities revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities Actual

results may differ from these estimates

Regulation Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of

the FERC which issues orders pertaining to rates recovery of certain costs including the costs of

transmission assets and regulatory assets conditions of service accounting financing authorization

and operating-related matters The electric transmission operations of our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries meet the criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 71 Accounting for

the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation SEAS 71 This accounting standard recognizes the cost-

based rate setting process which results in differences in the application of GAAP between regulated

and non-regulated businesses SEAS 71 requires the recording of regulatory assets and liabilities for

transactions that would have been recorded as revenue and expense in non-regulated businesses

Regulatory assets represent costs that will be included as component of future tariff rates and

regulatory liabilities represent amounts provided in the current tariff rates that are intended to recover

costs expected to be incurred in the future or amounts to be refunded to customers

Cash and Cash Equivalents We consider all unrestricted highly-liquid temporary investments

with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows The following table presents certain supplementary

cash flows information for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Supplementary cash flows information

Interest paid net of interest capitalized $102149 $73489 40038

Federal and state income taxes paid 2012 2058 561

Supplementary non-cash investing and financing

activities

Additions to property plant and equipmenta 54689 33998 33282

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 11610 8145 3977

ITC Holdings common stock issued in the METC
acquisition 72458

Assumption of MTH and METC debt and other long

term interest bearing obligations 307749

Amounts consist of current liabilities for construction labor and materials that have not been

included in investing activities These amounts have not been paid for as of December 31 2008

2007 or 2006 respectively but have been or will be included as cash oufflow from investing

activities for expenditures for property plant and equipment when paid

Accounts Receivable We recognize losses for uncollectible accounts based on specific

identification of any such items As of December 31 2008 and 2007 we did not have an accounts

receivable reserve

Inventories Materials and supplies inventories are valued at average cost

Property Plantand Equipment Depreciation and amortization expense on property plant and

equipment was $85.6 million $58.7 million and $37.1 million for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Property plant and equipment in service at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries is stated at its

original cost when first devoted to utility service The gross book value of assets retired less salvage

proceeds is charged to accumulated depreciation Depreciation is computed over the estimated

useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes and accel

erated methods for income tax reporting purposes The composite depreciation rate for our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries included in our consolidated statements of operations was 3.0% 3.2% and

3.1% for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The composite depreciation rates include depreciation

primarily on transmission station equipment towers poles and overhead and underground lines that

have useful life ranging from 36 to 75 years The portion of depreciation expense related to asset

removal costs is added to regulatory liabilities and removal costs incurred are deducted from

regulatory liabilities Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries capitalize an allowance for the cost of

equity and borrowings used during construction in accordance with FERC regulations The allowance

for the cost of borrowed funds used during construction of $3.5 million $2.6 million and $1.0 millionfor

20082007 and 2006 respectively was reduction to interest expense The allowance for the cost of

equity funds used during construction AFUDC Equity was $11.6 million $8.1 million and $4.0 mil

lion for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Property plant and equipment includes capital equipment inventory stated at original cost

consisting of items that are expected to be used exclusively for capital projects
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ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Property plant and equipment at ITC Holdings and non-regulated subsidiaries is stated at its

acquired cost Proceeds from salvage less the net book value of assets disposed of is recognized as

gain or loss on disposal Depreciation is computed based on the acquired cost less expected residual

value over the estimated useful lives of the assets on straight-line method for financial reporting

purposes and accelerated methods for income tax reporting purposes

Software CostsWe capitalize the costs associated with computer software we develop or

obtain for use in our business which is included in property plant and equipment We amortize

computer software costs on straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit once the installed

software is ready for its intended use

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than for goodwill our long-lived assets are reviewed

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the expected undiscounted future

cash flows generated by the asset an impairment loss is recognized resulting in the asset being

written down to its estimated fair value

Goodwill and Intangible Assets We comply with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS 142 which addresses the financial account

ing and reporting standards for goodwill and other intangible assets Under SFAS 142 goodwill and

other intangibles with indefinite lives are not subject to amortization However goodwill and other

intangibles are subject to fair value-based rules for measuring impairment and resulting write-downs

if any are to be reflected in operating expense In order to perform these impairment tests we

determined fair value using valuation techniques based on discounted future cash flows under various

scenarios and we also considered estimates of market-based valuation multiples for companies

within the peer group of the reporting unit that has goodwill recorded This accounting standard

requires that goodwill be reviewed at least annually for impairment and whenever facts or circum

stances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable We completed our annual

goodwill impairment test for each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries as of October 2008 and

determined that no impairment exists There were no events subsequent to October 2008 that

indicated impairment of our goodwill Our intangible assets have finite lives and are amortized over

their useful lives refer to Note

Deferred Financing Fees The costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are deferred and

amortized over the life of the debt issue The debt discount or premium related to the issuance of long-

term debt is recorded to long-term debt and amortized over the life of the debt issue We recorded to

interest expense the amortization of deferred financing fees and the amortization of our debt

discounts for 2008 2007 and 2006 of $3.2 million $2.1 million and $1.4 million respectively

Asset Retirement Obligations We comply with Financial Accounting Standards Board Inter

pretation No 47 Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations FIN 47 an interpre

tation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 143 Accounting for Asset Retirement

Obligations SFAS 143 FIN 47 defines the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in

SFAS 143 As defined in FIN 47 conditional asset retirement obligation refers to legal obligation to

perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on

future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity We have identified conditional

asset retirement obligations primarily associated with the removal of equipment containing polychlo

rinated biphenyls PCB5 and asbestos We record liability at fair value for legal asset retirement

obligation in the period in which it is incurred When new legal obligation is recorded we capitalize

the costs of the liability by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset We accrete

the liability to its present value each period and depreciate the capitalized cost over the useful life of

the related asset At the end of the assets useful life we settle the obligation for its recorded amount or
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incur gain or loss We apply the standards of SFAS 71 to our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries and

recognize regulatory assets or liabilities for the timing differences between when we recover legal

asset retirement obligations in rates and when we would recognize these costs under FIN 47 There

were no significant changes to our asset retirement obligations during 2008

Contingent Obligations We are subject to number of federal and state laws and regulations

as well as other factors and conditions that potentially subject us to environmental litigation and other

risks We periodically evaluate our exposure to such risks and record reserves for those matters

where loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with GAAR The

adequacy of reserves can be significantly affected by external events or conditions that can be

unpredictable thus the ultimate outcome of such matters could materially affect our consolidated

financial statements

Revenues Revenues from the transmission of electricity are recognized as services are

provided Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries revenues consist primarily of billed network reve

nues which are calculated monthly by multiplying

the peak network load achieved during any one hour each month by

the appropriate monthly tariff rate as calculated under the MISO rate setting mechanism

Attachment by

the number of days in that month divided bythe number of days in the year by

twelve

We record reserve for revenue subject to refund when such refund is probable and can be

reasonably estimated The reserve is recorded as reduction to operating revenues

Beginning January 2007 for lTCTransmission and METC and January 2008 for ITC

Midwest under forward-looking Attachment our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries recover

expenses and earn return on and recover investments in transmission on current rather than

lagging basis Refer to Note under Attachment Network Transmission Rates Forward-

Looking Attachment for discussion of forward-looking Attachment The forward-looking

Attachment formula includes true-up mechanism whereby our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed revenues for each year and record

revenue accrual or deferral

Property Taxes We use calendar year method of accounting for property taxes Property tax

expense is accrued on straight-line basis over the calendar year immediately following the tax lien

date or assessment date of each year

Share-Based Payment We have an Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option

Plan for Key Employees of ITC Holdings Corp and its subsidiaries the 2003 Stock Purchase and

Option Plan and an Amended and Restated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP pursuant to

which we grant various share-based awards including options and restricted stock and deferred stock

units Share-based awards are accounted for under the recognition and measurement principles of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123R Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R
Compensation expense for employees and directors is recorded for stock options restricted stock

awards and deferred stock units based on their fair value at the grant date and is amortized over the

expected vesting period We recognize expense for our stock options which have graded vesting

schedules on straight-line basis over the entire vesting period and not for each separately vesting

portion of the award The grant date is the date at which our commitment to issue share based awards

to the employee or director arises which is generally the later of the board approval date the date of
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hire of the employee or the date of the employees compensation agreement which contains the

commitment to issue the award

We also have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP The ESPP is compensatory plan

accounted for under the expense recognition provisions of SFAS 123R Compensation expense is

recorded based on the fair value of the purchase options at the grant date which corresponds to the

first day of each purchase period and is amortized over the purchase period

Comprehensive Income Loss Comprehensive income loss is the change in common

stockholders equity during period arising from transactions and events from non-owner sources

including net income

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are recognized for the expected future tax conse

quences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statements and

tax bases of various assets and liabilities using the tax rates expected to be in effect for the year in

which the differences are expected to reverse

Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in

Income Taxes FIN 48 is an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes SFAS 109 and clarifies the accounting for uncertainty

within the income taxes recognized by an enterprise FIN 48 prescribes recognition threshold and

measurement attribute for tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax return that may not be

sustainable At the adoption date no reserves for uncertain income tax positions were recorded

pursuant to FIN 48 as we determined that all tax positions taken were highly certain and we did not

record cumulative effect adjustment related to the adoption of FIN 48 Refer to Note under

METCs Goodwill for discussion of an uncertain tax position recorded relating to the METC

acquisition

We file income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service and with various state and city

jurisdictions We are no longer subject to U.S federal tax examinations for tax years 2004 and earlier

State and city jurisdictions that remain subject to examination range from tax years 2003 to 2007

Currently our federal income tax return for tax year 2006 is under examination by the Internal

Revenue Service The State of Michigan completed its examination of the 2004 through 2006

Michigan Single Business Tax returns for lTCTransmission in January 2009 In the event we are

assessed interest or penalties by any income tax jurisdictions interest would be recorded as interest

expense and penalties would be recorded as other expense

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-1 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based

Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities

In June 2008 the Financial Accounting Standards Board the FASB issued FASB Staff Position

No EITF 03-6-1 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are

Participating Securities FSP EITF 03-6-1 FSP EITF 03-6-1 states that unvested share-based payment

awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities

as defined in EITF 03-6 Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement

No 128 and therefore should be included in computing earnings per share using the two-class method

According to FSP EITF 03-6-1 share-based payment award is participating security when the award

includes non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents The rights result in non-contingent

transfer of value each time an entity declares dividend or dividend equivalent during the awards vesting

period FSP EITF 03-6-1 will be effective for us for the first quarter 2009 Form 10-0 Upon adoption FSP
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EITF 03-6-1 requires an entity to retroactively adjust all prior period earnings-per-share computations to

reflect the FSP EITF 03-6-1 provisions We have share-based payment awards that include non-forfeitable

rights to dividends and we do not expect FSP EITF 03-6-1 to have significant impact on our earn

ings-per-share computations

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R Business Combinations

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R Business Combinations SFAS 141R
requires the acquiring entity in business combination to recognize all and only the assets acquired and

liabilities assumed in the transaction and establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement

objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination Certain provisions of

SFAS 141R will among other things impact the determination of acquisition-date fair value of consid

eration paid in business combination including contingent consideration exclude transaction costs

from acquisition accounting and require expense recognition for these costs and change accounting

practices for acquired contingencies acquisition-related restructuring costs in-process research and

development indemnification assets and tax benefits SFAS 141R was effective for us for business

combinations occurring beginning January 2009 and for adjustments to an acquired entitys deferred tax

asset and liability balances occurring beginning January 2009 and we do not expect the adoption of

SFAS 141R will have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value Measurements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157
clarifies the definition of fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands the

disclosures on fair value measurements We have adopted SFAS 157 and FASB Staff Position

FAS No 157-2 Effective Date of FASB Statement No 157 effective January 2008 The adoption of

SFAS 157 for financial instruments as required at January 2008 did not have material effect on our

consolidated financial statements however we are required to provide additional disclosure as part of our

consolidated financial statements As of December 31 2008 we did not adopted SFAS 157 for non
financial assets and non-financial liabilities such as goodwill and other intangible assets held by us and

measured annually for impairment testing purposes only However the provisions associated with non
financial assets and non-financial liabilities will be included in our disclosures in the first quarter 2009

Form 0-Q as required and will not have material effect on our consolidated financial statements

On October 10 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position FAS No 157-3 Fair Value Measurements FSP
FAS 157-3 which clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in an inactive market and provides an example to

demonstrate how the fair value of financial asset is determined when the market for that financial asset is

inactive FSP FAS 157-3 was effective upon issuance including prior periods for which financial state

ments had not been issued The adoption of this standard as of December31 2008 did not have material

impact on our consolidated financial statements

SFAS 157 establishes three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring

fair value These tiers include Level defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active

markets Level defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or

indirectly observable and Level defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists

therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions

As of December 31 2008 we held certain assets that are required to be measured at fair value on

recurring basis These consist of investments recorded within cash and cash equivalents and other long

term assets including investments held in trust associated with our nonqualified noncontributory sup
plemental retirement benefit plans for selected management and employees that are classified as trading

securities under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 115 Accounting for Certain Investments
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in Debt and EquitySecurities Our investments consist primarily of mutual funds debt and equity securities

that are publicly traded and for which market prices are readily available and money market funds recorded

at cost plus accrued interest to approximate fair value Changes in the observed trading prices and liquidity

of money market funds are monitored as additional support for determining fair value and losses are

recorded in earnings if fair value falls below recorded cost

Our assets measured at fair value on recurring basis subject to the disclosure requirements of

SFAS 157 at December 31 2008 were as follows

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted prices In Significant

active markets for Significant other unobservable

identical assets observable inputs inputs

Level Level Level

In thousands

Cash equivalents $57310

Trading securities 4980

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Ben

efit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88

106 and 132R

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88 106 and

132R SFAS 158 requires the recognition of the funded status of defined benefit plan in the

statement of financial position as other comprehensive income Additionally SFAS 158 requires that

changes in the funded status be recognized through comprehensive income requires the measurement

date for defined benefit plan assets and obligations to be the entitys fiscal year-end and expands

disclosures Upon adoption of SFAS 158 in 2006 we applied the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 71 Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation and the amounts

that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated other comprehensive income

associated with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 87 EmployersAccounting for Pensions

SFAS 87 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 106 Employers Accounting for

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions SFAS 106 are recorded as regulatory asset or liability

because as the unrecognized amounts recorded to this regulatory asset are recognized through SFAS 87

and SFAS 106 expenses under forward-looking Attachment they will be recovered from customers in

future rates Under the recognition provisions of SFAS 158 we recognized the funded status of our defined

benefit pension and other postretirement plans and provided the required additional disclosures beginning

2006 The adoption of the SFAS 158 funded status recognition and disclosure provisions did not have

material effect on our consolidated results of operations or cash flows

In addition to the funded status recognition and disclosure provisions SFAS 158 includes mea

surement date provision requiring the employer to measure defined benefit plan assets and obligations as

of the date of the employers fiscal year-end statement of financial position Historically we have measured

our plan assets and obligations as of date three months prior to the fiscal year-end as allowed under the

authoritative accounting literature Refer to Note 11 for the effect of the adoption of the measurement date

provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31 2008

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instru

ments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161 amends and expands the
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disclosure requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 133 Accounting for Deriv

ative Instruments and HedgingActivities SFAS 133 by requiring enhanced disclosures about how and

why an entity uses derivative instruments how derivative instruments and related hedged items are

accounted for under SEAS 133 and its related interpretations and how derivative instruments and related

hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows SFAS 161

requires qualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for using derivatives quantitative disclo

sures about fair value amounts of gains and losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about credit-

risk-related contingent features in derivative agreements SFAS 161 is effective for the first quarter of

2009 The adoption of this standard did not have material impact on our consolidated financial

statements

FASB Staff Position FAS 132R-i Employers Disclosures About Postretirement Benefit Plan

Assets

On December30 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-i FSP FAS 132R-i which amends

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 132R Employers Disclosures About Pensions and

Other Post retirement Benefits an amendment of FASB Statements No 87 88 and 106

SFAS 132R to require more detailed disclosures about employers plan assets including employers

investment strategies major categories of plan assets concentrations of risk within plan assets and

valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets FSP FAS 132R-i also updates the

disclosure examples in SEAS 132R to illustrate the required additional disclosures including those

associated with fair value measurement and includes technical correction When amendments to

SFAS 158 were applied to SEAS 132R the requirement that nonpublic entities disclose net periodic

benefit costs was inadvertently deleted and ESP 132R-i restores this requirement The disclosure

requirements of FSP FAS 132R-i will be effective for us for the year ended December 31 2009

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

At December 31 2008 we had goodwill balances recorded at lTCTransmission METC and ITC

Midwest of $173.4 million $455.3 million and $322.6 million respectively which resulted from the

lTCTransmission acquisition the METC acquisition and ITC Midwests asset acquisition respectively

At December 31 2007 we had goodwill balances recorded at lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest

of $173.4 million $455.3 million and $330.3 million respectively

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years

ended December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Goodwill balance beginning of period $959042 $624385

Changes to goodwill

ITC Midwests asset acquisition 7723 330315

METC acquisition 5188

lTCTransmission acquisition 846

Goodwill balance end of period $951319 $959042
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ITC Midwests Goodwill

On December20 2007 ITC Midwest acquired electric transmission assets of PL for $783.1 million

excluding fees expenses and purchase price adjustments pursuant to an asset sale agreement dated

January 18 2007 with IPL The purchase price was subject to several purchase price adjustment

provisions relating to liabilities actually assumed by ITC Midwest and the actual rate base construction

work in progress and other asset or liability balances actually transferred to ITC Midwest by IPL on

December 20 2007 ITC Midwest results are included in our consolidated statements of operations and

cash flows for the year ended December 31 2008 and the period from December 20 2007 through

December 31 2007

ITC Midwests asset acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of group of assets that

constitutes business under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141

Business Combinations During 2008 the purchase price and purchase price allocation were finalized

ITC Midwest made final payment to lPL of $4.7 million for additional purchase price relating to certain

revisions to the original estimated assets acquired and liabilities assumed that had been used to develop

the initial acquisition payment We had recorded an estimate of $5.4 million in current liabilities for

additional purchase price to be paid at December 31 2007

ITC Midwest incurred $12.4 million for professional services and other direct acquisition costs in

connection with the acquisition resulting in an aggregate purchase price of $800.2 million as of Decem

ber 31 2008 ITC Midwest had recorded an estimate of $11.7 million for professional services and other

direct acquisition costs at December 31 2007 The additional $0.7 million of direct acquisition costs

recorded during the year ended December 31 2008 are included in the aggregate purchase price and

resulted in an increase in goodwill

During 2008 valuation was performed to determine the tax basis of the assets acquired in ITC

Midwests asset acquisition This valuation resulted in the recognition of deferred tax asset and

corresponding decrease in goodwill of $8.3 million during 2008

METCs Goodwill

On October 10 2006 ITC Holdings acquired indirect ownership of all the partnership interests in

MTH the sole member of METC Under the terms of the purchase agreement the selling shareholders

received $484.4 million in cash and 2195045 shares of ITC Holdings common stock valued at $72.5 mil

lion MTH and METC are included in our consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 and for the period from October 11 2006 through Decem
ber 31 2006

We have an uncertain tax position resulting from an analysis we performed on various transaction

costs incurred in connection with the METC acquisition In applying the measurement provisions of FIN 48

this tax position resulted in an immaterial reduction to the deferred tax asset recorded in purchase

accounting and the interest exposure is also currently immaterial As result of SFAS 141R becoming

effective for us on January 2009 if an event causes management to change its judgment on the amount

of benefits expected to be realized from the tax position or when the tax position is effectively settled we

would record additional tax expense or benefit

During 2007 various purchase accounting assets and liabilities values associated with the METC

acquisition were finalized These values which included the amount of federal income tax NOLs acquired

the value of certain property plant and equipment and the amounts established under the METC rate case

settlement accounted for as pre-acquisition contingency at the acquisition date had no effect on our

preliminary purchase price allocation or our consolidated statements of operations Refer to additional
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discussion of METC rate case settlement the METC Regulatory Deferral and the METC ADIT Deferral in

Note under METC Rate Case Settlement

lTCTransmissions Goodwill

On February 28 2003 ITC Holdings acquired all of DIE Energys outstanding ownership interests in

lTCTransmission for $610.0 million in cash plus direct transaction costs Under the terms of the purchase

agreement after the closing of the lTCTransmission acquisition the purchase price may be adjusted based

on revisions to the closing balance sheet of llCTransmission as of February 28 2003 Various such

adjustments were made to the purchase price and goodwill balance during 2007 2005 2004 and 2003

primarily resulting from the negotiations of property plant and equipment balances at the time of the

lTClransmission acquisition These negotiations are finalized and we expect no further adjustments to the

purchase price

Intangible Assets

Pursuant to the METC acquisition in October2006 we have identified intangible assets with finite lives

derived from the portion of regulatory assets recorded on METCs historical FERC financial statements

that were not recorded on METCs historical GAAP financial statements associated with the METC

Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals The carrying amount of the intangible asset for METC

Regulatory Deferrals at December31 2008 and 2007 is $35.6 million and $37.6 million respectively and

is amortized over 20 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the amortization period

established in the METC rate case settlement The carrying amount of the intangible asset for METC ADIT

Deferrals at December31 2008 and 2007 is $16.7 million and $17.8 million respectively and is amortized

over 18 years beginning January 2007 which also corresponds to the amortization period established in

the METC rate case settlement METC earns an equity return on the remaining unamortized balance of

both the intangible asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals and the intangible asset for METC ADIT

Deferrals Refer to the discussion of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals in

Note under METC Rate Case Settlement

During each of the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 we recognized $3.0 million of

amortization expense of our intangible assets No amortization expense was recognized in 2006 We

expect the annual amortization of our intangible assets is as follows

In thousands

2009 3025

2010 3025

2011 3025

2012 3025

2013 3025

2014 and thereafter 37232

Total $52357

REGULATORY MATTERS

Attachment Network Transmission Rates

Attachment is FERC-approved cost of service formula rate template that is completed annually by

most transmission owning members of MISO including our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Rates are

generally set annually under Attachment and remain in effect for one-year period Rates derived using

Attachment are posted on the MISO Open Access Same-Time Information System each year The
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information used to complete the Attachment template is subject to verification by MISO By completing

the Attachment template on an annual basis our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are able to adjust

their component of the joint zone transmission rates to reflect changing operational data and financial

performance including the amount of network load on their transmission systems operating expenses

and additions to property plant and equipment when placed in service among other items

Because Attachment is FERC-approved formula rate no further action or FERC filings are

required for the calculated joint zone rates to go into effect although the rate is subject to legal challenge at

the FERC Attachment will be used by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries to calculate their respective

annual net revenue requirements until and unless it is determined by the FERC to be unjust and

unreasonable or another mechanism is determined by the FERC to be just and reasonable

Forward-Looking Attachment

In 2006 the FERC authorized lTCTransmission and METC to modify the implementation of their

Attachment formula rates so that beginning January 2007 lTClransmission and METC recover

expenses and earn return on and recover investments in property plant and equipment on current

rather than lagging basis As part of the FERC order dated December 2007 approving ITC Midwests

asset acquisition the FERC approved ITC Midwests request for the use of forward-looking Attachment

effective January 2008

Under the forward-looking Attachment formula our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries use fore

casted expenses additions to in-service property plant and equipment point-to-point revenues network

load and other items for the upcoming calendar year to establish their projected net revenue requirement

and their component of the billed network rates for service on their systems from January to December

31 of that year The forward-looking Attachment formula includes true-up mechanism whereby our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed revenues

for each year

The true-up mechanism under forward-looking Attachment meets the requirements of Emerging

Issues Task Force Issue No 92-7 Accounting by Rate-Regulated Utilities for the Effects of Certain

Alternative Revenue Programs EITF 92-7 Accordingly revenue is recognized for services provided

during each reporting period based on actual net revenue requirements calculated using forward-looking

Attachment Beginning January 2007 ITCTransmission and METC accrue or defer revenues to the

extent that the actual net revenue requirement for the reporting period is higher or lower respectively than

the amounts billed relating to that reporting period The true-up amount is automatically reflected in

customer bills within two years under the provisions of forward-looking Attachment For the periods

presented through December 31 2006 lTCTransmissions and METCs rate-setting method for network

transmission rates primarily used historical FERC Form No data to establish rate the Attachment

method in effect did not contain true-up mechanism and there was no adjustment recognized for billed

amounts that differed from actual net revenue requirement For the period from December 20 2007

through December 31 2007 ITC Midwests Attachment method in effect did not contain true-up

mechanism and there was no adjustment recognized for billed amounts that differed from actual net

revenue requirement
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Net work Transmission Rates

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries component of the joint zone network transmission rates per

kilowatt kW/month that are relevant to our results of operations and cash flows for the corresponding

period are as follows

Period lTCTransmission METC ITC Midwest

January 12006 to May 31 2006 $1.594

June 2006 to December 31 2006a $1 .744 $1 .524

January 2007 to December 31 2007b $2.099 $1 .524 $2.373

January 2008 to December 31 2008 $2.350 $1 .985 $2.446

January 2009 to December 31 2009 $2.520 $2.522 $4.162

Our consolidated results of operations include METC revenues for the periods subsequent to Octo

ber 10 2006

Our consolidated results of operations include revenues from the assets acquired by ITC Midwest for

the periods subsequent to December 20 2007

Complaint of IPL

On November 18 2008 IPL filed complaint against ITC Midwest before the FERC under

Section 206 of the Federal Power Act The complaint alleges that the operations and maintenance

expenses and administrative and general expenses projected in the 2009 IIC Midwest rate appear

excessive the true-up amount related to ITC Midwests posted network rate for the period through

December 31 2008 will cause ITC Midwest to charge an excessive rate in future years and the

methodology of allocating administrative and general expenses among ITC Holdings operating compa
nies was changed resulting in such additional expenses being allocated to ITC Midwest The complaint

states that it does not challenge ITC Midwests Attachment formula or its planned capital investments

ITC Midwests network rate is based on its forward-looking Attachment rate formula as approved by

FERC which incorporates ITC Midwests projected net revenue requirement and load Among other

things lPLs complaint seeks investigative action by the FERC relating to hG Midwests transmission

service charges reflected in its 2009 rate as well as hearings regarding the justness and reasonableness

qf the 2009 rate with the ultimate goal of reducing such rate The resolution of this proceeding and its

ultimate impact on ITC Midwests network rate and transmission revenues cannot be determined at this

time We believe that ITC Midwests 2009 rate is just and reasonable that lPL has not proffered sufficient

arguments or reasons for the complaint to be sustained and that the 2009 ITC Midwest Rate appropriately

reflects the commitment of ITC Midwest to improve the performance and reliability of its transmission

system Accordingly hG Holdings and ITC Midwest believe that IPLs action is without merit and currently

intend to contest it vigorously However various other parties including The Detroit Edison Company

Detroit Edison and Consumers Energy Company Consumers have filed with the FERC as inter

veners in the matter such that the outcome of the case could also have an impact on the rates of

llCTransmission and METC If the FERC issues decision in this matter which inhibits our ability to

recover costs and expenses through our rates or is otherwise adverse to our interests then our results of

operations and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected

METC Rate Case Settlement

On January 19 2007 METC and other parties to the rate case entered into settlement agreement to

resolve all outstanding matters in METCs pending rate case before the FERC including those set for

hearing in the FERC December 30 2005 rate order which authorized METC beginning on January
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2006 to charge rates for its transmission service using the rate setting formula contained in Attachment

The terms of this settlement agreement were approved by the FERC on August 29 2007 and no parties

filed for rehearing within the allowed 30-day period subsequent to the approval Pursuant to the settlement

in October 2007 METC made payments totaling $20.0 million to various transmission customers in lieu of

any and all refunds and/or interest payment requirements in this proceeding in connection with METCs
rates in effect on and after January 2006 METC has no other refund obligation or liability beyond this

payment in connection with this proceeding

Additionally the METC rate case settlement established the balances and respective amortization

periods to be used for ratemaking for the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals

Pursuant to certain conditions in the December 30 2005 FERC order METC made adjustments to its net

revenue requirement for depreciation and amortization expense and the related interest expense asso

ciated with new transmission assets placed in service from January 2001 to December 31 2005 the

METC Regulatory Deferrals In addition METC made adjustments to its net revenue requirement for all

the equity return on investment and the carrying costs on new transmission assets placed in service from

January 2001 to December31 2005 and recorded as regulatory asset the portion of METCs purchase

price in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired from Consumers Energy approved for inclusion in

future rates by the FERC the METC ADIT Deferrals

The METC rate case settlement established an initial balance of the METC Regulatory Deferrals of

$55.0 million with 20-year amortization beginning January 2007 In addition the settlement estab

lished an initial balance of the METC ADIT Deferrals of $61.3 million with an 18-year amortization

beginning January 2007

Of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC ADIT Deferrals $39.6 million and $18.8 million

respectively were recorded as regulatory asset on METCs historical FERC financial statements but

were not recorded on METCs historical GAAP financial statements because they did not meet the

requirement of an incurred cost eligible for deferral under SFAS 71 These amounts were identified and

recorded as intangible assets acquired pursuant to the METC acquisition Refer to additional discussion in

Note under Intangible Assets The remaining portions of the METC Regulatory Deferrals and the METC

ADIT Deferrals of $15.4 million and $42.5 million respectively were recorded as regulatory asset

acquired pursuant to the METC acquisition Refer to additional discussion associated with the regulatory

assets METC Regulatory Deferrals and METC ADIT Deferrals in Note under Regulatory Assets

ITC Midwests Rate Discount

As part of the orders by the Iowa Utility Board IUB and the Minnesota Public Service Commission

MPUC approving ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITC Midwest agreed to provide rate discount of

$4.1 million per year to its customers for eight years beginning in the first year customers experience an

increase in transmission charges following the consummation of the ITC Midwests asset acquisition

Beginning in 2009 and through 2016 ITC Midwests net revenue requirement has been or will be reduced

by $4.1 million for each year We believe the proper recognition relating to the rate discount occurs when

we provide the service and charge the reduced rate that includes the rate discount

ITCTransmission Rate Freeze Revenue Deferral

lTCTransmissions revenue deferral resulted from the difference between the revenue lTCTransmis

sion would have collected under Attachment and the actual revenue ITCTransmission received based on

the frozen rate of $1 .075 kW/month for the period from February 28 2003 through December 31 2004

The cumulative revenue deferral at the end of the rate freeze was $59.7 million $38.8 million net of tax

The revenue deferral and related taxes are not reflected as an asset or as revenue in our consolidated

financial statements because they do not meet the criteria to be recorded as regulatory assets in
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accordance with SFAS 71 or EITF 92-7 Similarly none of the revenue deferral amortization used in

ratemaking is reflected in our consolidated financial statements SFAS 71 provides that an enterprise shall

capitalize all or part of an incurred cost that would otherwise be charged to expense if certain criteria are

met including whether it is probable that future revenue in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost

will result from inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for rate-making purposes Although the amortization

of the revenue deferral is an allowable component of future rates based on the FERCs approval obtained

for this item the revenue deferral does not represent an incurred cost Rather it is delayed recovery of

revenue based on many components of our tariff rate including incurred costs rate base capital structure

network load and other components of Attachment EITF 92-7 provides that regulated enterprise

should recognize revenue for other than incurred costs if the revenue program meets certain criteria The

revenue deferral does not satisfy the criteria of EITF 92-7 to record the revenue deferral in the year it was

determined as the amounts will not be collected within two years following the end of the year in which the

amount was established We believe the proper revenue recognition relating to the revenue deferral occurs

when we charge the rate that includes the amortization of the revenue deferral The revenue deferral is

amortized for ratemaking straight-line for five years beginning in June 2006 As of December31 2008 and

2007 the balance of lTCTransmissions revenue deferral was $28.8 million net of accumulated amorti

zation of $30.9 million and $40.8 million net of accumulated amortization of $18.9 million respectively

Long Term Pricing

In November 2004 in FERC Docket No ELO2-1 11 et al the FERC approved pricing structure to

facilitate seamless trading of electricity between MISO and PJM Interconnection Regional Transmission

Organization that borders MISO The order establishes Seams Elimination Cost Adjustment SECA
as set forth in previous FERC orders that took effect December 2004 and remained in effect until

March 31 2006 as transitional pricing mechanism Prior to December 2004 lTCTransmission and

METC earned revenues for transmission of electricity between MISO and PJM Interconnection based on

regional through-and-out rate administered by MISO

From December 2004 through March 31 2006 we recorded $2.5 million of gross SECA revenue

based on an allocation of these revenues by MISO as result of the FERC order approving this transitional

pricing mechanism Subsequent to the first quarter of 2006 we no longer earn SECA revenues The SEGA

revenues were subject to refund as described in the FERC order and this matter was litigated in

contested hearing before the FERC that concluded on May 18 2006 An initial decision was issued by the

Administrative Law Judge presiding over the hearings on August 10 2006 which generally indicated that

the SEGA revenues resulted from unfair unjust and preferential rates The judges decision is subject to

the FERCs final ruling on the matter which could differ from the initial decision Notwithstanding the

judges initial decision lTCTransmission METC and other transmission owners who collected SEGA

amounts and the counterparties that paid the significant majority of the SEGA amounts have filed

settlement agreements with the FERC In the fourth quarter of 2008 all of the settlements were approved

by the FERC As of December 31 2008 lTCTransmission and METC have reserves recorded of

$0.3 million and $0.2 million respectively for amounts to be refunded based on the settlement agreements

filed and approved by the FERC For the counterparties who have not filed settlements with the FERC we

are not able to estimate whether any refunds of amounts earned by lTCTransmission or METC will result

from this hearing or whether this matter will otherwise be settled but we do not expect the resolution of this

matter to have material impact on our consolidated financial statements We have not accrued any

refund amounts relating to these counterparties who have not filed settlements with the FERC
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REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Regulatory Assets

The following table summarizes the regulatory asset balances at December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Regulatory Assets

Attachment revenue accrual

Current including accrued interest of $1637 as of December 31 2008 22301

Non-current including accrued interest of $1512 and $552 as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 81643 20537

Acquisition adjustments

lTCTransmission ADIT Deferral net of accumulated amortization of

17676 and $14645 as of December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively 42926 45957

METC ADIT Deferral net of accumulated amortization of $4717 and

$2359 as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 37739 40097

Other

METC Regulatory Deferrals 13885 14657

Unamortized loss on reacquired debt 382 2552

AFUDC Equity 15329 8608

Pensions postretirement 10252 3632

Total $224457 $136040

Attachment Revenue Accrual

The forward-looking Attachment formula includes true-up mechanism whereby our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries compare their actual net revenue requirements to their billed network revenues for

each year to determine the true-up amount to be included in future rates Refer to additional discussion of

forward-looking Attachment in Note under Attachment Network Transmission Rates Forward-

Looking Attachment For each reporting period beginning with the first quarter 2007 for lTCTrans

mission and METC and the first quarter 2008 for ITC Midwest revenue is recognized based on actual year-

to-date net revenue requirements for that reporting period calculated using forward-looking Attachment

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries accrue or defer revenues to the extent that the actual net revenue

requirement for the reporting period is higher or lower respectively than the network revenue amounts

billed relating to that reporting period The true-up amount including interest for each calendar year is

automatically reflected in customer bills within two years under the provisions of forward-looking Attach

ment Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not earn an equity return on the balance of the

Attachment revenue accrual or deferral but do accrue interest on the true-up amount

ITC Transmission ADIT Deferral

The carrying amount of the lTCTransmission ADIT deferral is the remaining unamortized balance of

the portion of lTCTransmissions purchase price in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired approved

for inclusion in future rates by the FERC lTCTransmission earns an equity return on the remaining

unamortized balance of the lTCTransmission ADIT deferral The original amount recorded for this

regulatory asset of $60.6 million is being recognized in rates and amortized on straight-line basis over
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20 years lTCTransmission recorded amortization expense of $3.0 million annually during 2008 2007 and
2006 which is included in depreciation and amortization

METC ADIT Deferrals

The original amount recorded for the regulatory asset for METC ADIT Deferrals of $42.5 million is

recognized in rates and amortized over 18 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the

amortization period established in the METC rate case settlement Refer to additional discussion of METC
ADIT Deferrals in Note under METC Rate Case Settlement METC earns an equity return on the

remaining unamortized balance of the regulatory asset for METC ADIT Deferrals METC recorded

amortization expense of $2.4 million annually during 2008 and 2007 respectively which is included in

depreciation and amortization

METC Regulatory Deferrals

The original amount recorded for the regulatory asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals of $15.4 million

is recognized in rates and amortized over 20 years beginning January 2007 which corresponds to the

amortization period established in the METC rate case settlement Refer to additional discussion of METC
Regulatory Deferrals in Note under METC Rate Case Settlement METC earns an equity return on the

remaining unamortized balance of the regulatory asset for METC Regulatory Deferrals METC recorded

amortization expense of $0.8 million during 2008 and 2007 respectively which is included in depreciation

and amortization

Unamortized Loss on Reacquired Debt

In March 2007 lTCTransmission terminated its revolving credit agreement dated as of July 2003 and

replaced it with new facility In accordance with SFAS 71 the remaining unamortized balance of deferred

financing fees of $0.5 million relating to the terminated agreement was reclassified from deferred financing

fees to other regulatory assets This amount is amortized on straight-line basis through March 2010
which was the maturity date of the revolving credit agreement In addition in July 2003 the balance of

ITCTransmissions unamortized debt expense of $10.9 million relating to ITCTransmissions debt

redeemed with the July 2003 refinancing was reclassified from deferred financing fees to other regulatory

assets This amount is amortized on straight-line basis through February 2009 which was the maturity

date of ITCTransmissions debt redeemed in the July 2003 refinancing During 2008 2007 and 2006
ITCTransmission recognized amortization expense of $2.2 million $2.1 million and $1.9 million respec

tively associated with these regulatory assets which was recorded to interest expense ITCTransmission

does not earn an equity return on these regulatory assets but they are included as component of long-

term interest used to calculate the cost of long-term debt under forward-looking Attachment

AFUDC Equity

SFAS 109 provides that regulatory asset be recorded if it is probable that future increase in taxes

payable relating to AFUDC Equity will be recovered from customers through future rates pursuant to the

provisions of SFAS 71 Under forward-looking Attachment the future taxes payable relating to AFUDC
Equity will be recovered from customers in future rates Forward-looking Attachment contains true-up

mechanism such that our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries collect their actual net revenue requirement

which includes taxes payable relating to AFUDC Equity The carrying amount of this regulatory asset is

related to the income taxes on AFUDC Equity recognized that is expected to be earned in future revenues

Because AFUDC Equity is component of property plant and equipment that is included in rate base

when the plant is placed in service and the related deferred tax liabilities are not reduction to rate base
we effectively earn return on this regulatory asset
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Pensions and Postretirement

Upon adoption of SFAS 158 amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to

accumulated other comprehensive income associated with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 87 Employers Accounting for Pensions SFAS 87 and Statement of Financial Accounting Stan

dards No 106 EmployersAccounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions SFAS 106 are

recorded as regulatory asset or liability because as the unrecognized amounts recorded to this

regulatory asset are recognized through SFAS 87 and SFAS 106 expenses will be recovered from

customers in future rates under forward-looking Attachment Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do

not earn return on the balance of the Pension and Postretirement regulatory asset

Regulatory Liabilities

The following table summarizes the regulatory liabilities balances at December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Regulatory Liabilities

Accrued asset removal costs $196656 $189515

Attachment revenue deferrala

Current including accrued interest of $24 as of December 31 2008b 228

Non-current including accrued interest of $8 as of December 31 2007 212

Total $196884 $189727

Refer to discussion above under Attachment revenue accrual

Current portion of Regulatory Liabilities Attachment revenue deferral including accrued interest is

recorded with other current liabilities on our consolidated statement of financial position

Accrued Asset Removal Costs

The carrying amount of the accrued asset removal costs represents the accrued asset removal costs

to remove the asset at retirement The portion of depreciation expense related to asset removal costs is

added to this regulatory liability and removal expenditures incurred are charged to this regulatory liability

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries include this item within accumulated depreciation for rate-making

purposes which is reduction to rate base
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment-net consisted of the following at December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Property plant and equipment

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

Property plant and equipment in service $3003312 $2637452

Construction work in progress 163655 164622

Capital equipment inventory 45282 16157

Other 10843 14863

ITC Holdings and other 7184 7182

Total 3230276 2840276

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 925890 879843

Property plant and equipment-net $2304386 $1960433

Additions to transmission property plant and equipment in service and construction work in progress

during 2008 and 2007 were primarily for projects to upgrade or replace existing transmission plant to

improve the reliability of our transmission systems
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LONG-TERM DEBT

The following amounts were outstanding at December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

ITC Holdings Bridge Facility
765000

ITC Holdings 5.25% Senior Notes due July 15 2013 net of discount of

$540 and $658 respectively 266460 266342

ITC Holdings 6.04% Senior Notes Series due September 20 2014 .. 50000 50000

ITC Holdings 5.875% Senior Notes due September 30 2016 net of

discount of $26 and $29 respectively 254974 254971

ITC Holdings 6.23% Senior Notes Series due September 20 2017 .. 50000 50000

ITC Holdings 6.375% Senior Notes due September 30 2036 net of

discount of $212 and $220 respectively 254788 254780

ITC Holdings 6.050% Senior Notes due January 31 2018 net of discount

of $1434 383566

ITC Holdings Credit Agreement 67953 46100

lTCTransmission 4.45% First Mortgage Bonds Series due July 15

2013 net of discount of $54 and $66 respectively 184946 184934

lTCTransmission 6.125% First Mortgage Bonds Series due March 31

2036 net of discount of $100 and $103 respectively 99900 99897

lTCTransmission 5.75% First Mortgage Bonds Series due April 18
2018 net of discount of $106 99894

lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement 42065 96400

METC 5.75% Senior Secured Notes due December 10 2015 175000 175000

METC 6.63% Senior Secured Notes due December 18 2014 50000

ITC Midwest 6.15% First Mortgage Bonds Series due January 31

2038 net of discount of $511 174489

ITC Midwest 7.12% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 22

2017 40000

ITC Midwest 7.27% First Mortgage Bonds Series due December 22

2020 35000

ITC Midwest Credit Agreement 19218

Total long-term debt $2248253 $2243424

The annual maturities of long-term debt as of December 31 2008 are as followŒ

In thousands

2009

2010

2011

2012 110018

2013 471218

2014 and thereafter 1670000

Total $2251236
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ITC Holdings

Bridge Facility

In connection with ITC Midwests asset acquisition ITC Holdings received commitment letter dated

January 18 2007 from bank the Lead Arranger to provide to ITC Holdings subject to the terms and

conditions therein financing in an aggregate amount of up to $765.0 million in the form of 364-day senior

unsecured bridge facility the Bridge Facility Among other fees paid on the Bridge Facility ITC Holdings

paid funding fee equal to 0.375% of the aggregate amount of the loans borrowed the Funding Fee The

Funding Fee was rebated in full in January 2008 as result of the Bridge Facility being refinanced with the

Lead Arranger within the specif ied time period and was applied as reduction to the issuance costs of ITC

Midwests asset acquisition financings The borrowings under the Bridge Facility accrued interest at 5.56%

and total interest expense recognized in 2008 and 2007 were $2.7 million and $1.4 million respectively

The proceeds from the Bridge Facility were used to finance significant portion of ITC Midwests asset

acquisition

In January 2008 we repaid in full all amounts outstanding under the Bridge Facility using the proceeds

of ITC Holdings $385.0 million 6.05% Senior Notes due January 31 2018 Senior Notes ITC Midwests

$175.0 million 6.15% First Mortgage Bonds Series due January 31 2038 Series Bonds and the

issuance of 6420737 shares of ITC Holdings common stock for proceeds of $308.3 million net of

underwriting discount of $13.7 million and before issuance costs of $0.8 million Refer to Note 13 under

ITC Holdings Common Stock Offerings for discussion of the ITC Holdings common stock issuance

Terms of the Senior Notes and ITC Midwest Series Bonds are discussed below

Senior Notes

On January 24 2008 ITC Holdings issued $385.0 million aggregate principal amount of its Senior

Notes under its first mortgage indenture dated as of December 10 2003 in private placement in reliance

on exemptions from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 The Senior Notes were sold to various

initial purchasers pursuant to purchase agreement dated January 15 2008 The proceeds were used to

partially pay off the balance of the Bridge Facility discussed above

ITCTransmission

First Mortgage Bonds

On April 2008 ITCTransmission issued $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 5.75% First

Mortgage Bonds Series due April 18 2018 the Series Bonds The Series Bonds are issued

under llCTransmissions First Mortgage and Deed of Trust and therefore have the benefit of first

mortgage lien on substantially all of lTCTransmissions property The proceeds were used primarily to pay

off amounts outstanding under the lTCTransmission/M ETC Revolving Credit Agreement and for general

corporate purposes

METC

Senior Secured Notes

On December 18 2008 METC issued $50.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 6.63% Senior

Secured Notes due December18 2014 the METC Senior Secured Notes The METC Senior Secured

Notes are secured by first priority security interest in all of METCs assets equally with all other securities

under the First Mortgage Indenture The proceeds were used primarily to pay off amounts outstanding

under the ITCTransmission/METC Revolving Credit Agreement and for general corporate purposes
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ITC Midwest

First Mortgage Bonds

On January 24 2008 ITC Midwest issued $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of its Series

Bonds The Series Bonds are secured by first mortgage lien on substantially all of ITC Midwests real

and tangible personal property equally with all other securities issued in the future under its First Mortgage

and Deed of Trust with such exceptions as described in and such releases as permitted by the indenture

The proceeds were used to partially pay off the balance of the ITC Holdings Bridge Facility discussed

above

On December 22 2008 ITC Midwest issued $40.0 million of its 7.12% First Mortgage Bonds

Series due December 22 2017 the Series Bonds and $35.0 million of its 7.27% First Mortgage

Bonds Series due December 22 2020 the Series Bonds The Series Bonds and the Series

Bonds are issued under its First Mortgage and Deed of Trust and therefore have the benefit of first

mortgage lien on substantially all of ITC Midwests property The proceeds were used primarily to pay off

amounts outstanding under the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement and for general corporate

purposes

Revolving Credit Agreements

Lehman Brothers Bank FSB Lehman member of our revolving credit agreement syndication

was included in bankruptcy filing made by its parent Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc on September 14

2008 Lehmans commitment of $55.0 million is 16.2% of our total consolidated revolving credit agreement

capacity of $340.0 million Lehman has not funded their share of recent borrowing notices and we are

attempting to identify replacement bank to fulfill Lehmans commitment but given the favorable terms of

our existing agreement compared to current market conditions it is unlikely we will be able to find

replacement bank

ITC Holdings Credit Agreement

On March 29 2007 ITC Holdings entered into revolving credit agreement the ITC Holdings Credit

Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 that establishes an unguaranteed unsecured revolving credit

facility under which ITC Holdings may borrow and issue letters of credit up to $125.0 million subject to

increase to $150.0 million with consent of the lenders The maturity date of the ITC Holdings Credit

Agreement is March 29 2012 With consent of the lenders holding majority of the commitments under

the ITC Holdings Credit Agreement ITC Holdings may extend the maturity date of the ITC Holdings Credit

Agreement for up to two additional one-year periods Loans under the ITC Holdings Credit Agreement are

variable rate loans with rates on LIBOR-based loans varying from 20 to 110 basis points over the

applicable LIBOR rate depending on ITC Holdings credit rating and the amount of the credit line in use

and rates on other loans at the higher of prime or 50 basis points over the federal funds rate At

December 31 2008 and 2007 ITC Holdings had $68.0 million and $46.1 million outstanding under

the ITC Holdings Credit Agreement respectively The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings

outstanding under the facility at December 31 2008 and 2007 was 1.6% and 5.6% respectively The

ITC Holdings Credit Agreement also provides for the payment to the lenders of commitment fee on the

average daily unused commitments at rates varying from .05% to 0.20% each year depending on ITC

Holdings credit rating

lTCTransmissionlMETC Credit Agreement

On March 29 2007 ITCTransmission and METC entered into revolving credit agreement the

lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 that establishes an
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unguaranteed unsecured revolving credit facility under which lTCTransmission may borrow and issue

letters of credit up to $105.0 million as modified December 27 2007 and METC may borrow and issue

letters of credit up to $60.0 million subject to increase to $85.0 million with consent of the lenders The

maturity date of the lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement is March 29 2012 With consent of the

lenders holding majority of the commitments under the llCTransmission/M ETC Credit Agreement

lTCTransmission and METC may extend the maturity date of the lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agree

ment for up to two additional one-year periods Loans made under the lTCTransmission/METC Credit

Agreement are variable rate loans with rates on LIBOR-based loans varying from 20 to 110 basis points

over the applicable LIBOR rate depending on lTCTransmission and METCs credit ratings and the amount

of the credit line in use and rates on other loans at the higher of prime or 50 basis points over the federal

funds rate At December 31 2008 and 2007 ITCTransmission had $26.5 million and $78.5 million

outstanding under the lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement respectively At December 31 2008

and 2007 METC had $15.6 million and $17.9 million outstanding under the lTCTransmission/METC Credit

Agreement respectively The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings outstanding under the facility

at December31 2008 and 2007 was 2.1% and 5.4% respectively for both lTCTransmission and METC

The ITCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement also provides for the payment to the lenders of com

mitment fee on the average daily unused commitments at rates varying from .05% to 0.20% each year

depending on lTCTransmissions and METCs credit ratings

ITC Midwest Credit Agreement

On January 29 2008 ITC Midwest entered into Revolving Credit Agreement that establishes an

unguaranteed unsecured $50.0 million subject to increase to $75.0 million with consent of the lenders

revolving credit agreement under which ITC Midwest may borrow and issue letters of credit The maturity

date of the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement is January 29 2013 ITC Midwests loans made

under the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement will bear interest at variable rate with rates on

LIBOR-based loans varying from 20 to 110 basis points over the applicable LIBOR rate depending on ITC

Midwests credit rating and the amount of the credit line in use and rates on other loans at the higher of

prime or 50 basis points over the federal funds rate The ITC Midwest Credit Agreement also provides for

the payment to the lenders of commitment fee on the average daily unused commitments at rates varying

from .05% to 0.2% each year depending on ITC Midwests credit rating At December 31 2008 ITC

Midwest had $19.2 million outstanding under the ITC Midwest Revolving Credit Agreement and the

weighted-average interest rate of borrowings outstanding under the facility at December 31 2008 was

0.9%

Fair Value of Long Term Debt

Fixed Rate Long Term Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with similar terms and average

maturities the fair value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding revolving credit agreements was

$1986.2 million at December31 2008 The total book value of our consolidated long-term debt excluding

revolving credit agreements was $2119.0 million at December 31 2008 We performed an analysis

calculating the impact of changes in interest rates on the fair value of long-term debt excluding revolving

credit agreements at December 31 2008 An increase in interest rates of 10% at December 31 2008

would decrease the fair value of debt by $96.5 million and decrease in interest rates of 10% at

December 31 2008 would increase the fair value of debt by $106.1 million at that date
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Revolving Credit Agreements

At December31 2008 we had consolidated total of $129.2 million outstanding under our revolving

credit agreements which are variable rate loans and therefore fair value approximates book value 10%

increase or decrease in borrowing rates under the revolving credit agreements compared to the weighted

average rates in effect at December 31 2008 would increase or decrease the total interest expense by

$0.2 million respectively for an annual period on constant borrowing level of $129.2 million

EARNINGS PER SHARE

We report both basic and diluted earnings per share Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing

net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period

Diluted earnings per share assumes the issuance of potentially dilutive shares of common stock during the

period resulting from the exercise of common stock options and vesting of restricted stock awards

reconciliation of both calculations for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is presented in

the following table

2008 2007 2006

In thousands except share and per share data

Basic earnings per share

Net income 109208 73296 33223

Weighted-average shares outstanding 48605951 42298478 35048049

Basic earnings per share 2.25 1.73 0.95

Diluted earnings per share

Net income 109208 73296 33223

Weighted-average shares outstanding 48605951 42298478 35048049

Incremental shares of share-based awards 1164730 1242828 1188895

Weighted-average dilutive shares outstanding 49770681 43541306 36236944

Diluted earnings per share 2.19 1.68 0.92

Basic earnings per share excludes 591447 439964 and 366035 shares of restricted common stock

at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively that were issued and outstanding but had not yet

vested as of such dates

Diluted earnings per share excludes 775276 104720 and 219673 potential shares of common stock

relating to stock options and restricted stock awards at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

because the effect of including these potential shares was anti-dilutive
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10 INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rate varied from the statutory federal income tax rate due to differences between the

book and tax treatment of various transactions as follows

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Income tax expense at 35% statutory rate $61765 $38481 $16398

State income taxes net of federal benefit 6769 4047
Valuation allowance state income taxes 1829 4047

AFUDC Equity 3601 2691 2909
Other net 500 860 169

Income tax provision $67262 $36650 $13658

Components of the income tax provision were as follows

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Current income tax expense 2208 428

Deferred income tax expense 65054 36650 13230

Total income tax provision $67262 $36650 $13658

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effect of temporary

differences between the tax basis of assets or liabilities and the reported amounts in the financial

statements Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as current or noncurrent according to the

classification of the related assets or liabilities Deferred tax assets and liabilities not related to assets or

liabilities are classified according to the expected reversal date of the temporary differences

89



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Deferred income tax assets liabilities consisted of the following at December 31

2008 2007

In thousands

Property plant and equipment $1 32295 81 847
Federal income tax NOLs 78186 32178

Michigan Business Tax deductions 22316 24621

METC regulatory deferrala 19250 19213

Acquisition adjustments ADIT deferrala 16216 13761
Goodwill 39298 29144
Attachment revenue accrual deferral-net including accrued

interest 41051 7730
Pension and postretirement liabilities 9180 5861

State income tax NOLs 14874 3199

Othernet 14617 1955

Deferred tax asset valuation allowanceb 13194 4047

Net deferred tax assets liabilities $1 51365 87928

Gross deferred income tax liabilities $280554 $165443
Gross deferred income tax assets 142383 81562

Deferred tax asset valuation allowanceb 13194 4047

Net deferred tax assets liabilities $1 51365 87928

Described in Note

The deferred tax asset valuation allowance relates primarily to state income tax NOLs for which it is

more likely than not that tax benefit will not be realized

We have estimated federal income tax NOLs of $253.4 million as of December 31 2008 all of which

we expect to use prior to their expiration These federal income tax NOLs result in part from accelerated

depreciation methods for property plant and equipment for income tax reporting purposes The federal

income tax NOLs of $38.5 million included in the 2006 consolidated tax return for the entities acquired in

the METC acquisition would expire beginning in 2019 The remaining estimated federal income tax NOLs

of $214.9 million would expire in 2023 2024 and 2026

Included in the $253.4 million total estimated federal income tax NOLs is $30.3 million $10.6 million

after tax of federal income tax NOLs relating to tax deductions for share-based compensation not

recognized in the consolidated financial statements Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R under the

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Com
pensation SFAS 123 we recorded tax deductions that exceeded the cumulative compensation cost

recognized for options exercised or restricted shares that vested as increases to additional paid-in capital

and increases in deferred tax assets for federal income tax NOLs in the consolidated statement of financial

position SFAS 123R requires that the excess tax deductions be recognized as additional paid-in capital

only if that deduction reduces taxes payable as result of realized cash benefit from the deduction For

the year ended December 31 2008 and 2007 we did not recognize the tax effects of the excess tax

deductions as additional paid-in capital or increases to NOL deferred tax assets as the deductions have

not resulted in reduction of taxes payable due to our federal income tax NOLs
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Michigan Business Tax

On July 12 2007 Michigan law was enacted to replace the Michigan Single Business Tax effective

January 2008 Key features of the new tax include business income tax at rate of 4.95% and

modified gross receipts tax at rate of 0.80% with deductions and credits for certain activities In

December 2007 21.99% surcharge was added to the Michigan Business Tax The surcharge expires no

earlier than January 2017 The Michigan Single Business Tax that was in effect through December31

2007 was accounted for as tax other than income tax The new tax is accounted for as an income tax

under the provisions of SFAS 109 The new tax resulted in state income tax provision recorded for the

year ended December31 2008 of $8.4 million For the year ended December31 2007 we had recorded

$2.0 million in taxes other than income taxes for the Michigan Single Business Tax

11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND ASSETS HELD IN TRUST

Incremental Effect of Applying SFAS 158 Measurement Provisions

In 2008 we adopted the measurement provisions of SFAS 158 and were required to adopt the change

in measurement date from September 30 to December 31 by allocating as an adjustment to retained

earnings three-f ifteenths of net periodic benefit cost as determined for the period from September30 2007

to December 31 2008

The following table represents the fourth quarter effect of our consolidated statement of financial

position as result of adopting the measurement provision of SFAS 158 at December 31 2008

Before After

Application of Application of

Measurement Measurement
Date Provision Date Provision

of SFAS 158 Adjustments of SFAS 158

In thousands

Other regulatory assets 40213 365 39848

Total assets 3714930 365 3714565

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities 23248 1047 24295

Deferred income taxes non-current 145429 540 144889

Retained earnings 82140 872 81268

Total stockholders equity 929935 872 929063

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 3714930 365 3714565

Retirement Plan Benefits

We have retirement plan for eligible employees comprised of traditional final average pay plan and

cash balance plan The retirement plan is noncontributory covers substantially all employees and

provides retirement benefits based on the employees years of benefit service average final compensation

and age at retirement The cash balance plan benefits are based on eligible compensation and interest

credits While we are obligated to fund the retirement plan by contributing the minimum amount required by

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 it is our practice to contribute the maximum

allowable amount as defined by section 404 of the Internal Revenue Code We made contributions of

$2.1 million and $4.0 million to the retirement plan in 2008 and 2007 respectively although we had no

minimum funding requirements We expect to contribute $3.2 million to the defined benefit retirement plan

relating to the 2008 plan year in 2009

We have also established two supplemental nonqualified noncontributory retirement benefit plans

for selected management employees The plans provide for benefits that supplement those provided by

91



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

our other retirement plans For the year ended December 31 2008 we funded $1.0 million to our

supplemental retirement benefit plans The investments in trust for the supplemental nonqualified retire

ment plans of $4.6 million and $5.2 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 are included in other assets

We account for the assets contributed under the supplemental nonqualified retirement plan and held in

trust as trading securities under Financial Accounting Standards No 115 Accounting for Certain Invest

ments in Debt and Equity Securities SFAS 115 Accordingly realized and unrealized gains or losses on

the investments are recorded as investment income or loss We recognized losses of $1.8 million in other

expenses during 2008 and gains of $0.1 million and $0.1 million in other income during 2007 and 2006

respectively associated with realized and unrealized gains and losses on the investments held in trust

associated with our supplemental nonqualified retirement plans

The investment objective of the retirement benefit plan is to maximize total return with moderate

tolerance for risk Targeted asset allocation is equally weighted between equity and fixed income secu

rities Management believes that this strategy will provide flexibility for liquidity purposes but also estab

lishes some investment for growth

The plan assets consisted of the following assets by category

Asset Category 2008 2007

Fixed income securities 61.9% 48.4%

Equity securities 38.1% 51.6%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Net pension cost for 2008 2007 and 2006 includes the following components

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Service cost 1977 1493 $1165

Interest cost 1164 996 961

Expected return on plan assets 1038 650 426

Amortization of prior service cost 882 1101 23
Amortization of actuarial loss 1762 1952 1835

Net pension cost 2983 2690 $3512

The effective date of the annual measurement changed from September 30 to December 31

beginning in 2008 pursuant to the measurement provisions of SFAS 158 The following table reconciles

the obligations assets and funded status of the pension plans as well as the amounts recognized as

92



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

accrued pension liability in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31 2008 and

2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning projected benefit obligation $18869 $16161
SFAS 158 measurement date adjustment 785
Service cost 1977 1493
Interest cost 1164 996
Actuarial net loss 3692 101
Plan amendments 145
Benefits paid 312 27

Ending projected benefit obligation $26175 $18869

Change in Plans Assets

Beginning plan assets at fair value 13424 8379

SFAS 158 measurement date adjustment 259

Actual loss return on plan assets 3179 1072

Employer contributions 2102 4000

Benefits paid 312 27

Ending plan assets at fair value 12294 13424

Funded status underfunded $13881 5445

Ending accumulated benefit obligation $22178 $16233
Amounts recorded as

Funded Status

Other assets 1560

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities 13881 7006

Total $13881 5446

Unrecognized Amounts in Other Regulatory Assets

Net actuarial loss 8490 2782

Prior service credit 226 1328

Total 8264 1454

The unrecognized amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated

other comprehensive income associated with SFAS 87 are recorded as regulatory asset on our

consolidated statements of financial position We also recorded deferred income tax liability on the

regulatory asset in deferred income tax liabilities on our consolidated statements of financial position The

amounts recorded as regulatory asset represent net periodic benefit cost to be recognized in our

operating income in future periods

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation are listed below

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 5.95% 6.19% 5.95%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 3.50%
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Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost for 2008 2007 and 2006 are listed below

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.19% 5.95% 5.50%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 3.50%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.25% 7.00% 7.00%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was estimated using market benchmarks for

equities and bonds applied to the plans target asset allocation The expected return on the plan assets

component of net pension cost was determined based on the expected long-term rate of return on plan

assets and the fair value of plan assets

At December 31 2008 the projected benefit payments for the defined benefit retirement plan

calculated using the same assumptions as those used to calculate the benefit obligation described above

are listed below

In thousands

2009

2010 838

2011 1663

2012 2154

2013 2054

2014 through 2018 12427

Other Postretirement Benefits

We provide certain postretirement health care dental and life insurance benefits for employees who

may become eligible for these benefits Contributions to the plan in 2008 and 2007 totaled $1.3 and

$0.4 million respectively We expect to contribute $1.3 million to the plan in 2009 In addition as condition

of the Asset Sale Agreement with IPL we assumed $1.7 million of prior service obligations for postre

tirement benefits for participants who transferred from lPL to us

The investment objective for the postretirement benefit plan is to maximize total return with moderate

tolerance for risk Targeted asset allocation is equally weighted between equity and fixed income secu

rities This strategy will provide flexibility for liquidity purposes but also establishes some investment for

growth

The plan assets consisted of the following assets by category

Asset Category
2008 2007

Fixed income securities 73.7% 42.0%

Equity securities 26.3% 58.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

On December 2003 the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

the Act was signed into law In accordance with FASB Staff Position No 106-2 our measurement of the

accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December31 2008 and September 30 2007 reflects

amounts associated with the expected subsidies under the Act because we have concluded that the

benefits provided by the plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part under the Act
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Net postretirement cost for 2008 2007 and 2006 includes the following components

In thousands

Service cost $1632

Interest cost 672

Expected return on plan assets 218
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost 580

Amortization of actuarial gain loss

Net postretirement cost $2666
______ ______

The effective date of the annual measurement changed from September 30 to December 31 starting

on January 2008 The following table reconciles the obligations assets and funded status of the plans as

well as the amounts recognized as accrued postretirement liability in the consolidated statement of

financial position as of December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

In thousands

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning accumulated postretirement obligation

SFAS 158 measurement date adjustment

Service cost

Interest cost

Obligation assumed in ITC Midwests asset acquisition

Amendments

Actuarial gain loss

Benefits paid _______ ______

Ending accumulated postretirement obligation

Change in Plans Assets

Beginning plan assets at fair value

SFAS 158 measurement date adjustment

Actual loss return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Employer provided retiree premiums

Benefits paid _______ ______

Ending Plan assets at fair value
_______ ______

Funded status underfunded $10414 $6928

Amounts recorded as

Funded Status

Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities _______ ______

Total
_______ ______

Unrecognized Amounts in Other Regulatory Assets

Net actuarial loss

Prior service cost
_______ ______

Total

2008 2007 2006

982

330

93
235

94

$1360

$1181

272

42

76

$1487

9139
576

1632
672

1669

$4859

982
330

2025
239 943

30

$1 3419

2211

55

558
1297

30

30
3005

$9139

$1591

225

395

$2211

$1 0414

$1 0414

923

1065

1988

$6928

$6928

388

1790

$2178
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The unrecognized amounts that otherwise would have been charged and or credited to accumulated

other comprehensive income associated with SFAS 106 are recorded as regulatory asset on our

consolidated statements of financial position We also recorded deferred income tax liability on the

regulatory asset in deferred income tax liabilities on our consolidated statements of financial position The

amounts recorded as regulatory asset represent net periodic benefit cost to be recognized in our

operating income in future periods

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation are as follows

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 5.95% 6.19% 5.95%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 3.50%

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 11.00% 10.50% 11.00%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2016 2015 2015

Annual rate of increase in dental benefit costs 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit cost for 2008 2007 and 2006 are as follows

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.19% 5.95% 5.50%

Annual rate of salary increases 5.00% 5.00% 3.50%

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 11.00% 11.00% 12.00%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2016 2015 2015

At December 31 2008 the projected benefit payments for the postretirement benefit plan calculated

using the same assumptions as those used to calculate the benefit obligations listed above are listed

below

In thousands

2009 134

2010 193

2011 256

2012 334

2013 482

2014 through 2018 5010

Assumed health care cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for the health

care plans one-percentage-point increase or decrease in assumed health care cost trend rates would

have the foltowing effects on costs for 2008 and the postretirement benefit obligation at December 31

2008

One-Percentage- One-Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decrease

In thousands

Effect on total of service and interest cost 252 205

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 1318 1081
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Defined Contribution Plans

We also sponsor defined contribution retirement savings plan Participation in this plan is available

to substantially all employees We match employee contributions up to certain predefined limits based

upon eligible compensation and the employees contribution rate The cost of this plan was $1.8 million

$1.4 million and $1.1 million for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

12 OTHER COMPENSATION PLANS

Special Bonus Plans

On June 15 2005 our board of directors approved two discretionary bonus plans the ITC Holdings

Executive Group Special Bonus Plan and the ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan under which plan

participants had amounts credited to accounts which were maintained for each participant in respect

of each calendar year during which the plans are in place Under the special bonus plans in determining

the amounts to be credited to the plan participants accounts our board of directors is to give consideration

to dividends paid or expected to be paid on our common stock during each year Our board of directors

can generally amend or terminate the plans at any time except that no such amendment or termination

can materially and adversely affect accrued and vested rights unless an amendment is necessary to

satisfy applicable laws or new accounting standards All distributions under these plans are payable only in

cash The special bonus plans are accounted for as compensation plans

On November 12 2007 the compensation committee of the board of directors approved amendments

to the ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan and the ITC Holdings Executive Group Special Bonus Plan

providing that amounts previously deferred under the plans became vested and immediately payable and

that any future special bonus amounts awarded under the plans would be immediately vested Prior to

these amendments awards made under the special bonus plans were amortized to expense over the

vesting period of the award if the award vests in the future or expensed immediately if the participant is

vested in the award at the time of the award In December 2007 $2.0 million previously deferred under the

ITC Holdings Special Bonus Plan was paid by us from the funded trust to non-executive employee
participants and $1.6 million previously deferred under the ITC Holdings Executive Group Special Bonus

Plan was paid by us from cash on hand to executive employee participants

In 2008 we recognized $2.2 million in general and administrative expenses relating to the special

bonus plan In 2007 we recognized $4.2 million in general and administrative expenses relating to the

special bonus plans consisting of $2.5 million for awards authorized during 2007 and $1.7 million for

awards authorized in 2006 and 2005 for which expense had not yet been recognized as result of the

vesting of these previously deferred awards as discussed above In 2006 we recognized $1.6 million in

general and administrative expenses relating to the special bonus plans

Deferred Compensation Plan

Certain of our employees participate in our deferred compensation plan The investments in the

deferred compensation plan trust of $0.3 million and $0.5 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 are

included in other assets with the corresponding liability recorded in other liabilities We account for the

assets contributed under the deferred compensation plan and held in trust as trading securities under

SFAS 115 Accordingly gains or losses on the investments for which the employees are at risk for the

investment returns are recorded as investment income or loss with an offsetting amount recorded to

compensation expense During 2008 we recognized $0.2 million of investment loss with an offsetting
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$0.2 million reduction in compensation expense recorded in general and administrative expense Com

pensation expense as well as investment income was less than $0.1 million for 2007 and 2006

13 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Common Stock

General ITC Holdings authorized capital stock consists of

100 million shares of common stock without par value and

10 million shares of preferred stock without par value

As of December31 2008 there were 49654518 shares of our common stock outstanding no shares

of preferred stock outstanding and 502 holders of record of our common stock

Voting Rights Each holder of ITC Holdings common stock including holders of our common stock

subject to restricted stock awards is entitled to cast one vote for each share held of record on all matters

submitted to vote of stockholders including the election of directors Holders of ITC Holdings common

stock have no cumulative voting rights

Dividends Holders of our common stock including holders of common stock subject to restricted

stock awards are entitled to receive dividends or other distributions declared by the board of directors The

right of the board of directors to declare dividends is subject to the right of any holders of ITC Holdings

preferred stock to the extent that any preferred stock is authorized and issued and the availability under

the Michigan Business Corporation Act of sufficient funds to pay dividends We have not issued any shares

of preferred stock The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the discretion of ITC Holdings

board of directors and depends on various factors including our net income financial condition cash

requirements future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by ITC Holdings board of directors

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of the stock

and membership interests in its subsidiaries deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax

NOLs and cash on hand ITC Holdings only sources of cash to pay dividends to our stockholders are

dividends and other payments received by us from time to time from our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

and any other subsidiaries we may have and the proceeds raised from the sale of our debt and equity

securities Each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries however is legally distinct from ITC Holdings

and has no obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us for the payment of dividends

to ITC Holdings stockholders or otherwise The ability of each of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

and any other subsidiaries we may have to pay dividends and make other payments to ITC Holdings is

subject to among other things the availability of funds after taking into account capital expenditure

requirements the terms of its indebtedness applicable state laws and regulations of the FERC and the

FPA

Each of the ITC Holdings Credit Agreement the lTCTransmission/METC Credit Agreement the ITC

Midwest Credit Agreement and the note purchase agreements governing ITC Holdings Senior Notes

imposes restrictions on ITC Holdings and its subsidiaries respective abilities to pay dividends if an event of

default has occurred under the relevant agreement and thus ITC Holdings ability to pay dividends on its

common stock will depend upon among other things our level of indebtedness at the time of the proposed

dividend and whether we are in compliance with the covenants under our revolving credit facilities and our

other debt instruments ITC Holdings future dividend policy will also depend on the requirements of any
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future financing agreements to which we may be party and other factors considered relevant by ITC

Holdings board of directors

Liquidation Rights If ITC Holdings is dissolved the holders of our common stock will share ratably

in the distribution of all assets that remain after we pay all of our liabilities and satisfy our obligations to the

holders of any of ITC Holdings preferred stock to the extent that any preferred stock is authorized and

issued

Preemptive and Other Rights Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights to purchase

or subscribe for any of our stock or other securities of our company and there are no conversion rights or

redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect to our common stock

Repurchases In 2007 and 2006 we repurchased 41867 and 30605 shares of common stock for

an aggregate of $1.8 million and $1.0 million respectively which represented shares of common stock

delivered to us by employees as payment of tax withholdings due to us upon the vesting of restricted stock

No shares of common stock were repurchased during 2008

ITC Holdings Common Stock Offerings

In January 2008 ITC Holdings completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock ITC

Holdings sold 6420737 newly-issued common shares in the offering which resulted in proceeds of

$308.3 million net of underwriting discount of $13.7 million and before issuance costs of $0.8 million The

proceeds from this offering were used to partially finance ITC Midwests asset acquisition and for general

purposes

In February 2007 International Transmission Holdings Limited Partnership IT Holdings LP
formerly our largest shareholder sold or distributed its remaining 11390054 common shares through

secondary offering of 8149534 common shares and through distributions of 3240520 common shares

to its general and limited partners ITC Holdings received no proceeds from these offerings and distri

butions ITC Holdings incurred offering costs of $0.6 million relating to this transaction which was recorded

in general and administrative expenses in 2007

Prior to the February 2007 sale and distribution the ability of our shareholders other than IT Holdings

LP to influence our management and policies was limited including with respect to our acquisition or

disposition of assets the approval of merger or similar business combination the incurrence of

indebtedness the issuance of additional shares of common stock or other equity securities and the

payment of dividends or other distributions on our common stock In addition we could not take certain

actions that would adversely affect the limited partners of IT Holdings LP without their approval IT

Holdings LP has divested itself of all remaining common shares has dissolved and will not participate

further in our management

On October 10 2006 ITC Holdings completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock in

which it sold 6580987 newly-issued common shares which resulted in proceeds of $200.5 million net of

underwriting discount of $9.5 million and before issuance costs ITC Holdings incurred $2.4 million for

professional services and other costs in connection with the public offering which were recorded as

reduction in stockholders equity The proceeds from this offering were used to partially finance the METC
acquisition IT Holdings LP sold 6356513 shares of common shares through the offering from which sale

ITC Holdings received no proceeds
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ITC Holdings Sales Agency Financing Agreement

On June 27 2008 ITC Holdings entered into Sales Agency Financing Agreement the SAFE

Agreement with BNY Mellon Capital Markets LLC BNYMCM Under the terms of the SAFE Agree

ment ITC Holdings may issue and sell shares of common stock without par value from time to time up to

an aggregate sales price of $150.0 million The term of the SAFE Agreement is for period of up to June

2011 subject to continued approval from the FERC authorizing ITC Holdings to issue equity BNYMCM will

act as ITC Holdings agent in connection with any offerings of shares under the SAFE Agreement The

shares of common stock may be offered in one or more selling periods none of which will exceed 20

trading days Any shares of common stock sold under the SAFE Agreement will be offered at market prices

prevailing at the time of sale Moreover ITC Holdings will specify to BNYMCM the aggregate selling

price of the shares of common stock to be sold during each selling period which may not exceed

$40.0 million without BYNMCMs prior written consent and ii the minimum price below which sales may

not be made which may not be less than $10.00 per share without BNYMCMs prior written consent ITC

Holdings will pay BNYMCM commission equal to 1% of the sales price of all shares of common stock sold

through it as agent under the SAFE Agreement plus expenses The shares we would issue under the

SAFE Agreement have been registered under ITC Holdings automatic shelf registration statement on

Form S-3 File No 333-140026 filed on January 17 2007 with the SEC As of December31 2008 we

have not issued shares under the SAFE Agreement

Share-Based Compensation

Our Long Term Incentive Plan which was adopted in 2006 and amended and restated in 2008 the

LTIP permits the compensation committee to make grants of variety of share-based awards such as

options restricted shares and deferred stock units for cumulative amount of up to 4950000 shares to

employees directors and consultants The LTIP provides that no more than 3250000 of the shares may

be granted as awards to be settled in shares of common stock other than options or stock appreciation

rights No awards would be permitted after February 2012 Prior to the adoption of the LTIF we made

various share-based awards under the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan the 2003 Plan including

options and restricted stock In addition our board of directors and shareholders approved the imple

mentation of the ESPP The ESPP allows for the issuance of an aggregate of 180000 shares of our

common stock Participation in this plan is available to substantially all employees As of December 31

2008 4189877 shares were available for future issuance under our 2003 Stock Purchase and Option

Plan Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan including 2603115 shares

issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options of which 1792020 were vested We implemented

the ESPP effective April 2007 ITC Holdings issues new shares to satisfy option exercises restricted

stock grants employee ESPP purchases and settlement of deferred stock units

We recorded share-based compensation in 2008 2007 and 2006 as follows

2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Operation and maintenance expenses $1152 868 472

General and administrative expenses 4674 2509 2579

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle before

tax effect 45
Amounts capitalized to property plant and equipment 1446 707 491

Total share-based compensation $7272 $4084 $3497

Total tax benefit recognized for compensation expense $2328 $1147 $1052
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Tax deductions that exceed the cumulative compensation cost recognized for options exercised

restricted shares that vested or deferred stock units that are settled are recognized as additional paid-in

capital only if the tax deductions reduce taxes payable as result of realized cash benefit from the

deduction For the year ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we did not recognize excess tax

deductions for option exercises and restricted stock vesting of $2.0 million $5.9 million and $2.4 million

respectively in additional paid-in capital as the deductions have not resulted in cash benefit due to our

federal income tax NOLs We will recognize these excess tax deductions in additional paid-in capital when

the tax benefits are realized

Options

Our option grants vest in equal annual installments over five or three year period from the date of

grant or as result of other events such as death or disability of the option holder The options have term

of 10 years from the grant date Stock option activity for 2008 was as follows

Weighted
Number of Average

Options Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 2008 1364826 exercisable with

weighted average exercise price of $11.03 2503272 $16.92

Granted 244316 56.88

Exercised 141883 10.28

Forfeited 2590 40.54

Outstanding at December 31 2008 1792020 exercisable with

weighted average exercise price of $12.61 2603115 $21.01

Grant date fair value of the stock options was determined using Black-Scholes option pricing model

The following assumptions were used in determining the weighted-average fair value per option

2008 2007 2006

Option Grants Options Grants Options Grants

Weighted-average grant-date fair value per

option 13.31 9.08 6.77

Weighted-average expected volatilitya 24.7% 21.3% 22.2%

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 3.4% 4.5% 4.8%

Weighted-average expected termb years years years

Weighted-average expected dividend yield 2.14% 2.71% 3.33%

Estimated fair value of underlying shares 56.88 42.82 33.00

We estimated volatility using the volatility of our stock for the 2008 and 2007 option awards We
estimated volatility using the volatility of the stock of similar companies as well as our own stock for the

2006 option awards since we became publicly traded company in July 2005

The expected term represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding

We have utilized the simplified method permitted under Staff Accounting Bulletin No 110 in

determining the expected term for all option grants as we do not have sufficient historical exercise

data to provide reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of

time our equity shares have been publicly traded
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At December31 2008 the aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-average remaining contractual

term for all outstanding options were approximately $62.2 million and 6.0 years respectively At

December 31 2008 the aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted-average remaining contractual term

for exercisable options were $55.7 million and 5.1 years respectively The aggregate intrinsic value of

options exercised during 2008 2007 and 2006 were $6.2 million $13.1 million and $4.7 million respec

tively At December 31 2008 the total unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested options

awards was $5.2 million and the weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized was

2.8 years

We estimate that 2542071 of the options outstanding at December31 2008 will vest including those

already vested The weighted-average fair value aggregate intrinsic value arid the weighted-average

remaining contractual term for options shares that are vested and expected to vest as of December 31

2008 was $20.55 per share $61.8 million and 6.0 years respectively

Restricted Stock Awards

Holders of restricted stock awards have all the rights of holder of common stock of ITC Holdings

including dividend and voting rights The holder becomes vested as result of certain events such as death

or disability of the holder but not later than the vesting date of the awards The weighted average expected

remaining vesting period at December 31 2008 is 3.1 years Holders of restricted shares may not sell

transfer or pledge their restricted shares until the shares vest and the restrictions lapse

Restricted stock awards are recorded at fair value at the date of grant which is based on the closing

share price on the grant date Awards that were granted for future services are accounted for as unearned

compensation with amounts amortized over the vesting period

Restricted stock award activity for 2008 was as follows

Number of Weighted-
Restricted Average

Stock Grant Date

Awards Fair Value

Unvested restricted stock awards at January 2008 439964 $41.14

Granted 172261 55.07

Vested 4970 29.89

Forfeited 15808 43.07

Unvested restricted stock awards at December 31 2008 591447 $45.52

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock awarded during 2007 and 2006 was

$48.84 and $33.16 per share respectively The aggregate fair value of restricted stock awards as of

December 31 2008 was $25.8 million The aggregate fair value of restricted stock awards that vested

during 2008 2007 and 2006 was $0.1 million $5.7 million and $4.0 million respectively At December31

2008 the total unrecognized compensation cost related to the restricted stock awards was $20.8 million

and the weighted-average period over which that cost is expected to be recognized was 3.3 years

As of December 31 2008 we estimate that 486281 shares of the restricted shares outstanding at

December31 2008 will vest The weighted-average fair value aggregate intrinsic value and the weighted

average remaining contractual term for restricted shares that are expected to vest was $45.28 per share

$21.2 million and 3.1 years respectively
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP is compensatory plan accounted for under the expense recognition provisions of

SFAS 123R Compensation expense is recorded based on the fair market value of the purchase options

at the grant date which corresponds to the first day of each purchase period and is amortized over the

purchase period During 2008 and 2007 employees purchased 18593 and 8922 shares resulting in

proceeds from the sale of our common stock of $0.8 million and $0.3 million under the ESPF respectively

The total share-based compensation amortization for the ESPP was $0.2 million and $0.1 million in 2008
and 2007 respectively

Deferred Stock Units

Our deferred stock units will be paid in shares of the our common stock on each of the next three

anniversaries of the grant date in equal installments The deferred stock units do not contain any vesting

provisions that is our common stock will be issued at the anniversary dates of the grant dates irrespective

of employment status The deferred stock units do not provide for any voting rights until the deferred stock

units are delivered as shares of our common stock The deferred stock units have dividend equivalent

rights providing the holder with the right to any dividends declared on our common stock subsequent to the

grant date such that the holders receive additional deferred stock units with fair market value equal to the

cash dividends they would have received on the shares underlying the deferred stock units they hold as if

such underlying shares of common stock had been outstanding on the record date for the dividend The

additional dividend equivalent units granted will be settled in shares of our common stock at the same time

as the deferred stock units on which the dividend equivalents were received The deferred stock units are

not transferable by the holders but the shares issued upon each settlement date will be immediately

transferable

During 2008 we granted 15647 deferred stock units which include 370 deferred stock units granted

pursuant to dividend equivalent rights with weighted average grant date fair value of $55.49 per deferred

stock unit The aggregate fair value of deferred stock units as of December31 2008 was $0.7 million The

weighted-average remaining contractual term for the deferred stock units outstanding as of December31
2008 was 1.1 years During 2008 there were no settlements of the deferred stock units

14 JOINTLY OWNED UTILITY PLANT/COORDINATED SERVICES

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have agreements with other utilities for the joint ownership of

specific substations and transmission lines We account for these jointly owned substations and lines by

recording property plant and equipment for our percentage of ownership interest Transmission

Ownership and Operating Agreement or an Interconnection Facilities Agreement provides the authority

for construction of capital improvements and for the operating costs associated with the substations and
lines Each party is responsible for the capital operation and maintenance and other costs of these jointly

owned facilities based upon each participants undivided ownership interest Our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries participating share of expenses associated with these jointly held assets are primarily

recorded within operating and maintenance expense on our consolidated statement of operations
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We have investments in jointly owned utility facilities as shown in the table below as of December 31

2008

Construction

Net Investmenta Work in Progress

In thousands

Substations 89835 5068

Lines 87434 5683

Total $177269 $10751

Amount represents our investment in jointly held plant which has been reduced by the ownership

interest amounts of other parties

lTCTransmission

The Michigan Public Power Agency the MPPA has 50.41% ownership interest in two lTCTrans

mission 345 kV transmission lines lTCTransmissions net investment in these two lines totaled $21.7 mil

lion as of December 31 2008 MPPAs ownership portion entitles them to approximately 234 MW of

network transmission service over the ITCTransmission system An Ownership and Operating Agreement

with the MPPA provides lTCTransmission with authority for construction of capital improvements and for

the operation and management of the transmission lines The MPPA is responsible for the capital and

operating and maintenance costs allocable to their ownership interest

METC

METC has joint sharing of several substations that interconnect with Consumers Energy other

municipal distribution systems and other generators The rights responsibilities and obligations for these

jointly owned substation facilities are documented in the Amended and Restated Distribution Trans

mission Interconnection Agreement with Consumers Energy and in numerous Interconnection Facilities

Agreements with various municipals and other generators As of December 31 2008 METC had net

investments in jointly shared substations including jointly shared substations under construction totaling

$88.1 million of which METCs ownership percentages for these jointly owned substation facilities ranged

from 6.3% to 66.7% In addition the MPPA the Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative lnc the WPSC
and the Michigan South Central Power Agency the MSCPA each have an ownership interest in several

METC 345 kV transmission lines This ownership entitles the MPPA WPSC and MSCPA to approximately

608 MW of network transmission service over the METC transmission system As of December 31 2008

METCs had net investments in jointly shared transmission lines totaling $41.1 million of which METCs

ownership percentages for these jointly owned lines ranged from 35.6% to 64.8%

ITC Midwest

ITC Midwest has joint sharing of several substations and transmission lines with various parties As of

December 31 2008 ITC Midwest had net investments in jointly shared substations facilities including

jointly shared substations facilities under construction totaling $6.8 million of which ITC Midwests

ownership percentages for these jointly owned substations facilities ranged from 28.0% to 70.0% As

of December 31 2008 ITC Midwest had net investments in jointly shares transmission lines including

jointly shared transmission lines under construction totaling $30.4 million of which ITC Midwests own

ership percentage for the jointly owned substation facilities and lines ranged from 48.0% to 70.0%
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15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Environmental Matters

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries operations are subject to federal state and local environ

mental laws and regulations which impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment

establish standards for the management treatment storage transportation and disposal of hazardous

materials and of solid and hazardous wastes and impose obligations to investigate and remediate

contamination in certain circumstances Liabilities to investigate or remediate contamination as well

as other liabilities concerning hazardous materials or contamination such as claims for personal injury or

property damage may arise at many locations including formerly owned or operated properties and sites

where wastes have been treated or disposed of as well as at properties currently owned or operated by our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries Such liabilities mayarise even where the contamination does not result

from noncompliance with applicable environmental laws Under number of environmental laws such

liabilities may also be joint and several meaning that party can be held responsible for more than its

share of the liability involved or even the entire share Environmental requirements generally have become

more stringent and compliance with those requirements more expensive We are not aware of any specific

developments that would increase our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries costs for such compliance in

manner that would be expected to have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial

position or liquidity

Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries assets and operations also involve the use of materials

classified as hazardous toxic or otherwise dangerous Many of the properties our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries own or operate have been used for many years and include older facilities and equipment

that may be more likely than newer ones to contain or be made from such materials Some of these

properties include aboveground or underground storage tanks and associated piping Some of them also

include large electrical equipment filled with mineral oil which may contain or previously have contained

PCBs Our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries facilities and equipment are often situated close to or on

property owned by others so that if they are the source of contamination others property may be affected

For example aboveground and underground transmission lines sometimes traverse properties that our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not own and at some of our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

transmission stations transmission assets owned or operated by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

and distribution assets owned or operated by our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries transmission

customer are commingled

Some properties in which our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries have an ownership interest or at

which they operate are and others are suspected of being affected by environmental contamination Our

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries are not aware of any pending or threatened claims against them with

respect to environmental contamination or of any investigation or remediation of contamination at any

properties that entail costs likely to materially affect them Some facilities and properties are located near

environmentally sensitive areas such as wetlands

Claims have been made or threatened against electric utilities for bodily injury disease or other

damages allegedly related to exposure to electromagnetic fields associated with electric transmission and

distribution lines While our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not believe that causal link between

electromagnetic field exposure and injury has been generally established and accepted in the scientific

community if such relationship is established or accepted the liabilities and costs imposed on our

business could be significant We are not aware of any pending or threatened claims against our Regulated

Operating Subsidiaries for bodily injury disease or other damages allegedly related to exposure to

electromagnetic fields and electric transmission and distribution lines that entail costs likely to have

material adverse effect on our results of operations financial position or liquidity
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Litigation

We are involved in certain legal proceedings before various courts governmental agencies and

mediation panels concerning matters arising in the ordinary course of business These proceedings

include certain contract disputes regulatory matters and pending judicial matters We cannot predict the

final disposition of such proceedings We regularly review legal matters and record provisions for claims

that are considered probable of loss The resolution of pending proceedings is not expected to have

material effect on our operations or consolidated financial statements in the period in which they are

resolved

CSX Transportation Inc

On August 2006 CSX Transportation Inc CSX filed lawsuit in the United States District Court

for the Eastern District of Michigan alleging that lTCTransmission caused damage to equipment owned by

CSX and further claiming mitigation costs to protect against future damage In January 2007 lTCTrans

mission received notice from its insurance provider that it reserves its rights as to the insurance policy

asserting that damage claims of CSX arising from the contractual liability of lTCTransmission are not

covered under insurance In July 2008 ITCTransmission by and through its insurer reached settlement

agreement with CSX and the court entered an order of dismissal Additionally lTCTransmission has

settled with its insurer the amount to be covered by insurance for this matter During the year ended

December 31 2007 we recorded an accrual of $0.2 million for this matter in general and administrative

expenses which was sufficient to cover our obligations under the settlement

Michigan Sales and Use Tax Audit

The Michigan Department of Treasury the Department currently is conducting sales and use tax

audit of lTCTransmission for the audit period April 2005 through June 30 2008 The auditor has raised

an issue regarding whether lTCTransmission qualifies for the industrial processing exemption from sales

and use tax it has taken beginning January 2007 The industrial processing exemption at issue generally

provides an exemption from sales and use tax for an industrial processor or person pertorming industrial

processing activities for or on behalf of an industrial processor for purchases made by such business of

tangible personal property if the property is used or consumed in the conduct of industrial processing

activities

Based on an analysis of the industrial processing statutes and lTCTransmissions business activities

lTCTransmission claims the industrial processing exemption for purchases of tangible personal property

that it uses in its electricity transmission activities The purchases for which lTCTransmission claimed

exemption include all purchases of tangible property used in its integrated transmission process including

purchases of property to perform inspection quality control and testing activities and to perform planning

scheduling supervision or control of transmission and transformation of the high voltage electricity that

lTCTransmission receives from Detroit Edison

lTCTransmission has received no formal written or verbal communication indicating that its industrial

processing exemption will be denied However based on preliminary and informal communications with

the Department it appears likely that the Department will deny the exemption claims and assess additional

sales and use tax against lTCTransmission If an assessment is issued lTCTransmission will have

administrative appeal rights and if an administrative appeal is unsuccessful will have right to litigate any

assessment assuming certain jurisdictional requirements are satisfied in either the Michigan Tax Tribunal

or the Michigan Court of Claims

lTCTransmission believes that it has strong position supporting the validity of its industrial pro

cessing exemption under the Michigan industrial processing exemption statutes and is committed to

106



ITC HOLDINGS CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

vigorously defend against any potential denial of such exemption However if the Department makes an

assessment of sales and use tax based on denial of lTCTransmissions industrial processing exemption

and an appeal is required it is reasonably possible that the assessment of additional sales and use tax

could be sustained after all administrative appeals and litigation

The amount of sales and use tax liability associated with the exemptions taken by ITCTransmission

total several million dollars In the event it becomes appropriate to record additional sales and use tax

expense relating to this matter lTCTransmission would record the additional sales and use tax expense

primarily as an increase to the cost of property plant and equipment These higher sales and use tax

expenses would be passed on to lTCTransmissions customers through higher net revenue requirements

and resulting rates Any penalties and interest relating to this matter would potentially not be passed on

through rates METC has also taken the industrial processing exemption totaling several million dollars for

periods still subject to audit since 2005

Purchase Obligations and Leases

At December 31 2008 we had purchase obligations of $42.8 million representing commitments for

materials services and equipment that had not been received as of December 31 2008 primarily for

construction and maintenance projects for which we have an executed contract The majority of the items

relate to materials and equipment that have long production lead times that are expected to be paid for in

2009

We have operating leases for office space equipment and storage facilities We recognize expenses

relating to our operating lease obligations on straight-line basis over the term of the lease We recognized

rent expense of $0.6 million $1.0 million and $0.8 million for the year ended December31 2008 2007 and

2006 respectively recorded in general and administrative and operation and maintenance expenses
These amounts and the amounts in the table below do not include any expense or payments to be made

under the METC Easement Agreement described below under Other Commitments METC
Amended and Restated Easement Agreement with Consumers Energy

Future minimum lease payments under the leases at December 31 2008 were

In thousands

2009 $326

2010 57

2011 57

2012 52

2013 and thereafter 38

Total minimum lease payments $530

Other Commitments

ITC Transmission

Service Level Agreements SLA9 with Detroit Edison During 2003 and through April 2004
lTCTransmission and Detroit Edison operated under construction and maintenance engineering

and system operations SLA whereby Detroit Edison performed maintenance asset construction and

certain aspects of transmission operations and administration the SLA Activities on lTCTransmissions

behalf Operation and maintenance expenses incurred by ITCTransmission under the SLA that exceeded

$15.9 million during 2003 were recognized as expense but are deferred as long-term payable and will be

paid to Detroit Edison in equal annual installments over five-year period beginning June 2005 As of

December 31 2008 ITCTransmission has deferred the payment of $1.2 million of SLA expenses that
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exceeded the 2003 threshold and recorded in other current liabilities There was no payment deferral for

construction expenditures

In August 2003 lTCTransmission entered into an Operation and Maintenance Agreement with its

primary maintenance contractor and Supply Chain Management Agreement with its primary purchasing

and inventory management contractor to replace the services that Detroit Edison has provided ubder the

SLA lTCTransmission is not obligated to take any specified amount of services under the terms of the

Operation and Maintenance Agreement or the Supply Chain Management Agreement which have five-

year terms ending August 29 2013 and automatically renew for additional five year terms unless

terminated by either party

METC

Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillaiy Services with Consumers

Energy Under the Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary Services with Consumers Energy the

Ancillary Services Agreement Consumers Energy provides reactive power balancing energy load

following and spinning and supplemental reserves that are needed by METC and MISO These ancillary

services are necessary part of the provision of transmission service This agreement is necessary

because METC does not own any generating facilities and therefore must procure ancillary services from

third party suppliers including Consumers Energy The Ancillary Services Agreement establishes the

terms and conditions under which METC obtains ancillary services from Consumers Energy Consumers

Energy will offer all ancillary services as required by FERC Order No 888 at FERC-approved rates METC
is not precluded from procuring these services from third party suppliers and is free to purchase ancillary

services from unaffiliated generators located within its control area or in neighboring jurisdictions on non-

preferential competitive basis This one-year agreement became effective on May 2002 and is

automatically renewed each year for successive one-year periods The Ancillary Services Agreement

can be terminated by either party with six months prior written notice Services performed by Consumers

Energy under the Ancillary Services Agreement are charged to operation and maintenance expense

Amended and Restated EasementAgreement with Consumers Energy The Easement Agreement

with Consumers Energy the Easement Agreement provides METC with an easement for transmission

purposes and rights-of-way leasehold interests fee interests and licenses associated with the land over

which the transmission lines cross Consumers Energy has reserved for itself the rights to and the value of

activities associated with other uses of the infrastructure such as for fiber optics telecommunications and

gas pipelines The cost for use of the rights-of-way is $10.0 million per year The term of the Easement

Agreement runs through December31 2050 and is subject to 10 automatic 50-year renewals thereafter

Payments to Consumers Energy under the Easement Agreement are charged to operation and main

tenance expense

ITC Midwest

Transition Services Agreement The Transition Services Agreement the TSA dated as of

December 20 2007 identifies the transmission corporate administration services the construction

and maintenance services the engineering services and the system operations services related to the

34.5 kV transmission system that IPL agreed to provide to ITC Midwest The TSA also requires lPL to

provide the transition design planning and implementation relating to those services In addition to the

system operations services related to the 34.5 kV transmission system lPL will provide limited number

of corporate administration services and construction and maintenance services to ITC Midwest The

initial term of the TSA expired and ITC Midwest exercised the first of its four options to extend the

agreement an additional six months The first extension will terminate June 30 2009 however ITC

Midwest has given notice to IPL that it will require the system operations services related to the 34.5 kV
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transmission system and its associated detailed billing service to be extended through December 31
2009 The agreement can also be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties Subsequent to the

termination of the TSA ITC Midwest expects to perform the activities covered under the TSA

The Operating Agreement The Operating Agreement between ITC Midwest and American Trans

mission Company LLC ATC dated as of December 17 2007 obligated ATC to provide control

operation and emergency response services as well as providing assistance in the transition of those

services to ITC Midwest The services contemplated by this agreement were only for ITC Midwests

transmission facilities operating at 69 kV and above The Operating Agreement was terminated in

December 2008 in accordance with its terms at which time ITC Midwest began performing the activities

covered under the Operating Agreement

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily with Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL which were responsible

for approximately 41.6% 25.6% and 19.8% respectively or $257.1 million $158.1 million and $122.4 mil

lion respectively of our consolidated operating revenues for the year ended December 31 2008 These

percentages and amounts of total operating revenues of Detroit Edison Consumers Energy and IPL
include an estimate for the 2008 Attachment revenue accruals that were included in our 2008 operating

revenues but will not be billed to our customers until 2010 We have assumed that the Attachment

revenues billed to these customers in 2010 would be in the same proportion of the respective percentages

of network revenues billed to them in 2008 Any financial difficulties experienced by Detroit Edison
Consumers Energy or IPL could negatively impact our business MISO as our Regulated Operating

Subsidiaries billing agent bills Detroit Edison Consumers Energy IPL and other customers on

monthly basis and collects fees for the use of our transmission systems MISO has implemented strict

credit policies for its members customers which include customers using our transmission systems In

general if these customers do not maintain their investment grade credit rating or have history of late

payments MISO may require them to provide MISO with letter of credit or cash deposit equal to the

highest monthly invoiced amount over the previous twelve months

16 SEGMENT INFORMATION

We identify reportable segments based on the criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting Stan

dards No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information We determine our

reportable segments based primarily on the regulatory environment of our subsidiaries and the business

activities performed to earn revenues and incur expenses

Regulated Operating Subsidiaries

We aggregate lTCTransmission METC and ITC Midwest into one reportable operating segment
based on their similar regulatory environment and economic characteristics among other factors They

are engaged in the transmission of electricity within the United States earn revenues from the same types

of customers and are regulated by the FERC Their tariff rates are established using the same formulaic

cost-of-service model Attachment

ITC Holdings and Other

Information below for ITC Holdings and Other consists of holding company whose activities include

debt and equity financings and general corporate activities and all of ITC Holdings other subsidiaries

excluding the Regulated Operating Subsidiaries which are focused primarily on business development

activities
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2008

In thousands

Operating revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax provision benefita

Net incomea

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Total assetsb

Capital expenditures

2007

In thousands

2006

In thousands

Operating revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax provision benefita

Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle

Net incomea

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Total assetsb

Capital expenditures

301 617877

94769

739 122234

176470

184611

Regulated

Operating ITC Holdings

Subsidiaries and Other

617924 254

Reconciliations Eliminations Total

94477

43579

267530

82919

184611

2297799

951319

3667660

398618

Regulated

Operating

Subsidiariesc

67262

109208

2304386

951319

3154 2304451 3714565

2730 401840

Reconciliations Eliminations Total

Operating revenues 426249

Depreciation and amortization 67637

Interest expense 28336

Income before income taxes 175568

Income tax provision benefita 39202

Net incomea 136366

Property plant and equipment net 1953556

Goodwill 959042

Total assetsb 3177561

Capital expenditures 287069

292

79394

91060

15657

109208

6587

2354510

492

ITC Holdings

and Other

181

291

53830

65622

2552
73296

6877

2313701

1062

ITC Holdings
and Other

14

23378

29360

8528

426249

67928

81863

109946

36650

73296

1960433

959042

3213297

287170

181

303

136366

540 2277425

961

Reconciliations Eliminations

Regulated

Operating
Subsidiariesd

223622

40142

18758

76212

22186

29

__________
Total

223622

40156

87 42049

46852

13658

29

54055 33223 54055 33223

1192305 5557 1197862

624385 624385

2091574 1341360 1245 1302892 2128797

161926 5570 167496
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Income tax provision benefit and net income for our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries do not include

any allocation of taxes for METC METC is treated as branch of MTH which is taxed as multiple-

partner limited partnership for federal income tax purposes Since METC and MTH its immediate

parent file as partnership for federal income tax purposes they are exempt from federal income

taxes As result METC does not record provision for federal income taxes in its statements of

operations or record amounts for federal deferred income tax assets or liabilities on its statements of

financial position For FERC regulatory reporting however METC computes theoretical federal

income taxes as well as the associated deferred income taxes and includes an annual allowance

for income taxes in its net revenue requirement used to determine its rates

Reconciliation of total assets results primarily from differences in the netting of deferred tax assets and

liabilities under the provisions of SFAS 109 at our Regulated Operating Subsidiaries as compared to

the classification in our consolidated statement of financial position

Amounts include the results of operations from the electric transmission business acquired by ITC

Midwest for the period December 20 2007 through December 31 2007

Amounts include the results of operations from METC for the period October 11 2006 through

December 31 2006

17 SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION UNAUDITED

Quarterly earnings per share amounts may not sum to the totals for each the years since quarterly

computation are based on weighted average common shares outstanding during each quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quartera Year

In thousands except per share data

2008

Operating revenue $141914 $160616 $163279 $152068 $617877

Operating income 69268 74039 74432 69884 287623

Net income 25521 28661 28045 26981 109208

Basic earnings per share 0.54 0.58 0.57 0.55 2.25

Diluted earnings per share 0.53 0.57 0.56 0.54 2.19

2007

Operating revenue $101274 $106303 $109272 $109400 $426249

Operating income 42819 47820 48132 43403 182174

Net income 16855 19999 20800 15642 73296

Basic earnings per share 0.40 0.47 0.49 0.37 1.73

Diluted earnings per share 0.39 0.46 0.48 0.36 1.68

ITC Midwests asset acquisition closed on December 20 2007 The fourth quarter 2007 amounts

include the results of operations from ITC Midwest for the period December 20 2007 through

December 31 2007

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
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ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting is included in Item of this

Form 10-K The attestation report of Deloitte Touche LLF our independent registered public accounting

firm on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting is also included in Item of this

Form 10-K

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance

that material information required to be disclosed in our reports that we file or submit under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and

reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and that such information is

accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure In

designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures management recognized that control

system no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute assurance

that the objectives of the control system are met Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems

no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud if

any with company have been detected

As of the end of the period covered by this report we carried out an evaluation under the supervision

and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant

to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable

assurance level

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal

control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

On December 15 2008 ITC Midwest terminated the Operating Agreement dated as of December 17
2007 between ITC Midwest and ATC the ATC Operating Agreement The ATC Operating Agreement

entered into by ITC Midwest and ATC at the closing of the ITC Midwest acquisition in December 2007

obligated ATC to provide control operation and emergency response services for ITC Midwest facilities

operating at 69 kV and above and to provide assistance in the transition of these services to ITC Midwest

The ATC Operating Agreement was terminated in accordance with its terms and no termination penalties

were incurred by either party in connection with the termination Following the termination of the ATC

Operating Agreement ITC Midwest began performing the activities previously performed by ATC pursuant

to the terms of the ATC Operating Agreement

PART Ill

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is contained under the captions Election of Directors Exec
utive Officers Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and Corporate Governance
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in the Proxy Statement and excluding the report of the Audit Committee is incorporated herein by

reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Compensation of Executive

Officers and Directors in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Security Ownership of Man

agement and Major Shareholders in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

Equity Compensation Plans

At December 31 2008 we had the 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan and the LTlP pursuant to

which we grant stock options and restricted stock and other equity based compensation to employees

officers and directors as well as the ESPP Each of these plans has been approved by shareholders

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our equity compensation plans at

December 31 2008 shares in thousands

Number of Shares

Remaining Available

Number of Shares for Future Issuance

to be Issued Weighted-Average Under Equity

Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Compensation
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Plansa

Equity compensation plans approved

by shareholders 2603 $21.01 4190

The number of shares remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans has

been reduced by the common shares issued through December 31 2008 upon exercise of stock

options the number of common shares to be issued upon the future exercise of outstanding stock

options and the number of restricted stock awards granted that have not been forfeited The LTIP

imposes separate restriction so that no more than 3250000 of the shares may be granted as awards

to be settled in shares of common stock other than options or stock appreciation rights

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is contained under the captions Certain Transactions and

Corporate Governance Director Independence in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by

reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is contained under the caption Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income for the Years

Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

All other schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X either are not required under the

related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted or ii the information required is

included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto that are part hereof

The exhibits included as part of this report are listed in the attached Exhibit Index which is

incorporated herein by reference At the request of any shareholder ITC Holdings will furnish any

exhibit upon the payment of fee of $.1O per page to cover the costs of furnishing the exhibit
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December 31

In thousands
2008 2007

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 19372 1520

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 21716 37387

Deferred income taxes 3926 3370

Other 420 424

Total current assets 45434 42701

Other assets

Investment in subsidiaries 2229875 2035483

Intercompany advance to ITC Midwest 175000

Deferred income taxes 22554 19245

Deferred financing fees net of accumulated amortization of $4311 and

$2341 respectively 9698 8165

Other 15368 14754

Total other assets 2277495 2252647

TOTAL ASSETS $2322929 $2295348

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accrued payable 3684 3950

Accrued payroll 10329 8481

Accrued interest 25835 17480

Other 294 112

Total current liabilities 40142 30023

Accrued pension and other postretirement liabilities 24295 13934

Other 1688 1123

Long-term debt net of discounts of $2212 and $907 respectively 1327741 1687193

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock without par value 100000000 shares authorized

49654518 and 42916852 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 848624 532103

Retained earnings 81268 31864

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 829 892

Total stockholders equity 929063 563075

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $2322929 $2295348

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only
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2008

1392

5232
79394

1965

85199

35881

49318
158526

$109208

Year Ended December 31

__________
2006

1225

3569
22862

__________
1151

26357

_______ 9419

16938

________
50161

_______
33223

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only

In thousands

Other income

General and administrative expense

Interest expense

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Other expense

2007

833

9768
53830

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX BENEFIT

LOSS AFTER TAXES

EQUITY IN SUBSIDIARIES EARNINGS

349

NET INCOME

754

63868

22750

41118
114414

73296
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Year Ended December 31

In thousands
2008 2007 2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 109208 73296 33223
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by used in

operating activities

Equity in subsidiaries earnings 158526 114414 50161
Dividends from subsidiaries 84039 82799 31313
Deferred income tax expense 36109 22750 9419
Intercompany tax payments from subsidiaries 30900 33681
Share-based compensation expense 7272 4084 644

Amortization of deferred financing fees and debt discount 2244 1341 703

Other 97 61 28

Changes in assets and liabilities exclusive of changes shown

separately

Accounts receivable from subsidiaries 15376 37871
Other current assets 29 417
Accrued payable 622 3215 141

Accrued payable to subsidiary 4170 3450
Accrued payroll 1848 8481

Accrued interest 8355 4075 6942
Other current liabilities 528 84 29

Non-current assets and liabilities net 4673 5561 1003
Net cash provided by operating activities 69475 37212 15473

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Equity contributions to subsidiaries 117050 752504 186303
Intercompany advance to ITC Midwest 175000
Repayment of advance to ITC Midwest 175000
Return of capital from subsidiary 26997

Acquisition of MTH and METC net of cash acquired 484189
MTH and METC direct acquisition fees 254 11456

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 57950 900761 681948
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of long-term debt 383422 865000 509737
Repayment of long-term debt 765000
Borrowings under ITC Holdings Term Loan agreement 25000
Repayment of ITC Holdings Term Loan agreement 25000
Borrowings under revolving credit agreements 153807 294700 74700
Repayments of revolving credit agreements 131954 248600 74700
Issuance of common stock 310543 3402 202253
Dividends on common stock 58935 48168 38307
Common stock issuance costs 881 48 2321
Debt issuance costs 575 5113 5231
Other 1841 2531

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 109573 859332 663600

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 17852 4217 2875
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of period 1520 5737 8612

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS End of period 19372 1520 5737

Supplementary cash flows information

Interest paid 68794 48414 15130
Income taxes paid 1317 2058 561

Supplementary noncash investing and financing activities

Value of shares issued in MTH and METC acquisition 72458
Equity transfers to subsidiaries 3537 545 2853

See notes to condensed financial statements parent company only
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GENERAL

For ITC Holdings Corp.s ITC Holdings we our and us presentation Parent Company only

the investment in subsidiaries is accounted for using the equity method The condensed parent company

financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements

and notes of ITC Holdings appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

As holding company with no business operations ITC Holdings assets consist primarily of

investments in our subsidiaries deferred tax assets relating primarily to federal income tax operating

loss carryforwards and cash ITC Holdings material cash inflows are only from dividends and other

payments received from our subsidiaries and the proceeds raised from the sale of debt and equity

securities ITC Holdings may not be able to access cash generated by our subsidiaries in order to fulfill

cash commitments or to pay dividends to shareholders The ability of our subsidiaries to make dividend

and other payments to us is subject to the availability of funds after taking into account their respective

funding requirements the terms of their respective indebtedness the regulations of the FERC under the

FPA and applicable state laws Each of our subsidiaries however is legally distinct from us and has no

obligation contingent or otherwise to make funds available to us

ITC Holdings does not believe that these restrictions will materially affect its operations or limit any

dividend payments in the foreseeable future

LONG-TERM DEBT

As of December 31 2008 the maturities of our long-term debt outstanding were as follows

In thousands

2009

2010

2011

2012 67953

2013 267000

2014 and thereafter 995000

Total $1329953

Refer to Note to the consolidated financial statements for description of the ITC Holdings Senior

Notes and the ITC Holdings revolving credit agreements and related items

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for loans with similar terms and average

maturities the fair value of the ITC Holdings Senior Notes is $1143.9 million at December31 2008 The

total book value of the ITC Holdings Senior Notes net of discount is $1259.8 million at December31 2008

At December 31 2008 we were in compliance with all covenants

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ITCTransmission MTH ITC Midwest and other subsidiaries paid cash dividends to ITC Holdings

totaling $84.0 million $82.8 million and $31.3 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Additionally

ITCTransmission paid amounts of $30.9 million and $38.9 million to ITC Holdings under an intercompany

tax sharing arrangement during 2008 and 2007 respectively
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized in the City of Novi State of Michigan on February 26 2009

ITC HOLDINGS CORP

By Is JOSEPH WELcH

Joseph Welch

Chairman President Chief Executive Officer

and Treasurer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is Joseph Welch Chairman President Chief Executive February 26 2009

Joseph Welch Officer and Treasurer principal

executive officer

Is Edward Rahill Senior Vice President Finance and February 26 2009

Edward Rahill Chief Financial Officer principal

financial officer and principal

accounting officer

Is Edward Jepsen Director February 26 2009

Edward Jepsen

/s/ Richard McLellan Director February 26 2009

Richard McLellan

Is William Museler Director February 26 2009

William Museler

Is Hazel OLeary Director February 26 2009

Hazel OLeary

Is Gordon Bennett Stewart Ill Director February 26 2009

Gordon Bennett Stewart Ill

Is Lee Stewart Director February 26 2009

Lee Stewart
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EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or filed previously and incorporated by reference to

the filing indicated Our SEC file number is 001 -32576

Exhibit No Description of Exhibit

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement by and between DTE Energy Companyand the Registrant dated

December 2002 filed with Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended

Reg No 333-123657

2.2 Purchase Agreement among Evercore Co-Investment Partnership II L.P Evercore METC

Capital Partners II L.P MEAP US Holdings Ltd Macquarie Essential Assets Partnership TE

Power Opportunities Investors L.R TE Management Shareholders MICH 1400 LLC the

Registrant GFI Transmission Opportunities GP LLC OCM/GFI Power Opportunities Fund II

L.P OCM.GFI Power Opportunities Fund II Cayman LF and Macquarie Holdings USA
Inc dated as of May 11 2006 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on May 17 2006

2.3 Asset Sale Agreement by and between Interstate Power and Light Company and ITC Midwest

LLC dated as of January 18 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 24 2007

2.4 Parent Guaranty by the Registrant in favor of Interstate Power and Light Company dated as of

January 18 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 24 2007

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant filed with Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant dated as of November 19 2008

4.1 Form of Certificate of Common Stock filed with Registrants Registration Statement on Form

S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 28 2003 among the Registrant and

International Transmission Holdings Limited Partnership filed with Registrants Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.3 Indenture dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and BNY Midwest Trust

Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as

amended Reg No 333-123657

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 16 2003 supplemental to the Indenture dated

as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed

with Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.5 First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International

Transmission Company and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.6 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15 2003 supplementing the First Mortgage

and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Company
and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.7 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15 2003 supplementing the First Mortgage

and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Company

and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.8 Amendment to Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 19 2005 between

International Transmission Company and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

4.9 Second Amendment to Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 24 2006

between International Transmission Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-

filed on March 30 2006
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4.10 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 282006 supplementing the First Mortgage

and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 between International Transmission Company
and BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on March

30 2006

4.12 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 10 2006 supplemental to the Indenture

dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form

8-K filed on October 10 2006

4.13 Shareholders Agreement by and between the Registrant and Macquarie Essential Assets

Partnership dated as of October 10 2006 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on October

16 2006

4.14 First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and

JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants Form 10-

for the quarter ended September 30 2006

4.15 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 10 2003 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and JPMorgan
Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter

ended September 30 2006

4.16 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 10 2003 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC and JPMorgan
Chase Bank to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission

Company LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with

Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006

4.17 ITC Holdings Corp Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 20 2007 filed with

Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended September 30 2007

4.18 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 24 2008 supplemental to the Indenture

dated as of July 16 2003 between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Trust Company
N.A as successor to BNY Midwest Trust Company as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-

filed on January 25 2008

4.19 First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of January 14 2008 between ITC Midwest LLC
and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as trustee filed with Registrants Form 8-K

filed on February 2008

4.20 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 14 2008 supplemental to the First

Mortgage Indenture between ITC Midwest LLC and The Bank of New York Trust

Company N.A as trustee First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of January 14
2008 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 2008

4.21 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 25 2008 between International

Transmission Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as trustee to the

First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of July 15 2003 filed with Registrants Form 8-K

filed on March 27 2008

4.22 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 11 2008 between METC and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank .A
as trustee to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company
LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December 10 2003 filed with Registrants Form
8-K filed on December 23 2008
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4.23 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 15 2008 between ITC Midwest LLC

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to The Bank of New

York Trust Company N.A as trustee to the First Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of

January 14 2008 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 23 2008

4.24 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 25 2008 between METC and The Bank

of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as

trustee to the First Mortgage Indenture between Michigan Electric Transmission Company

LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank dated as of December10 2003 filed with Registrants Form

8-K filed on December 23 2008

10.7 Forms of Management Stockholders Agreements filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.8 Form of First Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.8 to

Registrants 2005 Form 10-K

10.9 Forms of Waiver and Agreement for Executive Stockholders filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.10 Form of Waiver and Agreement for Non-Executive Stockholders filed as an exhibit to

Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.11 Form of Sale Participation Agreement filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10i3 Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the

Registrant and its Subsidiaries filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.15 Form of Short Term Incentive Plan of the Registrant filed as an exhibit to Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-i23657

10.27 Deferred Compensation Plan filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-123657

10.28 Service Level Agreement Construction and Maintenance/ Engineering/System

Operations dated February 28 2003 between The Detroit Edison Company and

International Transmission Company filed as an exhibit to Registrants Registration

Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-i23657

10.34 Form of stock option agreement for executive officers under Amended and Restated 2003

Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its subsidiaries filed

as Exhibit 0.34 to Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2005

10.35 Form of restricted stock award agreement for directors and executive officers under Amended

and Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and

its subsidiaries filed as Exhibit 10.35 to Registrants 2005 Form 10-K

10.36 Executive Cash Bonus Agreement dated as of February 2006 between the Registrant and

Daniel Oginsky filed as Exhibit 10.36 to Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 2006

io38 Amendment No dated as of February 2006 to Amended and Restated 2003 Stock

Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant filed as Exhibit 10.38 to

Registrants Form 8-K filed on February 14 2006

10.44 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-employee Directors under Amended and

Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its

subsidiaries tiled with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.45 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Employees under the Registrants 2006 Long

Term Incentive Plan filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.46 Form of Stock Option Agreement for Employees under the Registrants 2006 Long Term

Incentive Plan filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.47 Form of Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement filed with Registrants Form 8-

filed on August 18 2006
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10.48 Summary of Stock Ownership Agreement effective August 16 2006 for Registrants

Directors and Executive Officers filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 18 2006

10.49 Form of Waiver and Agreement for Employees pursuant to the Management Stockholders

Agreement filed with Registrants Form S-i/A filed on September 25 2006

10.51 Form of Amended and Restated Easement Agreement between Consumers Energy

Company and Michigan Electric Transmission Company filed with Registrants Form 10-0

for the quarter ended September 30 2006

10.52 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Operating Agreement by and between

Michigan Electric Transmission Company and Consumers Energy Company effective May

2002 filed with Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006

10.53 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Purchase and Sale Agreement for Ancillary

Services between Consumers Energy Company and Michigan Electric Transmission

Company effective May 2002 filed with Registrants Form iO-Q for the quarter ended

September 30 2006

10.54 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Distribution-Transmission Interconnection

Agreement by and between Michigan Electric Transmission Company as Transmission

Provider and Consumers Energy Company as Local Distribution Company effective May
2002 filed with Registrants Form 0-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006

10.55 Amendment and Restatement of the April 2001 Generator Interconnection Agreement
between Michigan Electric Transmission Company and Consumers Energy Company LLC
dated as of May 2002 filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended September

30 2006

10.56 Non-Competition Agreement dated as of May 2002 by and between Consumers Energy

Company Michigan Transco Holdings Limited Partnership and Michigan Electric

Transmission Company LLC filed with Registrants Form 10-0 for the quarter ended

September 30 2006

10.57 Settlement Agreement dated January 19 2007 by Michigan Electric Transmission Company
LLC on behalf of itself Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator Inc
Consumers Energy Company the Michigan Public Power Agency Michigan South Central

Power Agency Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative Inc and International Transmission

Company filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 23 2007

10.58 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among the Registrant as the

Borrower Various Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto

as the Lenders JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.P Morgan
Securities Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit

Suisse Cayman Islands Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on April 2007

10.59 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among International Transmission

Company and Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC as the Borrowers Various

Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto as the Lenders

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.P Morgan Securities Inc as Sole

Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents filed with Registrants

Form 8-K filed on April 2007

10.60 Bridge Loan Agreement dated as of September 26 2007 among the Registrant as the

Borrower Various Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto

as the Lenders Lehman Commercial Paper Inc as the Administrative Agent and Lehman

Brothers Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner filed with Registrants Form 8-K

filed on December 21 2007

10.61 Form of Distribution-Transmission Interconnection Agreement by and between ITC Midwest

LLC as Transmission Owner and Interstate Power and Light Company as Local Distribution

Company dated as of December 17 2007 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December

21 2007
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10.62 Form of Large Generator Interconnection Agreement entered into by the Midwest

Independent Transmission System Operator Inc Interstate Power and Light Company

and ITC Midwest LLC filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on December 21 2007

10.63 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 29 2008 among ITC Midwest LLC as the

Borrower Various Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto

as the Lenders JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.P Morgan

Securities Inc as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch as Syndication Agent and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Documentation Agent

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 31 2008

10.64 Form of Amended and Restated Executive Group Special Bonus Plan of the Registrant dated

November 12 2007 filed with Registrants 2007 Form 10-K

10.65 Form of Amended and Restated Special Bonus Plan of the Registrant dated November 12

2007 filed with Registrants 2007 Form 10-K

10.66 ITC Holdings Corp Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended June 2007 filed with

Registrants 2007 Form 10-K

10.67 Commitment Increase Supplements of the Lenders dated December 27 2007 related to the

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29 2007 among International Transmission

Company and Michigan Electric Transmission Company LLC as the Borrowers Various

Financial Institutions and Other Persons from Time to Time Parties Hereto as the Lenders

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as the Administrative Agent J.R Morgan Securities Inc as Sole

Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner and Comerica Bank Credit Suisse Cayman Islands

Branch and Lehman Brothers Bank FSB as Co-Syndication Agents filed with Registrants

2007 Form 10-K

10.68 Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement dated February 25 2008 pursuant to the 2006 Long-

Term Incentive Plan of Registrant between the Registrant and Joseph Welch filed with

Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008

10.69 Amended and Restated Registrant 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan effective May 21 2008

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on May 23 2008

10.70 Sales Agency Financing Agreement dated June 27 2008 between Registrant and BNY

Mellon Capital Markets LLC filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on June 27 2008

10.71 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Plan Initial Option August

2008 filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.72 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Plan IPO Option August 2008

filed with Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.73 Form of Amendment to Restricted Stock Agreement under 2003 Plan August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.74 Form of Amendment to Management Stockholders Agreement August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.75 Form of Amendment to Stock Option Agreements under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.76 Form of Amendment Restricted Stock Agreements under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.77 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with Registrants Form

8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.78 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2006 LTIP August 2008 filed with

Registrants Form 8-K filed on August 19 2008

10.79 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-employee Directors under Amended and

Restated 2003 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Key Employees of the Registrant and its

subsidiaries

10.80 Management Supplemental Benefit Plan

10.81 Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan
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10.82 Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Joseph Welch

10.83 Form of Employment Agreements between the Registrant and Linda Blair Jon Jipping

and Edward Rahill

10.84 Form of Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Daniel Oginsky

21 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP relating to the Registrant and subsidiaries

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 3a-1 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

125


